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 1           RULE 2004 EXAMINATION OF SCOTT MENAGED
   
 2  was taken on October 20, 2016, commencing at 10:03 a.m.,
   
 3  at the offices of GUTTILLA MURPHY ANDERSON, 5415 E. High
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 1      SCOTT MENAGED,
 2  called as a witness herein, having been first duly sworn
 3  by the Certified Court Reporter to speak the truth and
 4  nothing but the truth, was examined and testified as
 5  follows:
 6  
 7      EXAMINATION
 8      BY MR. ANDERSON: 
 9  Q.   Can you please state your name and spell your
10    last name for the record?
11  A.   Scott Menaged, M-E-N-A-G-E-D.
12  Q.   Mr. Menaged, have you given sworn testimony
13    before?
14  A.   Yes.
15  Q.   Okay.  So you understand that we have a court
16    reporter here today.  She's taking down everything that
17    we say, and so we have to do our best to not talk over
18    each other and also do our best to give answers that are
19    yes, no, or some sort of audible answer, rather than the
20    standard uh-huhs and huh-uhs that sometimes we use in
21    conversation.
22        Do you understand that?
23  A.   I do.
24  Q.   Are you under the influence of any medication
25    or substances that would enable you to not testify
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 1    honestly here today?
 2  A.   No.
 3  Q.   You understand that you're under oath; is that
 4    right?
 5  A.   I do.
 6  Q.   And that you're supposed to be telling the
 7    truth today just like you were testifying in court?
 8  A.   I do.
 9  Q.   You said you've testified before.  Other than
10    your 341 meeting of creditors, when have you given sworn
11    testimony before?
12  A.   It was approximately ten years ago.
13  Q.   And what kind of matter was it?
14  A.   I'm pretty sure it was regarding a trustee's
15    deed that the trustee screwed up on and didn't record,
16    and they wanted verification of the sale or something
17    like that.  It was a very long time ago.
18  Q.   Was it here in Arizona?
19  A.   It was.
20  Q.   Are you married?
21  A.   I am.
22  Q.   And what is your wife's name?
23  A.   Francine Menaged.
24  Q.   And where does she reside?
25  A.   In my home.
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 1  Q.   And what's the address?
 2  A.   
 3  Q.   Do you have any children?
 4  A.   I do.
 5  Q.   And what are their names?
 6  A.   Stevie and Brandon.
 7  Q.   And how old are they?
 8  A.   Stevie is going to be 2 on Sunday and Brandon
 9    is 13.
10  Q.   And do they reside with you and your wife?
11  A.   They do.
12  Q.   At the  property?
13  A.   , correct.
14  Q.    property.
15        Are you a citizen of the United States?
16  A.   I am.
17  Q.   Are you a citizen of any other country?
18  A.   I am not.
19  Q.   Do you have a passport?
20  A.   I do.
21  Q.   When did you first move or reside in Arizona?
22  A.   I first moved here in 1993.
23  Q.   And have you been here consecutively since
24    1993?
25  A.   I have not.
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 1  Q.   Can you give me some idea of your -- when you
 2    sort of moved here permanently?
 3  A.   You mean this last time?
 4  Q.   Sure.
 5  A.   Would have been two thousand -- anywhere
 6    between 2005 and 2006.
 7  Q.   So you've been here since 2006?
 8  A.   I have.
 9  Q.   Okay.  So between '93 and 2006, can you give me
10    some understanding of where you were residing?
11  A.   I was going back and forth between New York and
12    Arizona.
13  Q.   And did you maintain a residence in New York at
14    that time?
15  A.   I did.
16  Q.   Okay, and where; what city was that in?
17  A.   Warwick.
18  Q.   How do you spell that?
19  A.   W-A-R-W-I-C-K.
20  Q.   And were you residing in a residence or were
21    you renting an apartment?
22  A.   It was a residence.
23  Q.   Did you own the residence?
24  A.   I did.
25  Q.   And what happened to that house?
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 1  A.   It was sold.
 2  Q.   What year?
 3  A.   Approximately 2006.
 4  Q.   Do you have a college education?
 5  A.   I do not.
 6  Q.   What is your highest education level?
 7  A.   11th grade.
 8  Q.   So you did not graduate high school?
 9  A.   I did not.
10  Q.   Did you get a GED or --
11  A.   I did not.
12  Q.   -- equivalency?  No?
13        Are you currently employed?
14  A.   I am.
15  Q.   And who is your employer?
16  A.   American Furniture.
17  Q.   What is American Furniture?
18  A.   It's primarily a furniture store.
19  Q.   Where is the furniture store located?
20  A.   4245 West Thomas Road, Phoenix, Arizona.  If
21    I'm not mistaken, I believe it is 85019.
22  Q.   Are you the sole owner of American Furniture?
23  A.   I am.
24  Q.   Is it a limited liability company?
25  A.   It is.

10:08:19-10:09:10 Page 9

 1  Q.   Are you the sole member of the limited
 2    liability company?
 3  A.   I am.
 4  Q.   Other than the bankruptcy case, are there any
 5    other pending legal proceedings that you're involved in
 6    right now?
 7  A.   My divorce.
 8  Q.   So you have a pending divorce in Maricopa
 9    County Superior Court; is that right?
10  A.   That is correct.
11  Q.   Who filed the divorce proceedings?
12  A.   I did.
13  Q.   And when did you file?
14  A.   Approximately a month ago.
15  Q.   You filed after the bankruptcy was filed; is
16    that right?
17  A.   I also had one I filed prior to the bankruptcy,
18    and then we tried to reconcile, and it wasn't working
19    out very well and so I refiled.
20  Q.   So there was a divorce proceeding that is what
21    we call prepetition or before the bankruptcy, and that
22    was dismissed?
23  A.   We both dismissed it.
24  Q.   Okay.  And then you've recently filed for
25    divorce again; is that right?
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 1  A.   That is correct.
 2  Q.   And that one is still pending?
 3  A.   That is correct.
 4  Q.   Are you represented by counsel in the divorce
 5    matter?
 6  A.   I am not.
 7  Q.   Is your wife represented by counsel?
 8  A.   She is not.
 9  Q.   Was your wife represented by counsel in her
10    previous divorce or the prepetition divorce?
11  A.   She was.
12  Q.   Who was her counsel?
13  A.   I don't recall the name.
14  Q.   Did you have counsel in that previous divorce
15    proceeding?
16  A.   I did.
17  Q.   And who was your counsel?
18  A.   Judith Morse.
19  Q.   So just to be clear, your wife did have an
20    attorney.  You just don't know his or her name; is that
21    right?
22  A.   That is correct.
23  Q.   And how long -- well, I guess we'll start with
24    do you have an idea when you filed that prepetition
25    divorce; month, year?
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 1  A.   Sometime in 2015.
 2  Q.   And when did it terminate?  When did you cancel
 3    it?
 4  A.   November or December of 2015.
 5  Q.   So it wasn't pending for very long; is that a
 6    fair statement?
 7  A.   That's a fair statement.
 8  Q.   In the prepetition divorce, how did you -- were
 9    you able to resolve issues of custody?
10  A.   We didn't really get that far.
11  Q.   Okay.  So, I mean, since it looks like it's
12    only pending a few months, did you get anything sort of
13    formally resolved by the judge?
14  A.   We never saw a judge.
15  Q.   Okay, never saw a judge.
16        Were there any orders entered in the case?
17  A.   There was one order to have us appear for
18    temporary orders, and we canceled the divorce prior to
19    that or just at that time, approximately.
20  Q.   Okay.  So you canceled it even before you would
21    even appear for the entry of these temporary orders; is
22    that right?
23  A.   That's correct.
24  Q.   Other than the divorce that was prepetition and
25    now the current divorce that is now pending
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 1    postpetition, are there any other legal proceedings,
 2    other than the bankruptcy case, of course, that you're
 3    involved in?
 4  A.   No.
 5  Q.   And so that would be true in any other
 6    jurisdiction?
 7  A.   Correct.
 8  Q.   Well, you're here at a 2004 exam in your
 9    bankruptcy case; is that right?
10  A.   Yes.
11  Q.   And you're aware that my client is the
12    court-appointed receiver for DenSco Investment
13    Corporation?  You understand that, right?
14  A.   I am.
15  Q.   And that we obtained an order to have you come
16    today and testify, and in that order we asked you to
17    produce certain documents to DenSco.  Do you understand
18    that?
19  A.   No.  Can you repeat that?
20  Q.   Sure.  The Court ordered that in advance of
21    this examination, you were going to produce certain
22    documents to DenSco.  Were you aware of that?
23  A.   Yes, I am.
24  Q.   You haven't produced those documents to DenSco,
25    have you?
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 1  A.   No.
 2  Q.   So, for example, we asked you to provide us
 3    with copies of two years preceding the bankruptcy for
 4    any bank accounts held by you and your wife.
 5        You've not produced those documents to the
 6    trustee; is that right?  When I say "the trustee,"
 7    that's wrong.  You have not produced those documents to
 8    DenSco; is that right?
 9  A.   I believe there was a conversation between my
10    attorney and your law firm agreeing on what should be
11    provided and what shouldn't.  I really don't know.  I do
12    believe that they did turn over some information to your
13    law firm.
14  Q.   Sure, and I'll get into that; but there are
15    certain --
16  A.   Okay.
17  Q.   The documents I specifically asked about, your
18    personal bank statements for two years before the
19    bankruptcy, were not those documents that were turned
20    over; is that right?
21  A.   I don't recall.
22  Q.   You know that not everything was turned over.
23    You just don't know which ones were turned over; is that
24    a fair statement?
25  A.   Correct.  I don't know what was turned over and
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 1    what wasn't.
 2  Q.   Okay.  Well, you did turn over documents that
 3    related to Furniture King, Scott's Fine Furniture,
 4    Furniture & Electronic King.  Are you aware of that?
 5        MR. JESS: I believe he testified that
 6    he's not familiar with the particularity of the
 7    agreements between counsel and the documents that were
 8    turned over.
 9        MR. ANDERSON: I understand.  I'm just
10    trying to see if he understands we did get certain
11    documents related to the furniture business.
12        THE WITNESS: I do know you have received
13    certain documents.  What documents those are, I'm not
14    sure.  I leave it up to my counsel to take care of that
15    with you.
16        BY MR. ANDERSON: 
17  Q.   Okay.  You're aware that we've asked for, in
18    this document production, for electronic communications,
19    e-mails and text messages specifically, between you and
20    DenSco.  Do you understand that?
21  A.   I do.
22  Q.   And you know that we have mutually arranged for
23    a computer person to, you know, copy or obtain a copy of
24    certain electronic devices of yours in order for you to
25    comply with this document request.  Do you understand
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 1    that?
 2  A.   I do.
 3  Q.   And, in fact, you've, I think -- I don't know
 4    for sure, but I think this is already in process; that
 5    this person has already met with you and maybe even
 6    imaged some of your devices; is that right?
 7  A.   That is correct.
 8  Q.   Okay.  Do you know what has been done so far?
 9  A.   No.
10  Q.   Do you know what devices you've made available
11    to be imaged?
12  A.   I do.
13  Q.   Okay.  And what; what were they?
14  A.   My home computer, my work computer and my cell
15    phone.
16  Q.   Okay.  Is that the universe of electronic
17    devices that would enable you to be -- to produce the
18    information we've asked for here at the 2004 exam?
19  A.   Probably not.
20  Q.   Okay.  So what other devices would need to be
21    utilized or imaged to be able to make you produce the
22    documents?
23  A.   Every couple years or year and a half or so I
24    upgrade my phone; no longer have the old ones.  Either
25    turned it in to Apple, sell it on eBay, throw it out,

10:16:24-10:17:12 Page 16

 1    whatever.  So during the years I would communicate that
 2    way.
 3        I have definitely not had the same computer for
 4    the last 15 or 20 years.  Every couple years they
 5    typically start going bad, this problem, that problem.
 6    It's worth it for me to spend three or $400 to get a new
 7    one and be done with it than start fixing it.
 8        But everything that I have in my possession
 9    that could be imaged has been turned over.
10  Q.   Okay.  So when we ask for stuff -- we asked for
11    essentially all these electronic documents for the last
12    5 years, not the last 15 or 20.  But the last 5 years
13    you have gone through new devices in the five-year
14    period, right?
15  A.   God, yeah.
16  Q.   And so the information that you're going to be
17    able to turn over is just going to be on the stuff
18    that -- the devices that you currently have in your
19    possession?
20  A.   Correct.
21  Q.   Right.  Because the iPhone 5, perhaps, that you
22    were using four years ago is no longer in your
23    possession; is that right?
24  A.   That is correct.
25  Q.   Okay.  One of the documents that we asked for
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 1    was an accounting of the loans and financial
 2    transactions between your entities and DenSco.  You
 3    haven't produced that accounting; is that right?
 4  A.   Correct.
 5  Q.   Okay.  Does such an accounting exist?
 6  A.   It does not.
 7  Q.   Okay.
 8  A.   I'm sorry.  It does not to the best of my
 9    recollection.  I believe that DenSco did his accounting
10    or had some accounting, but I don't have any accounting
11    on that.
12  Q.   Okay.  So if it exists -- so your testimony is,
13    if it exist, it exists on DenSco's side, not your side?
14  A.   Correct.
15  Q.   Okay.  So, essentially, you did not keep a
16    running accounting of your loans with DenSco; is that
17    right?
18  A.   I did not.  Any accounting that I have in
19    regards to DenSco would have been e-mailed over from
20    DenSco on a spreadsheet periodically, whenever that
21    would be, and that would be retrieved.
22  Q.   And the financial transactions between your
23    companies and DenSco number in the hundreds of
24    thousands, perhaps?
25  A.   I'm sorry?

Min-U-Script® Coash & Coash, Inc.
602-258-1440         www.coashandcoash.com

(4) Pages 14 - 17



Re: Yomtov Scott Menaged, Debtor 
2:16:bk:04268-PS

Scott Menaged
October 20, 2016

10:18:43-10:19:32 Page 18

 1  Q.   The number of financial transactions, wire
 2    transfers --
 3  A.   Oh.
 4  Q.   -- I'm trying to get an idea of the globalness
 5    of what we're dealing with, the size.  The number of
 6    financial transactions between your entities and DenSco
 7    historically likely number in maybe the hundreds of
 8    thousands?
 9        MR. JESS: Objection, form.
10        BY MR. ANDERSON: 
11  Q.   You can still answer the question.
12  A.   Possible.
13  Q.   Okay.  Well, it's fair to say you were doing
14    business with DenSco for nearly ten years; is that a
15    fair statement?
16  A.   That's a fair statement, approximately.
17  Q.   And there were days where you would send
18    multiple wire transfers back and forth to DenSco on
19    single -- on individual days; is that right?
20        MR. JESS: Objection, foundation.
21        THE WITNESS: That would be correct.
22        BY MR. ANDERSON: 
23  Q.   And even -- there were also, likely, evidence
24    of daily transactions; is that right?
25        MR. JESS: Objection, form.

10:19:43-10:20:36 Page 19

 1        THE WITNESS: That would be correct.
 2        BY MR. ANDERSON: 
 3  Q.   So we're talking about a lot of information
 4    that would be necessary to be accounted for; is that
 5    right?
 6  A.   That would be correct.
 7  Q.   We asked for copies of, like, written
 8    correspondence between you and DenSco in the last five
 9    years.  What were the forms of written communication
10    between you and DenSco?
11  A.   Written communication would primarily be
12    e-mail.
13  Q.   All right.  Did you -- so there are no formal
14    letters between you and DenSco?
15  A.   Formal letters?
16  Q.   Like a letter with, you know, letterhead and
17    signed and dated.
18  A.   No.
19  Q.   Text messages?
20  A.   Maybe a few.  We didn't communicate very often
21    by text message.
22  Q.   So most -- the majority of the communication is
23    via e-mail; is that right?
24  A.   No, majority of the communication would be via
25    phone.

10:20:52-10:22:07 Page 20

 1  Q.   Okay.  So most of the discussions were over the
 2    phone; is that right?
 3  A.   Lots of discussions were over the phone or in
 4    person.
 5  Q.   Did your spouse have any direct communication
 6    with Mr. Chittick?
 7  A.   Never.
 8  Q.   Did your spouse have any direct communication
 9    with DenSco?
10  A.   No.
11  Q.   Now, another thing we asked for were all the
12    agreements between DenSco and your entities relating to
13    your lending activities.
14        Would it be fair to say that there is not one
15    large global contract that establishes the lending
16    relationship between your entities and DenSco?
17        MR. JESS: Objection, form.
18        THE WITNESS: That would be fair to say.
19        BY MR. ANDERSON: 
20  Q.   Okay.  The written agreements are in the form
21    of mortgage notes and deeds of trust on individual
22    properties; is that right?
23  A.   Yes, it would be deed of trusts, offers to
24    purchase and notes.
25  Q.   What is Easy Investments, LLC?

10:22:20-10:23:17 Page 21

 1  A.   An Arizona LLC.
 2  Q.   And what business is it in?
 3  A.   Buying and selling foreclosures.
 4  Q.   Are you the sole member of Easy Investments?
 5  A.   I am.
 6  Q.   Have there ever been any other members?
 7  A.   No.
 8  Q.   And so would you consider yourself, also, the
 9    sole owner of Easy Investments?
10  A.   Yes, I would.
11  Q.   All right.  What is Arizona Home Foreclosures?
12  A.   The same exact as Easy Investments.
13  Q.   And meaning it's in the business of purchasing
14    properties at foreclosure sales?
15  A.   That is correct.
16  Q.   And are you the sole owner of that entity?
17  A.   I am.
18  Q.   And have there ever been any other owners of
19    Arizona Home Foreclosures, LLC?
20  A.   No.
21  Q.   You described the business that these two
22    entities were in were essentially acquiring real estate
23    at foreclosure sales.  How long were these two entities
24    conducting that business?
25  A.   I'm unsure of the dates.
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 1  Q.   So did one entity start before the other?
 2  A.   Easy Investments started first and then went to
 3    Arizona Home Foreclosures.
 4  Q.   Did you utilize both entities at the same time?
 5  A.   Could there have been some transactions that
 6    were closing out of Easy and as I was winding down Easy,
 7    at the same time of me doing business as Arizona Home
 8    Foreclosures?  That's possible.  I can't give you a
 9    for-sure answer.
10  Q.   Is there a reason that Easy Investments stopped
11    operating?
12  A.   There was.
13  Q.   And what was that reason?
14  A.   Easy Investments had a ton of HOA judgments,
15    which was preventing us from closing transactions.
16  Q.   And the solution to enable to close
17    transactions was to begin another -- form another
18    entity; is that right?
19  A.   That is correct.
20  Q.   So since Easy Investments was the first entity
21    that you used, can I assume it was the first entity that
22    was conducting business with DenSco?
23  A.   Yes, that would be correct.
24  Q.   And Arizona Home Foreclosures also conducted
25    business with DenSco; is that right?
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 1  A.   Yes, that is correct.
 2  Q.   So can you explain sort of the general nature
 3    of the business relationship between Easy Investments
 4    and DenSco?
 5  A.   Easy Investments would purchase a property.
 6    DenSco would loan on it as a hard money lender.
 7  Q.   Okay.  So let's start with this:  When did the
 8    lending relationship start?
 9  A.   Approximately, between 2007 and 2008.
10  Q.   And so there will be no -- I mean, so you
11    certainly weren't in this business before the formation
12    of Easy Investments; is that right?
13  A.   That is not --
14        MR. JESS: Objection, form.
15        THE WITNESS: -- correct.
16        Oh, I'm sorry.
17        BY MR. ANDERSON: 
18  Q.   Okay, so what was the -- how were you buying
19    and selling foreclosures before the formation of Easy
20    Investments?
21  A.   There was a company when I first, first
22    started, and I want to say I believe it was called
23    Brandon Scott Investments, and I cannot give you a
24    specific time frame, but I can tell you it was probably
25    early 2000s.
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 1  Q.   Well, clearly, I'm only interested in sort of
 2    the DenSco part of it.  The DenSco lending relationship
 3    was only with Easy Investments and Arizona Home
 4    Foreclosures; is that right?
 5  A.   Correct.  I do not -- yes, that is correct.  I
 6    never borrowed from DenSco under any other company, I
 7    don't believe.
 8  Q.   And DenSco was a hard money lender; is that
 9    right?
10  A.   That is correct.
11  Q.   And you, through your companies, entered into
12    hundreds of loan transactions with DenSco; is that
13    right?
14  A.   Probably thousands.
15  Q.   Okay, thousands.
16        Have you entered into hard money loan
17    transactions with hard money lenders that were not
18    DenSco?
19  A.   I did.
20  Q.   And just rough number, how many can you -- do
21    you know, roughly, how many other hard money
22    transactions were with other lenders than DenSco?
23  A.   Five or fewer.
24  Q.   Okay.  So you've entered into only five hard
25    money loans that were not DenSco?
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 1  A.   No.  I'm sorry.
 2  Q.   Okay.
 3  A.   I meant five other companies.
 4  Q.   Okay, five other companies.  Great.  That makes
 5    more sense.
 6  A.   Yeah.  I'm not sure.  I couldn't give you an
 7    answer to that, how many other loans I've done with
 8    other companies.
 9  Q.   How about is it more than a hundred?
10  A.   Yes.
11  Q.   Okay.  So you have some experience with the
12    business practices of at least six hard money lenders in
13    Phoenix; is that a fair statement?
14        MR. JESS: Objection, form.
15        THE WITNESS: Up to six, yes.
16        BY MR. ANDERSON: 
17  Q.   Okay.  So, well, you've told us that you
18    borrowed money from other hard money lenders in the
19    Phoenix market; is that true?
20  A.   Yes.
21  Q.   And you've done probably over a thousand loans
22    with DenSco, you said, right?
23  A.   Correct.
24  Q.   And maybe even another thousand loans with the
25    other hard money lenders; is that right?
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 1  A.   Possible.
 2  Q.   Okay.  So in those 2,000 transactions, have you
 3    come to have some understanding of business practices of
 4    the hard money lenders that you've dealt with?
 5        MR. JESS: Objection, form.
 6        THE WITNESS: All I know about a hard
 7    money lender is that they lend money at 18 percent.
 8        BY MR. ANDERSON: 
 9  Q.   And is that really all you know about business
10    practices of a hard money lender?
11        Isn't it true that certain hard money lenders
12    require and have different business practices?
13        MR. JESS: Objection, form.
14        THE WITNESS: Are you talking about
15    policies of different --
16        BY MR. ANDERSON: 
17  Q.   Sure.
18  A.   Then, yes.
19  Q.   Okay.  What are some of the policies of other
20    hard money lenders that are not DenSco?
21  A.   I don't understand.
22  Q.   Okay.  Well, let me start this.
23  A.   Okay.
24  Q.   You've told us that you have done -- well,
25    let's just start here:  How would you borrow money from
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 1    DenSco?
 2  A.   I would either call him or e-mail him.
 3  Q.   Okay.  And what would you -- and what
 4    information would you communicate in the call or e-mail?
 5  A.   Property address, the amount I paid, and the
 6    amount I want him to loan.
 7  Q.   Okay.  And so you would only communicate with
 8    DenSco after you had completed the bidding on a property
 9    at a foreclosure auction; is that true?
10  A.   Yes.
11  Q.   Okay.  So let's -- before we even talk about
12    communicating with DenSco, there's got to be a step that
13    happens before; is that right?  And that step before is,
14    you've got to be at a trustee's sale bidding on a
15    property; is that right?
16  A.   Are we talking prior to the offers to purchase
17    or after?  Because there's a big difference.
18  Q.   Well, I haven't even gotten into the before and
19    after part, but I'm trying to just understand generally
20    DenSco's lending practices.
21  A.   Okay.
22  Q.   So why don't you --
23  A.   Yeah.
24  Q.   I mean, you know, if there's an offer to
25    purchase and there's a different lending practice, we
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 1    can get into that.  I would like to sort of know what
 2    was happening before that happened.
 3  A.   Okay.  The policy of DenSco was, I would go
 4    down to a trustee's sale.  I would place a bid on a
 5    property.  If I was the successful bidder, I would
 6    contact DenSco.  I would let him know the purchase price
 7    and the loan amount of how much I'm looking for.
 8        He would then wire funds to me.  I would get a
 9    cashier's check.  I would pay for the property.  Ten
10    days after, we would have a trustee's deed come, usually
11    to my office.  We would record the trustee's deed.
12    DenSco would record a deed of trust on the property.
13    And that would conclude that business arrangement.
14        Once the property was sold, DenSco would be --
15    would receive some kind of communication asking for a
16    payoff.  He would send that payoff to whoever it is.  He
17    would receive the money.  He would release the lien.
18  Q.   So there's a couple parts of that business
19    practice that I want to get into, and we're clearly
20    talking about something you talked earlier about being
21    before the offers to purchase.
22        Is that explanation you just gave me the
23    pre-offers to purchase business practices of DenSco?
24  A.   Yes.
25  Q.   Okay.  So you said that first you're going to a
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 1    foreclosure sale and you're making bids on properties;
 2    is that right?
 3  A.   Correct.
 4  Q.   Are you physically at the auction making the
 5    bids, or you have someone there doing it for you?
 6  A.   Sometimes I'm the person; sometimes I have
 7    someone there.
 8  Q.   Okay.  And how do you know that DenSco is going
 9    to lend you the amount of money you need to purchase the
10    property you've just made the bid on at auction?
11  A.   My relationship with him.
12  Q.   So can you explain, though?  It had to be more
13    than just a relationship.  Did you have an idea of what
14    parameters you were able to borrow on?
15  A.   If I needed more, he gave more.  If I needed
16    less, he gave less.  There was no real parameters.  I
17    know what his -- you know, his business practices were,
18    which I believe were 15 percent down payment.  And
19    sometimes I would do that.  Sometimes I would give him
20    5 percent down payment.  Sometimes I would give him
21    20 percent down payment.  And sometimes I would give him
22    no down payment.
23  Q.   So was there any part of this business practice
24    that you're talking about, other than down payments,
25    that had to do with what the value of the property was?
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 1  A.   I don't know how he looked at it.
 2  Q.   Okay.  How did you come up with the amount to
 3    bid on these properties?
 4  A.   Based on value.
 5  Q.   Okay.  And how would you determine that value?
 6  A.   We would work with realtors, who would provide
 7    me CMA reports, which is a report that is showing
 8    basically the comps in the area.  We would look at tax
 9    records, and we would make a determination.  Obviously
10    we're not appraisers, but we would make our own internal
11    evaluation of what we believe 123 Main Street is worth.
12        MR. JESS: Scott, just to be clear, when
13    you say "we," you're not referring to you and
14    Mr. Chittick; is that correct?
15        THE WITNESS: That is correct.  I'm
16    referring to me and my realtor or realtors or whoever I
17    was dealing with.
18        BY MR. ANDERSON: 
19  Q.   When you've done that internal calculation
20    yourself with your team, do you communicate that
21    information to DenSco?  Do you say, "We believe this
22    house is worth X.  We bought it for Y"?
23  A.   Maybe in the very beginning of my relationship
24    with him; but that didn't last long, because he would do
25    his own evaluation, I believe, of what the property was
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 1    worth.
 2  Q.   So you would send him an address and an amount,
 3    I assume?
 4  A.   I would send him an address.  I would send him
 5    the amount that I've paid.  And usually the
 6    communication that would come back is, "How much do you
 7    need?"
 8        I would tell him, and that would be the end of
 9    that.
10  Q.   Okay.  There is timelines that are pretty
11    strict that need to be followed when you're buying at
12    auction; is that right?
13  A.   That is correct.
14  Q.   Do you know what those timelines, those
15    deadlines are?
16  A.   Yes.
17  Q.   And what are they?
18  A.   You do need to pay for the property in full
19    within 24 hours.  It needs to be by 5:00 p.m. the next
20    business day.
21  Q.   Okay.  So when you're a successful bidder, but
22    you require a hard money loan to close the transaction,
23    you need to get working pretty quickly; is that right,
24    to get the loan funded?
25  A.   Yes.
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 1  Q.   Yeah.  I mean you have, basically, 24 hours to
 2    come up with the money to pay the trustee; is that
 3    right?
 4  A.   Correct.
 5  Q.   And when you're borrowing the money from a
 6    DenSco or another hard money lender, you've got to get
 7    those monies from the hard money lender; is that right?
 8  A.   That is correct.
 9  Q.   Business practices of hard money lenders that
10    were not DenSco, can we talk about that for a second?
11  A.   Absolutely.
12  Q.   Okay.  When you had made a successful bid at a
13    trustee's sale and you wanted to get a hard money loan
14    from a non-DenSco hard money lender, first, what
15    information would you have to provide, generally, that
16    hard money lender?
17  A.   Pretty much -- well, a little bit more
18    information.  They would want to know my value on what I
19    believed the property's worth, what I paid for it.  They
20    would want an APN or parcel number, property address,
21    sometimes a recording number of the notice of sale that
22    was going to sell.  I don't believe anything else.
23  Q.   Okay.  And so some of that information you just
24    talked about, like a recording number and what your
25    evaluation is, that may not have been the same
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 1    information that DenSco always wanted; is that right?
 2  A.   Correct.
 3  Q.   When it came to funding that hard money loan --
 4    remember, we're talking now about a non-DenSco hard
 5    money loan. -- were there differences in the procedures
 6    between a non-hard money lender and DenSco in the
 7    funding of these loans?
 8        MR. JESS: I think you meant a non-DenSco
 9    hard money lender.
10        BY MR. ANDERSON: 
11  Q.   Right.  A non-DenSco hard money lender and
12    DenSco, is there a difference in the funding?
13  A.   Big difference.
14  Q.   Okay.  And please explain to me the big
15    difference.
16  A.   A non-DenSco hard money company would pay the
17    trustee directly for the property.  So to give you -- do
18    you want an example?
19  Q.   Yes.  Yeah.
20  A.   So an example would be, I go out and I purchase
21    or bid on 123 Main Street and I pay $100,000 for the
22    property.  And so I call another hard money company, not
23    DenSco, and I say, "I would like a loan on this
24    property," and I give them all the information that I
25    told you that I would give them.
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 1        And then they would come back and they would
 2    tell me, "We are going to lend X amount of money on this
 3    property.  We are going to pay the trustee for this
 4    property."
 5        And so at a trustee's sale you have to put
 6    $10,000 down at the sale and then you have until
 7        5:00 p m. the next business day to complete the sale.
 8        If we're using 123 Main Street as an example
 9    and we're using my successful bid of $100,000 as an
10    example, most hard money companies would require
11    20 percent down.  I've already put 10 percent down,
12    $10,000, at the sale.  Therefore, I would have to come
13    in with an additional $10,000, and the hard money lender
14    would loan $80,000.
15        So what would happen is, I would send that
16    $10,000 over to the hard money lender via check,
17    courier, wire, however it was at the time.  And the hard
18    money lender then would pay the trustee $80,000, would
19    get the receipt from the trustee, and then that receipt
20    would be e-mailed over to me.
21  Q.   Okay.  So the only -- so some of the
22    differences -- well, some of these practices that we
23    just talked about, you said that, first, if you had to
24    put more down payment down, you would deliver the
25    additional down payment to the hard money lender; is
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 1    that right?
 2  A.   That is correct.
 3  Q.   And the hard money lender would include your
 4    additional down payment with its portion of the loan to
 5    deliver that to the trustee; is that fair?
 6        Well, in your example, you said you borrowed --
 7    you bought it for -- 123 Main for $100,000?
 8  A.   Correct.
 9  Q.   You put $10,000 down?
10  A.   Uh-huh.
11  Q.   The hard money loan that you need is actually
12    $80,000, but there's still a $10,000 delta; is that
13    right?
14  A.   Correct.
15  Q.   The $10,000 you're delivering to the hard money
16    lender; is that right?
17  A.   Made payable to the hard money lender.
18  Q.   Right.
19  A.   Yes.
20  Q.   So the hard money lender, though, has to
21    deliver the $90,000 to the trustee to complete the
22    $100,000 sale; is that right?
23  A.   That is correct.
24  Q.   Okay.  That $90,000 is delivered by the hard
25    money lender to the trustee directly; is that correct?
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 1  A.   That is correct.
 2  Q.   So if you said that they paid $80,000, you
 3    really meant $90,000?
 4  A.   That is correct, yes.
 5  Q.   Okay.  I just want to clear that up.
 6  A.   Yes.
 7  Q.   And then you talked about the trustee
 8    delivering the final documents proving that the sale is
 9    concluded and you're the owner directly to the hard
10    money lender; is that right?
11  A.   Correct.
12  Q.   And then the hard money lender would send those
13    documents to you?
14  A.   Sometimes.
15  Q.   Okay, sometimes.
16        In the course of all of this, you've probably
17    executed a deed of trust and a promissory note that
18    secures the hard money loan that you've just made; is
19    that right?
20  A.   Yes, that's correct.
21  Q.   Okay.
22  A.   Along with other documents.
23  Q.   Sure.  Who is generating those documents for a
24    non-DenSco hard money lender; who is creating those
25    deeds of trust?
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 1  A.   Always the hard money lender.
 2  Q.   And the hard money lender is then delivering
 3    that package of documents to you to sign, I assume?
 4  A.   That would be correct.
 5  Q.   And to notarize, I assume?
 6  A.   Correct.
 7  Q.   And you've got to deliver those back to the
 8    hard money lender?
 9  A.   Via courier.
10  Q.   Via courier.  And somebody, probably the hard
11    money lender, is going to record that?
12  A.   That is exactly correct.
13  Q.   There's a lot of moving pieces here in this
14    24-hour period to fund this loan; is that a fair
15    statement?
16  A.   Yes.
17  Q.   Okay.  So we've talked a little bit about
18    non-DenSco hard money lenders.  Is it a fair -- you've
19    given us this sort of hypothetical example, but is it
20    fair to say that those lending practices were fairly
21    uniform among non-DenSco hard money lenders?
22  A.   Very uniform.
23  Q.   So what you just described is really how
24    every -- all other hard money lenders that you have had
25    experience with in the Phoenix marketplace operate; is
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 1    that right?
 2  A.   The only difference is that there are a couple
 3    of lenders that when I deliver my check to the hard
 4    money lender, let's say for the additional 10,000, I
 5    would actually make that check payable to the trustee.
 6    And so the hard money lender would deliver his check and
 7    my check to equal that $90,000.
 8  Q.   Okay.  All right.  So that's one difference.
 9  A.   Uh-huh.
10  Q.   So now let's describe DenSco's practices,
11    because you said there's a big difference.
12  A.   Uh-huh.
13  Q.   What is -- you know, from your vantage point as
14    the borrower, what are some of the big differences?
15        MR. JESS: Ryan, would it help if he used
16    the same example?
17        BY MR. ANDERSON: 
18  Q.   Yeah, yeah, use the same -- yeah, use 123 Main.
19    I mean, you know, we're --
20        MR. JESS: 123 Main, okay.
21        THE WITNESS: So we'll use the same
22    example of 123 Main Street and I'm still the successful
23    bidder of $100,000.  I get to basically tell DenSco how
24    much to loan or request.  And I'm pretty positive in ten
25    years he's never said, "No, I can't loan that amount."
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 1        DenSco would wire me the funds for the
 2    transaction, and I would get the cashier's check to pay
 3    the trustee.  DenSco did not require me to have a
 4    courier deliver the documents that I've signed and had
 5    notarized to him.  I would, instead -- well, when I say
 6    that, I mean the originals.  I would e-mail to him the
 7    signed documents.
 8        I guess in general terms, it was just a
 9    very laxed hard money lending practice, very, very
10    laxed.
11        BY MR. ANDERSON: 
12  Q.   Okay.  So let's sort of break down --
13  A.   Oh, excuse me.  Sorry.
14  Q.   Go ahead.
15  A.   One of the things that -- and I didn't mention
16    this before, and I forgot, so sorry about that.  One of
17    the things that a hard money lender, a non-DenSco hard
18    money lender versus a DenSco hard money lender, would do
19    is, a non-hard money lender would contact the title
20    company and have them run title to confirm that I'm
21    bidding on a first deed of trust and not a second, that
22    there is no crazy lien out there that will not be wiped
23    away with a trustee's sale.  DenSco did not check title
24    on any of them.
25  Q.   How do you know they didn't check title?
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 1  A.   From knowing his business, you know, from my
 2    dealings with him, he has never ever said to me there is
 3    something wrong with title.
 4        And I've heard that -- I've heard that from
 5    other title companies, because -- I mean from other hard
 6    money lenders, because there is always something.  I
 7    mean out of ten properties, I'm going to say three of
 8    them have something wrong with title.  And it may just
 9    be someone that didn't record a release or someone --
10    it's a simple screwup that someone like me can overlook
11    and say, well, that -- I'm not concerned about that
12    because of whatever reasons I put in my mind that I'm
13    not concerned about that, because, oh, this was a
14    different owner 12 years ago that there's still an open
15    deed of trust.
16        I'm gambling now that that deed of trust is
17    paid off, because it has transferred to another lender.
18    I'm going to use Bank of America as an example.  Bank of
19    America has loaned full amount on it.  There is no way,
20    knowing Bank of America's practices, that they would
21    loan knowing that there's an additional $200,000 in
22    front of it.
23        So a lot of times a non-hard money lender of --
24    a non-company, not DenSco, would say, "Hey, you do know
25    that there's an open, whatever, on the property?"
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 1        Doesn't mean that when I explain to them my
 2    reasoning, that they won't lend on it; but they kind of
 3    make you aware of it, just to say, "No, we do agree with
 4    your analogy.  We do believe that that should have been
 5    released.  But there was -- we're just letting you know
 6    that there is something there."
 7  Q.   Right.
 8  A.   Or very big in the trustee business is an IRS
 9    tax lien.  The law is that the IRS -- so, again, we'll
10    just keep using 123 Main Street.  123 Main Street is
11    owned by Mr. and Mrs. Gonzalez and Mr. and Mrs. Gonzalez
12    has a tax lien against them.  And so the first deed of
13    trust bank or lender will foreclose on the property.
14    The IRS has 100 days to go in and basically unwind the
15    sale and say, no, there's way too much equity in this
16    property.  We want the property back, and return the
17    funds back to, let's say, Scott.
18        That is a concern of a hard money lender,
19    because -- or a borrower, because you are really
20    gambling that you're going to be paying three months of
21    interest at 18 percent.  Let's say that's the number.
22    Only to have the IRS come back and say, no, we want the
23    property.
24        Reality is, in doing this for a very long time,
25    I've only had one -- out of hundreds and hundreds of IRS
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 1    liens, I've only had one time where the IRS stepped in.
 2  Q.   Okay.  But non-DenSco hard money lenders are
 3    bringing these issues to your attention, as the
 4    borrower, which indicates to you that they are taking
 5    actually, a look at the title; is that correct?
 6  A.   They absolutely are.
 7  Q.   Well, you don't know absolutely sure, but
 8    they're certainly raising issues to you that would
 9    indicate to you that they probably are?
10  A.   I could say that they are pretty confidently,
11    because a lot of the hard money lenders would say, "Hey,
12    in Chicago Title running this title report, do you know
13    there's an IRS tax lien?"
14  Q.   All right.  Now switching to DenSco.
15  A.   Okay.
16  Q.   Did you ever get the sort of title concerns
17    from Mr. Chittick?
18  A.   No.
19  Q.   And DenSco is Mr. Chittick; is that right?
20  A.   Correct.
21  Q.   I mean did you ever deal or communicate with
22    anybody at DenSco -- and I put that in air quotes --
23    that wasn't Mr. Chittick?
24  A.   No.
25  Q.   And so, you know, there were -- you never dealt
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 1    with a secretary or another vice president or anybody
 2    else?  It was just Denny or Mr. Chittick; is that right?
 3  A.   Correct.
 4  Q.   Okay.  And so when Mr. Chittick, in your
 5    lending relationship, doesn't give you title problems or
 6    raises title concerns, you believe he's not taking a
 7    look at the title to the properties that he's lending
 8    on; is that right?
 9  A.   My belief, yes.
10  Q.   Okay.  All right.  You talked about the
11    differences between the two, DenSco and non-DenSco, and
12    one of the bigger differences was that the money that
13    was the subject of your loan was delivered to you,
14    rather than delivered to the trustee; is that right?
15  A.   Correct.
16  Q.   Would this -- have you ever seen any other hard
17    money lender operate in a way where the money that is
18    the subject of the loan is paid to the borrower and not
19    the trustee?
20  A.   Never.
21  Q.   Okay.  So this is the only time you saw this?
22  A.   That is correct.
23  Q.   Did Mr. Chittick ever explain to you why that
24    was his practice?
25  A.   Convenience; didn't want to have to deal with
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 1    going to the bank every day.
 2  Q.   So he told you that that's why?
 3  A.   Uh-huh.  That is correct.
 4  Q.   All right.  So he told you, "The reason I'm
 5    just wiring the money to you is that I don't want to
 6    deal with getting the money to the trustee," is that --
 7  A.   To me and a lot of other borrowers.  It wasn't
 8    just a policy with me.  It was a policy with most of his
 9    borrowers, as my understanding at least.
10  Q.   Okay.  And so you said that he was lax in his
11    lending decisions, meaning -- does that mean that when
12    you asked for $100,000 on 123 Main, he usually gave you
13    the $100,000?
14  A.   Absolutely.
15  Q.   Okay.  So is it your experience with non-DenSco
16    hard money lenders that the amount you asked for wasn't
17    always the amount you were able to procure?
18  A.   All the time.
19  Q.   Okay.  So --
20  A.   And the reasoning is -- I'm trying to
21    streamline this for you, just so you -- the reasoning
22    is, is that if a non-hard money lender -- a non-DenSco
23    hard money lender -- I'm thinking of one in particular
24    in my mind.  Their lending practices are they will not
25    lend more than 65 percent of value on a property.
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 1        And so if my evaluation -- I'm not an
 2    appraiser.  If my evaluation is I believe this property
 3    is worth $200,000, that's subject to opinion.  When they
 4    look at it, they could say, well, we believe that the
 5    property is worth $190,000.  So, therefore, you know,
 6    the loan amount is going to be a little bit less than
 7    what you asked for.
 8  Q.   Sure.  And you've made a bid for an amount that
 9    is, in your estimation, what the value is going to be,
10    right?
11  A.   Absolutely.
12  Q.   And so you're committed to acquire the property
13    at that price in a 24-hour period; is that right?
14  A.   That is right.
15  Q.   In fact, you've put down a sum of money to do
16    that, sometimes $10,000?
17  A.   That is correct.
18  Q.   Okay.  If you're not able to get the hard money
19    lender to lend you the amount of money necessary for you
20    to finalize the property, what happens?
21  A.   I've never had that situation.
22  Q.   Okay.  But what would theoretically happen if
23    you couldn't get the hard money loan?
24  A.   You would lose your bid deposit.
25  Q.   And in all of your transactions, you've never
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 1    lost your bid deposit?
 2  A.   Not because I couldn't receive funding.
 3  Q.   Okay.  All right.  So the convenience of wiring
 4    the money to you was, you said, that he didn't have to
 5    go to the bank?
 6  A.   Correct.
 7  Q.   Wouldn't it also be true that part of the
 8    convenience would be that he didn't have to deliver
 9    monies to all these trustees that you're buying property
10    from?
11  A.   Oh, absolutely.  Sorry.  I should have expanded
12    on that.  Yes, he didn't have to go to the bank.  He
13    didn't have to go downtown or wherever the trustee
14    happened to be, because there are many trustees, to go
15    deliver funds.  Some of the trustees are kind of
16    difficult to work with.  Some of them are remote,
17    they're out of California or they're out of Texas, and
18    they don't even have an office here.  So it's like, hey,
19    meet me at Starbucks at 3:00 to drop off the check.
20    And, well, that's what you kind of have to do because
21    they are holding your money.  You do need to kind of
22    comply with them.
23        And so I would -- Denny or DenSco, knowing
24    this, I don't think he wanted to be involved with that
25    whole thing.
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 1  Q.   Okay.  So to break that down a little bit, some
 2    of the trustees are located at different locations
 3    across the valley or even the state?
 4  A.   Across the valley.
 5  Q.   And so a non-DenSco hard money lender in this
 6    24-hour period is doing its analysis of this loan to
 7    determine if it's going to make the loan; is that right?
 8  A.   That is correct.
 9  Q.   It's requesting funds from you to increase your
10    down payment on the property, correct?
11  A.   Correct.
12  Q.   You have to deliver those funds to the hard
13    money lender?
14  A.   Correct.
15  Q.   You have to execute the documents the hard
16    money lender wants you to execute?
17  A.   Correct.
18  Q.   You have to courier that information to the
19    hard money lender for them to be willing to go forward
20    with the fund -- their side of the transaction?
21  A.   Correct.
22  Q.   Then when they fund, they -- "they" being the
23    hard money lender -- have to courier this money to
24    wherever this trustee is to finalize the transaction?
25  A.   Correct.
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 1  Q.   All by 5:00 p m. the next business day?
 2  A.   That is correct.
 3  Q.   And your experience with DenSco was that they
 4    did not -- he did not want to do those things; is that a
 5    fair statement?
 6  A.   That's my understanding.
 7  Q.   Okay.  Did he ever tell you, "I don't want to
 8    deal with trustees.  I don't want to go courier these
 9    things"?  Did he ever say that to you?
10  A.   Did we ever have a conversation about it?  I
11    don't know that we've had a conversation about it.  I do
12    believe that -- I do remember having a conversation
13    about the bank, him not wanting to have to go to the
14    bank every day.  I do remember having a conversation
15    with that.
16  Q.   Well, in a DenSco hard money loan situation, if
17    Mr. Chittick isn't couriering the money to the trustee,
18    who is doing that?
19  A.   The borrower.
20  Q.   So that's you?
21  A.   Correct.
22  Q.   So you have a lot more work to do on a DenSco
23    loan versus a non-DenSco hard money loan?
24  A.   Oh, God, yeah.
25  Q.   Okay.  And so some of those things --
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 1  A.   Yes.
 2  Q.   -- are you need to deliver this money that's
 3    been given to you to that trustee to finalize the sale
 4    within the period of time?
 5  A.   That is correct.
 6  Q.   Okay.  And how would you do that?  Would you
 7    use couriers?
 8  A.   No.  I would use -- sometimes I would have my
 9    bidder, whoever I had bidding that day.  It all depend
10    on what was happening.  So it all depend on where the --
11    it all depend on what I needed to pay for the next day.
12        So if it was a property at 123 Main Street and
13    it was a specific trustee, well, that specific trustee
14    will take payments downtown.  So when my bidder is going
15    to go downtown to bid the next day, say, "Hey, stop at
16    my office, pick up the check, and when you're downtown,
17    please pay for this property."
18  Q.   Okay.  So a DenSco loan requires a lot of extra
19    work for you?
20  A.   Correct.
21  Q.   Okay.  Did the benefits of the relaxed lending
22    practices for DenSco -- was that better for you, or was
23    it more difficult, versus a more -- a non-DenSco loan?
24        MR. JESS: Objection, form.
25        THE WITNESS: Better for me in what
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 1    regard?
 2        BY MR. ANDERSON: 
 3  Q.   Well, I mean if you had to pick, you have
 4    123 Main, you bought it and you get to pick, you've got
 5    to go a loan through DenSco or a loan through a
 6    non-DenSco hard money lender, which one are you going to
 7    pick?
 8  A.   DenSco.
 9  Q.   Okay, and why?
10  A.   It's easy.  It's just an easy process.
11  Q.   Okay.
12  A.   "Hey, Denny, I need $100,000 for this
13    property."  You have your documents e-mailed over within
14    20 minutes, 30 minutes.  There's not a discussion of
15    value.  There's not a discussion of title.  There's not
16    a discussion of anything.  The documents are there.
17        One of the -- a convenience of it was that he
18    didn't require the documents to come back to him as
19    originals.  So I didn't have to pay, where in a
20    non-DenSco situation I would have to pay for a courier
21    to deliver the documents back.
22        Some lenders have their own people that are
23    employed by them that will just pick up the documents
24    for you as a courtesy, but a lot of them require you to
25    get it to him.  So if the lender is out in Scottsdale or
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 1    out in, you know, Chandler somewhere, I really don't
 2    want to drive from Central Phoenix all the way down to
 3    Chandler to do that.
 4        So with DenSco it was a little bit easier
 5    because it's scan, e-mail, done.
 6  Q.   Right.  Did it ever -- so I mean the
 7    presumption is, if you're signing the original deed of
 8    trust and the original note and the original mortgage
 9    and you're just e-mailing copies to DenSco, that you are
10    holding those originals; is that right?
11  A.   I'm not holding the originals.
12  Q.   Well, I understand you're not holding them, but
13    you're never transmitting the original to DenSco?
14  A.   No.
15  Q.   Right.  So they never have the original?
16  A.   Never.
17  Q.   What happens to the original?
18  A.   I throw it out.
19  Q.   Okay.
20  A.   Keep it on my desk.
21  Q.   Right.  Did it ever -- so in many instances
22    DenSco's recording copies; is that a fair statement?
23    They have to be, because that's all they have.
24  A.   Always.
25  Q.   So they're always recording copies?
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 1  A.   Always recording copies.
 2  Q.   Did it concern you, as the borrower, that the
 3    encumbrances on these properties that you're owning were
 4    copies instead of being originals?
 5  A.   Why would I care?
 6  Q.   I just asking if it bothered you?
 7  A.   Never.
 8  Q.   Did you think it would in any way affect the
 9    sort of validity of the lien that's against the
10    property?
11  A.   Never has.
12        MR. JESS: You doing okay?  We've been
13    going for about an hour.  Do you want to take a break,
14    or are you okay?
15        THE WITNESS: Yeah, we can go like another
16    10, 15 minutes and then I can use the restroom and
17    stuff, if that's okay.
18        MR. JESS: Okay.  Yep.
19        BY MR. ANDERSON: 
20  Q.   That's fine.
21        Was there a process by which you were
22    advised that your loan requests were approved?  I mean
23    did you get an e-mail back saying "Approved" or -- I
24    mean how did it work?
25        MR. JESS: But who, which?
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 1        BY MR. ANDERSON: 
 2  Q.   From DenSco.  Yeah, I'm sorry.  Yeah, I've made
 3    this sort of fictional DenSco/non-DenSco, so I have to
 4    keep that going, but I mean that's just the way.
 5        So in the DenSco transactions, did you get back
 6    from Denny "Approved" and then, you know, "Here are all
 7    your deeds of trust"?
 8        I'm just trying to figure out how -- what the
 9    communication was.
10  A.   No.  There was never anything not approved.
11  Q.   Understood.  Okay.
12  A.   The next communication I would have with DenSco
13    after giving him that information of the bid price and
14    all that stuff would be an e-mail that says "Docs," and
15    attached to the e-mail would be the docs that he's
16    created for me to sign.
17  Q.   Okay.  And then how do you know that the money
18    is going to be there for you to purchase the property?
19  A.   It always is.
20  Q.   I understand.  So I mean he doesn't say to you,
21    though, "I'm wiring X"?
22  A.   Sometimes he would e-mail you or send you an
23    e-mail that says "Wired" or "Sent 338,000," sometimes;
24    but most of the time I would just get a text on my phone
25    from the bank saying, hey, you just received a wire.
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 1  Q.   Okay.  And so --
 2  A.   I've never had a situation where he sent me
 3    docs and did not send me a wire.
 4  Q.   Okay.
 5        MR. JESS: Walk Ryan through 123 Main
 6    Street, how it would work with Denny in terms of the
 7    funding and the documents.
 8        THE WITNESS: Okay.  So we already went
 9    through how I communicate with him and I tell him I've
10    purchased 123 Main Street.  I tell him, let's just say,
11    "I will need $100,000," and let's just say I purchased
12    it for $100,000 or whatever.
13        The next communication would be an e-mail
14    that says "Docs."  His docs would be there.  He would
15    wire -- he normally wired very, very early in the
16    morning.  Usually before I even left the house in the
17    morning, by 7:00 in the morning, the money would be in
18    my account already, which was convenient, because then I
19    got to go to the bank before even getting to the office,
20    so I didn't have to go and come back and forth.
21        And then I would at some point during that
22    day sign the documents after I've received the money,
23    which is another difference that no other hard money
24    lender would ever do; but I would sign the documents,
25    usually that same day, unless something was going on and
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 1    I wasn't by a computer.  Then I would sign them that
 2    night or the next day, whatever it is.  And then I would
 3    e-mail it back to him, and that would be our transaction
 4    done.
 5        BY MR. ANDERSON: 
 6  Q.   Okay.
 7  A.   Once in a while -- now, remember how I said
 8    that you get a trustee's deed ten days later.  So there
 9    were many instances where -- the laws changed about five
10    years ago, approximately.  And so one of the differences
11    was, prior to five years ago the trustee would mail you
12    an unrecorded trustee's deed, and it would be up to me
13    to record the trustee's deed.  And then in the last five
14    years they've changed that, where you're going to pay
15    10 or $12 and they're going to record the deeds for you.
16        Well, prior to that there were a lot of times
17    that the deed just never showed up.  The trustees were
18    very laxed in getting you deeds.  They know the laws.
19    Sometimes you had to really yell and scream that you
20    were going to call an attorney because, hey, your ten
21    days are way completely up.  And then that's usually the
22    only time that they would really start moving around to
23    actually do something, and they would get you a deed.
24    But there were times that DenSco, Denny, would e-mail
25    and say, "Hey, it's been 17 days and this thing is not
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 1    recorded."  And now he's waiting, because he wants to
 2    record his deed of trust.  And so then I would tell him,
 3    "Okay, let me call the trustee and find out."  And, you
 4    know, typically, a week later or less I would have a
 5    trustee's deed recorded, and that would be the end of
 6    that.
 7  Q.   Okay.  In terms of -- you talked about a big
 8    difference being that you're getting the money before
 9    you've actually executed the documents purporting to be
10    the loan secured against the property; is that right?
11  A.   99.9 percent of the time.
12  Q.   And that in your experience with non-DenSco
13    hard money lenders, that did not happen, right?
14  A.   No, that would never happen.
15  Q.   So it would never happen with a non-DenSco
16    lender that you would get the money before you've agreed
17    to the loan?
18  A.   No, non-DenSco lenders are -- they have
19    policies.  They have procedures.  They -- it's you do
20    this or you don't do it.  And there is no real gray area
21    there.  It's follow one, two, three, four, and one, two,
22    three, four will happen back for you.  If you don't
23    follow one, two, three, four -- another example.  A
24    non-DenSco hard money lender requires you to have
25    insurance on a property.  Very important.  If a property
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 1    burns down the following business day, the borrower
 2    really could just walk away and say, all right, it is
 3    the hard money lender's problem.
 4        They always require you, every one I've ever
 5    dealt with, required you within that 24-hour period to
 6    get them proof of insurance before they deliver the
 7    money to the trustee.  With Denny it wasn't that case,
 8    or DenSco.  It was not that case.
 9  Q.   What were DenSco's insurance requirements?
10  A.   He wanted insurance on the properties, whether
11    it be that day, the next day, three days later.
12    Whenever it happened to be, whenever I got around to it,
13    then it would happen.
14  Q.   Well, it sounds like, from your testimony, that
15    DenSco's -- you said lax.  That it's really relaxed;
16    that the relationship with you at least was such that
17    there was a lot of trust, would that be a fair
18    statement?
19  A.   I don't -- yeah, with all his borrowers.
20  Q.   Well, you say "with all his borrowers."  How do
21    you know that his lending practices were uniform amongst
22    all of his borrowers?
23  A.   Okay, when I say "all of his borrowers," I
24    can't say that accurately.  I can say a number of
25    borrowers that I'm friends with, I know that he wires to

Min-U-Script® Coash & Coash, Inc.
602-258-1440         www.coashandcoash.com

(14) Pages 54 - 57



Re: Yomtov Scott Menaged, Debtor 
2:16:bk:04268-PS

Scott Menaged
October 20, 2016

11:06:28-11:07:28 Page 58

 1    them and has the same exact procedures.
 2  Q.   So in the sort of world that you operate of
 3    buying trustee's deeds, that it was known that DenSco's
 4    lending practices were just different than the rest of
 5    them?
 6  A.   Yes.  I mean I've officed -- it's a small
 7    world.  It's a very small, little community of people
 8    that buy at trustee's sales.  You do have the occasional
 9    person that comes in and then disappears for six years
10    and then comes back a day and then never see them again;
11    but it's really the same people every single day, and so
12    you get to know these people.
13        And at one point in my career I -- again, 2006,
14    '7, '8, around that vicinity, I officed with a couple
15    people that were doing the same exact thing, and we all
16    kind of shared the rent and we all worked with DenSco.
17    We also all worked with other hard money lenders.  And I
18    remember specifically -- I mean not that I have had
19    conversations with them about it, but I remember
20    specifically hearing, "Oh, Denny just wired 600,000 to
21    my account.  I need to go get cashier checks to pay for
22    these properties," the same procedure.
23        MR. JESS: Do you want to take a break?
24        THE WITNESS: Yeah.
25        MR. JESS: Can we take a break?
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 1        MR. ANDERSON: Sure.  We can go off the
 2    record at 11:07.
 3        (A recess was taken.)
 4        BY MR. ANDERSON: 
 5  Q.   We'll go back on the record.
 6        Mr. Menaged, you're still under oath.  Do you
 7    understand that?
 8  A.   Yes.
 9        I would like to go back to one thing, of a
10    question that you asked me.  You asked me if I ever had
11    a conversation with Denny or DenSco in regards to why he
12    did -- he was wiring to the borrowers.  And the one
13    thing I do remember was, when I first -- my first
14    transaction ever with DenSco, he did e-mail me and ask
15    me for my banking information.  And I was confused,
16    because no one would ever ask me for my banking
17    information.  There would be no reason for it.
18        And I sent it to him, and he wired me the money
19    for that first transaction.  And then I remember asking
20    him -- I don't remember if I asked him or said to him,
21    "You made a mistake.  Why do, like, I have this money?"
22        And he said, "This is how I do it.  I will wire
23    to the borrower, and it's your transaction.  You go and
24    take care of it."  I do remember that.  I mean that was
25    ten years ago, but I do remember having that
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 1    conversation.
 2  Q.   Okay.  So from your understanding of this, that
 3    this was his business practice from as soon as you
 4    started doing work with him?
 5  A.   Yes.  He never knew me from before that.
 6  Q.   Right.
 7        All right.  So changing gears a bit, in
 8    addition to Arizona Home Foreclosure and Easy
 9    Investments, you've disclosed some other businesses in
10    your bankruptcy petition.  I've just got some basic
11    questions about them.
12        What is Auto King, LLC?
13  A.   An auto dealership.
14  Q.   Is it still in business?
15  A.   It is not.
16  Q.   When did you stop operating that business?
17  A.   Approximately a year ago.
18  Q.   So sometime in 2015?
19  A.   I would say that's accurate.
20  Q.   Okay.  And why?  Why did you stop operating
21    Auto King?
22  A.   I hated the business.  It was a very bad
23    business for me.
24  Q.   And the business was what?
25  A.   Selling used cars to people with
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 1    credit-challenged situations.
 2  Q.   You have a company called Beneficial Finance,
 3    LLC; is that right?
 4  A.   Yes.
 5  Q.   And what is that company?
 6  A.   It was designed to loan money to people who
 7    were credit-challenged to buy furniture.  However, I
 8    never did it.
 9  Q.   Meaning you never lent anybody any money?
10  A.   Correct.
11  Q.   And is that company still operating?
12  A.   No.
13  Q.   Were you the sole owner of Beneficial Finance?
14  A.   I was.
15  Q.   Okay.  And the same for Auto King?
16  A.   Correct.
17  Q.   We've got Furniture & Electronic King, LLC.
18    And, in fact, I know a little bit about those because,
19    as you know, those entities are now in the receivership.
20        So I guess let's just talk about Furniture
21    King, Scott's Fine Furniture, and Furniture & Electronic
22    King sort of as Furniture King.  Is that a fair
23    statement to say?
24  A.   Yes.
25  Q.   Those three businesses are also out of
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 1    business; is that right?
 2  A.   That is correct.
 3  Q.   They're no longer selling furniture?
 4  A.   Correct.
 5  Q.   How did you get into the furniture business?
 6  A.   My dad was in the furniture business in New
 7    York, and so growing up, growing up probably since I was
 8    13 or so, on the weekends I would go to work with him.
 9    Summer breaks I would be always at work.  And I really
10    enjoyed business in general.
11  Q.   When did you start these -- well, when did you
12    get into the furniture business in Arizona?
13  A.   My dad had a company in late '90s, mid '90s,
14    when I first moved out here, called with Buckeye
15    Furniture, and I started working with him there.
16  Q.   So the furniture businesses predate the
17    foreclosure/trustee deed business, right?
18  A.   Yes.
19  Q.   Okay.  Were you in the furniture business, you
20    know, the whole time that you've been in the trustee
21    deed business?
22  A.   No.
23  Q.   Okay.  So when did you sort of restart
24    furniture?  I mean you can give me approximate dates.
25  A.   2008, 2009, approximately.
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 1  Q.   Okay.  And was the first entity you started,
 2    was that Furniture King?
 3  A.   Correct, and operated on Thomas Road.
 4  Q.   And eventually the Furniture King enterprises
 5    expand to multiple stores and multiple entities; is that
 6    right?
 7  A.   That is correct.
 8  Q.   However, upon the filing of the bankruptcy,
 9    you've ceased business operations for Furniture King,
10    Scott's Fine Furniture, and Furniture & Electronic King;
11    is that right?
12  A.   Correct.
13        MR. JESS: Just to clarify, Scott, I
14    believe that you ceased operating those businesses
15    during the bankruptcy, not when you filed, correct?
16        THE WITNESS: During, correct.
17        BY MR. ANDERSON: 
18  Q.   Are there any remaining assets of Auto King,
19    LLC?
20  A.   Yes.
21  Q.   Are those remaining assets the equipment that
22    is in your garage at home?
23  A.   Yes.
24  Q.   Okay.  And I believe that equipment is
25    currently going to be sold by the trustee and the
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 1    creditor; is that true?
 2  A.   That's correct.
 3  Q.   Are there any assets of Beneficial Finance?
 4  A.   No.
 5  Q.   The assets of Furniture King, which includes
 6    Furniture & Electronic King and Scott's Fine Furniture,
 7    those assets include furniture inventory; is that right?
 8  A.   Correct.
 9  Q.   Other than the furniture inventory that we're
10    intimately familiar with now, are there any other
11    assets?
12  A.   No.
13  Q.   So no bank accounts, right?
14  A.   There are bank accounts.
15  Q.   Well, is there any money in the bank accounts?
16  A.   No.
17  Q.   Do these entities -- have they ever owned any
18    real property?
19  A.   No.
20  Q.   Do these entities -- ever owned any vehicles?
21  A.   No.
22        I'm sorry.  Yes.
23  Q.   Okay.  Were those vehicles leased or were they
24    owned?
25  A.   There was one vehicle that we owned under
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 1    Furniture King.  It was sold years and years ago.  And
 2    that was it.
 3  Q.   Well, you initially filed bankruptcy sometime
 4    in May, I believe; is that right, May of 2016?
 5  A.   I believe it was earlier than that.
 6  Q.   Was it April?
 7  A.   It might have been.
 8  Q.   It was a filing that you did by yourself; is
 9    that right?
10  A.   That's correct.
11  Q.   You were not represented by counsel at the
12    time?
13  A.   No.
14  Q.   Let's just start with sort of the question why
15    did you file this bankruptcy?
16  A.   I had a marker out in Las Vegas with the Wynn
17    Hotel, and they sent that to -- they sent that marker to
18    a collection agency that ultimately ended up at the
19    District Attorney's Office.  And so they demanded
20    payment within ten days, and I did consult with an
21    attorney out in Vegas, and they told me that, you
22    know --
23        MR. JESS: Don't say anything that your
24    attorney told you.
25        THE WITNESS: Oh, okay.

Min-U-Script® Coash & Coash, Inc.
602-258-1440         www.coashandcoash.com

(16) Pages 62 - 65



Re: Yomtov Scott Menaged, Debtor 
2:16:bk:04268-PS

Scott Menaged
October 20, 2016

11:26:30-11:27:12 Page 66

 1        I then filed for bankruptcy for that
 2    reason.
 3        BY MR. ANDERSON: 
 4  Q.   Okay.  To address this debt to a casino; is
 5    that right?
 6  A.   That is correct.
 7  Q.   And do you generally know how much that amount
 8    of the debt is?
 9  A.   150,000.
10  Q.   And how did you incur that debt?
11  A.   Gambling.
12  Q.   And is it at a certain casino?
13  A.   The Wynn.
14  Q.   The Wynn in Las Vegas?
15  A.   That is correct.
16  Q.   And over what period of time did you incur this
17    gambling obligation?
18  A.   A couple months.
19  Q.   Was it a couple months in 2015?
20  A.   Yes.
21  Q.   Okay.  So you filed the bankruptcy in, I think
22    it's April --
23  A.   Uh-huh.
24  Q.   -- of 2015?
25  A.   '16.
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 1  Q.   2016.
 2        You incurred the debt to Wynn back in 2015; is
 3    that right?
 4  A.   Correct.
 5  Q.   Is there any dispute on your side to the
 6    validity of the debt?
 7  A.   No.
 8  Q.   So you used credit from the casino to gamble?
 9  A.   Correct.
10  Q.   And you were unable to pay them back?
11  A.   Correct.
12  Q.   What type of gambling did you do at the Wynn?
13  A.   I believe it was blackjack.
14  Q.   Electronic or with cards?
15  A.   No, cards.
16  Q.   Did you gamble at any other casinos?
17  A.   In my lifetime?
18  Q.   Well, how about we'll just do 2015.
19  A.   Possibly.
20  Q.   Did you take out any lines of credit at any
21    other casinos in 2015?
22  A.   I don't believe so.
23  Q.   Okay.  And when I say "line of credit," I do
24    mean a marker.  Did you have markers at any other
25    casinos in 2015?

11:28:26-11:29:39 Page 68

 1  A.   I don't believe so.
 2  Q.   Did you have any -- did you gamble in any
 3    casinos in Arizona?
 4  A.   I did.
 5  Q.   Which ones?
 6  A.   Casino Arizona and Talking Stick Resort and
 7    Wild Horse Pass.
 8  Q.   Did you have enough gambling winnings to be
 9    issued a tax form from any casino in 2015 indicating
10    what your winnings were?
11  A.   No.  There's statements, but I mean from the
12    casinos you can always, you know, get what --
13  Q.   Okay, but you could get a statement, I guess,
14    from a casino --
15  A.   Yes.
16  Q.   -- that shows how much you gamble; but I'm
17    asking if you got sort of a tax form that says here's
18    your gambling winnings?
19  A.   Only on slot machine wins and on specific wins.
20  Q.   Did you get any of those sort of tax forms in
21    2015 from slot machine wins?
22  A.   I don't believe so.
23  Q.   When you gamble, do you generally win or do you
24    generally lose?
25  A.   Well, in my mind I was a winner.
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 1  Q.   Well, what about in your pocketbook?
 2  A.   No, that would be a loser.
 3  Q.   So you filed the bankruptcy because of the
 4    problems with the Wynn marker; that's the only reason
 5    you filed?
 6  A.   Plus I had other debts.
 7  Q.   Okay.  And were there any other creditors that
 8    were putting pressure on you at that point?
 9  A.   No.
10  Q.   Your first filing that you filed by yourself
11    failed to mention or include DenSco in any way.
12  A.   Correct.
13  Q.   Why?
14  A.   I didn't want to upset him.  In some deluded
15    way in my mind, I was hoping to get his debt taken care
16    of somehow, maybe hit a really big jackpot or a couple
17    of them or furniture or whatever.  I mean I would have
18    done anything to get him taken care of.  I never wanted
19    to put him in that position.
20  Q.   Okay.  You amended your schedules in August of
21    2016; is that right?
22  A.   Correct.
23  Q.   And your amendments were with the assistance of
24    a legal counsel; is that right?
25  A.   Correct.
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 1  Q.   The amended schedules, do those reflect all
 2    your assets and all your liabilities?
 3  A.   Yes.
 4  Q.   So do you own any property outside the
 5    jurisdiction of Arizona?
 6  A.   No.
 7  Q.   Do you have any interest in any companies that
 8    may own property outside of Arizona?
 9  A.   No.
10  Q.   Are you a member of any partnerships that may
11    own property outside of Arizona?
12  A.   No.
13  Q.   Why didn't you file a joint bankruptcy with
14    your wife?
15  A.   My wife -- well, number one, my wife doesn't
16    have any assets.  She doesn't have any money.  She's not
17    on the house.  You know, she's not on the cars.  There
18    was really no reason.  I mean there was nothing there
19    for her.
20  Q.   Does the divorce that you talked about earlier,
21    the prepetition divorce, did that have any calculation
22    on this bankruptcy filing?
23  A.   No.
24  Q.   So you didn't file the first bankruptcy in
25    order to ensure that the Divorce Court didn't resolve
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 1    any community property issues?
 2  A.   No, not at all.
 3  Q.   Okay.  I'm going to show you what's marked as
 4    Exhibit No. 1.
 5        (Deposition Exhibit 1 was marked for
 6    identification.)
 7        BY MR. ANDERSON: 
 8  Q.   This is the forbearance agreement.  And this is
 9    not the entire forbearance agreement.  As you know, I
10    gave you a copy at the 341 meeting.  The entire
11    agreement is like a hundred-plus pages.  This is just
12    part that I think we should just be able to look at and
13    talk about.  So this is not the full agreement.
14  A.   Okay.
15  Q.   On November 27th of 2013, you meet with
16    Mr. Chittick and you tell him that something's gone
17    wrong in your business operations; is that a fair
18    statement?
19  A.   Yes.
20  Q.   You explain to him that DenSco's loans that
21    DenSco believed were in first position were, in fact,
22    second position deeds of trust; is that right?
23  A.   Correct.
24  Q.   And that those second deeds of trust were
25    spread across at least 100 real properties, right?
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 1  A.   Correct.
 2  Q.   Do you recall that meeting?
 3  A.   I do.
 4  Q.   Okay.  Where did that meeting take place?
 5  A.   At his house or home office.
 6  Q.   And what did you tell Mr. Chittick?
 7  A.   I told him that he was in second position on a
 8    lot of loans.  The thinking behind it was, you know,
 9    property values were on the rise.  He asked me what
10    involvement -- he asked me what involvement because --
11    like what involvement I knew of all of this.  I told him
12    that it was a -- I told him that I -- I told him that
13    one of my family members or family member employees was
14    doing it without my knowledge.  And I said that because
15    I didn't want to -- I didn't want to upset him.  I mean
16    I didn't want to tell him I knew what was happening and
17    what the thought process was.
18  Q.   Okay.  Well, what was the problem?
19  A.   What was the problem with what?
20  Q.   Well, I mean you're meeting with him to explain
21    that he's in a second position.  Why?  Why was that a
22    problem?
23  A.   He said it was a problem because in an
24    agreement that he has with his investors, he's not
25    supposed to be in second position.
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 1        And when he looked at the numbers and he looked
 2    at the properties at the time, he saw that the risk was
 3    not as high as most hard money lenders would think it
 4    would be, because he saw the idea of this property was
 5    worth 50,000 and now it's worth 70,000, and three to six
 6    months from now it probably will be worth 90,000.  He
 7    wasn't that concerned about the value as more he was
 8    concerned about the position because of his agreements
 9    with his investors.
10  Q.   Okay.  Well, wasn't his agreement with you,
11    when you were taking the loans on these properties, that
12    he would be in first position?
13  A.   Yes.
14  Q.   Okay.  And so he didn't know that he was
15    actually in second position on these loans, when he
16    thought he was in first, right?
17  A.   We met prior to November, I want to say
18    sometime earlier that year, and I said to him -- he said
19    to me, "I got a call from a hard money lender."  Someone
20    called him.  I don't remember who, but someone called
21    him and said, "Hey, you know, you're in second position
22    on this thing.  Is your loan still valid," or something
23    like that.
24        And he said to me, "Am I in second on this?"
25        And I said, "I don't know."  I said, "Maybe.
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 1    I'll check when I get back to the office."
 2        He's like, "Okay.  If I am, just get me out of
 3    second."
 4        And it was really no big deal.  And, you know,
 5    I at that point explained to him and said to him,
 6    "Yeah," I said, "I'm really not that concerned about
 7    it," I said, "because of what the loan amounts are and
 8    what the values are of the properties and how they're
 9    going up."
10        And he never mentioned his investors at the
11    time.  He just said, "No, I get it.  I understand."  And
12    that was the end of it.  And so I really didn't think
13    that -- because he was so laxed in everything else, I
14    didn't really think it really mattered to him.
15  Q.   Okay.  So how did DenSco get into this
16    situation?  I mean walk me through 123 Main where DenSco
17    ends up in a second position on it.
18  A.   The only way that DenSco ended up in this
19    position is because he wired the money to the borrower,
20    me, and did not pay the trustee directly.
21  Q.   Okay.  So the lax business practices of DenSco,
22    where it would be wiring money to you on a property that
23    you have made a bid on, enabled you to get another loan
24    in first position, right?
25  A.   That's correct.
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 1  Q.   Okay.  So, and Denny, when he was delivering
 2    these funds to you and delivering these documents to
 3    you, did not know he was going to be in second position,
 4    correct?
 5  A.   Correct.
 6  Q.   Okay.  So you're going to an auction and you're
 7    making a bid on 123 Main, right, and you make a bid for
 8    $100,000?
 9  A.   Correct.
10  Q.   You then go -- isn't it -- I assume you've
11    gone -- you go to a non-DenSco hard money lender to get
12    money to acquire the property; is that what happens?
13  A.   Correct.
14  Q.   And you go through the non-DenSco hard money
15    lender's practices and procedures in order to acquire
16    title to the property, right?
17  A.   Correct.
18  Q.   Are you doing the exact same thing with DenSco
19    at the same time?
20  A.   Correct.
21  Q.   So you are making -- you are telling DenSco, I
22    need to borrow X against the same property which you've
23    now already got a hard money loan against; is that
24    right?
25  A.   Correct.
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 1  Q.   The non-DenSco hard money lender goes through
 2    its policy, practices and procedures and wires the money
 3    or delivers the money to the trustee, and they end up
 4    in, most of the time, first position, right?
 5  A.   Most of the time, yes.
 6  Q.   And then DenSco wires its money to you, you
 7    sign the documents evidencing the loan, send them back
 8    to DenSco, and eventually DenSco records its deed of
 9    trust, right?
10  A.   Correct.
11  Q.   And in the majority of the instances DenSco
12    ends up in second position, and the non-DenSco hard
13    money lender is in first position, right?
14  A.   Sometimes.
15  Q.   Well, how many times of these two loans on a
16    property was DenSco in first versus DenSco in second,
17    just -- do you know?
18  A.   Estimated?
19  Q.   Yeah.
20  A.   Half, 50 percent.
21  Q.   Okay.  Of the 50 percent when DenSco's in
22    second position, at no time did DenSco believe, when it
23    was lending the money to your entities, that it was
24    going to be in second position, right?
25        MR. JESS: Objection, form.  Go ahead.
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 1        THE WITNESS: I don't know what he
 2    believed.
 3        I don't have to answer?
 4        MR. JESS: Yeah, go -- no, go ahead.  No.
 5        THE WITNESS: I don't know what he
 6    believed.  I just know the conversation I had with him
 7    earlier that year where second position, first position,
 8    it was really no big deal.  It didn't matter.
 9        The only time it became an issue for
10    DenSco or Denny was when a hard money lender contacted
11    him and where his big concern was, was, "Oh, my God, my
12    investors invest in that hard money company as well, and
13    that can't get out."
14        It wasn't an, "Oh, my God, I'm in second
15    position on all these loans."  It was more of "My
16    investors can't figure this out or understand it."  And,
17    you know, now that there's a hard money lender involved,
18    where these investors have invested into this other
19    company, it just takes a phone call to one -- again,
20    this is a very small business.  So once one investor
21    knows, they all know.  And so that was his main concern
22    with me, which is where the forbearance agreement came
23    up.
24        BY MR. ANDERSON: 
25  Q.   Okay.  Well, the reality, though, with
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 1    123 Main, where you've gotten two loans on the property,
 2    you've only needed to use one of your hard money loans
 3    to actually acquire title to the property; is that
 4    right?
 5  A.   That is correct.
 6  Q.   So you have the money from the other loan --
 7  A.   Correct.
 8  Q.   -- in your possession?
 9  A.   That is correct.
10  Q.   What happens with that money that is not used
11    to acquire the property?
12  A.   In -- I can't say every time or every dollar,
13    but in the big picture, most of the money would go back
14    to DenSco, and it would go back to DenSco on a previous
15    loan that we've had that, you know, the market was
16    completely upside down, and let's just say that he
17    loaned me $170,000 on a condo that today is only worth
18    40 grand.
19        Instead of me telling him, "Hey, like your
20    other borrowers, I'm walking away from this property,"
21    which I had every legal right to do at the time,
22    instead, I took this money and I put it into that so I
23    could get those loans paid off, off the books, and sold.
24  Q.   So you were using DenSco's money from current
25    transactions to pay historical transactions?
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 1  A.   Correct.
 2  Q.   Okay.  Is that what you told Mr. Chittick at
 3    the time?
 4  A.   At the time?
 5  Q.   Right.  In November of 2013, is that what you
 6    told him?
 7  A.   He never asked me at that time what I was doing
 8    with the additional funds.
 9  Q.   So he never asked you where all the money went
10    that he lent you?
11  A.   Was it in this conversation?
12        Well, no, he did -- when we talked about where
13    the additional funds were, I told him it was taken by a
14    family member that was running my company.  That's what
15    I told him.  I never told him that the money went back
16    to him to pay off the first hundred loans when the
17    market went upside down.
18        See, he was in a place of -- he was -- he was a
19    lonely man, loved to reach out, loved to talk.  And when
20    the market started changing and he had all -- I'm going
21    to -- tons and tons of borrowers who were walking away
22    from him, and he's now went from the lending business to
23    the landlord business; meaning he foreclosed on the
24    property, he took the property back or the borrower
25    signed the deed of lieu and gave him back the property.
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 1    And so what was he going to do with the property?  So he
 2    rented it out, you know, collected something on the
 3    property.  Better than collecting nothing or the
 4    property being vandalized.
 5        And for a good amount of time it was a very,
 6    very big -- very, very big stress on him.  And I didn't
 7    know him personally, like I didn't know -- I didn't know
 8    his ins and outs of what he does or his head, mindset or
 9    anything like that; but I had around that time started
10    to figure out, okay, this man cannot take pressure,
11    because the smallest little things would send him over
12    the deep end.  And he would constantly complain about
13    how, you know, he had borrowers that would just walk
14    away and, you know, leave him with a $200,000 loan on a
15    property that's worth 40 grand and, you know, how
16    appreciative he is of, you know, that I haven't done
17    that with him.  Because at the time I had a -- who knows
18    how many loans, I mean tons and tons of loans.  And had
19    I done that at the time, I don't think that -- I don't
20    believe DenSco would have survived.
21        So here's this man that's telling me
22    constantly, over and over again, about how he can't
23    sleep at night because these borrowers have screwed him
24    over and have turned over these properties, and he's
25    taking pills to sleep at night, and, you know, thank you
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 1    so much for taking care of your loans and blah, blah,
 2    blah, blah, blah.
 3        And I didn't have the heart -- I wish I did,
 4    but I didn't have the heart to say to him, "Hey, I'm
 5    sorry, here's a hundred properties or 150 properties.
 6    I'm done.  You know, this thing is -- this portfolio is
 7    completely upside down."  I just couldn't do it.  I wish
 8    I did, but I couldn't.  I felt sorry for him.
 9  Q.   Okay.  Did you tell him that your wife had
10    cancer and that's why you had turned over control of the
11    business to this cousin?
12  A.   I did.  I told him that my wife was sick.
13  Q.   Was that true?
14  A.   She is sick, uh-huh.
15  Q.   No, did she have cancer?
16  A.   No.
17  Q.   So if you told him that she had cancer, that
18    was a lie?
19  A.   Yes.  I didn't want to tell him what she really
20    had.
21  Q.   You've talked about this cousin.  The cousin
22    doesn't exist, right?
23  A.   That is correct.
24  Q.   Did you tell Mr. Chittick that the cousin had
25    taken DenSco's money and spent it in Las Vegas?
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 1  A.   I did.
 2  Q.   Was that true?
 3  A.   No.  There is no cousin.
 4  Q.   Okay.  I understand there's no cousin.  But had
 5    you taken any of the money and spent it in Las Vegas?
 6  A.   No.
 7  Q.   Okay.  The cousin allegedly, you know,
 8    absconded to Israel, I believe; isn't that what you told
 9    him?
10  A.   That's what I told him.
11  Q.   And took with him money?
12  A.   Correct.
13  Q.   That obviously wasn't true, because the cousin
14    doesn't exist, right?
15  A.   Correct.
16  Q.   Did you take any of the money and put it in
17    Israel?
18  A.   I did not.
19  Q.   Your testimony is, is that the money that you
20    borrowed from DenSco was only used to repay DenSco loans
21    that were not going to -- not going to perform; is that
22    right?
23        MR. JESS: Objection, form.
24        BY MR. ANDERSON: 
25  Q.   You can still answer the question.
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 1  A.   The majority of the money, yes.
 2  Q.   Okay.  Did any of the money that you acquired
 3    from DenSco under these second loans -- was it used in
 4    any other way?
 5  A.   Yes.
 6  Q.   Okay.  And what are those other ways?
 7  A.   Living expenses, investing into the furniture
 8    companies, gambling.
 9  Q.   Okay.  So in addition to paying DenSco back on
10    loans that were not going to be performing, you used the
11    money that you had acquired from DenSco to pay for your
12    living expenses?
13  A.   Correct.
14  Q.   To go gambling in Las Vegas?
15  A.   Correct.
16  Q.   Did you use that money to repay any of your
17    other loans?
18  A.   Business loans?
19  Q.   Any loans.
20  A.   Living expenses, my father's loan to the
21    company.
22  Q.   To which company?
23  A.   Arizona Home Foreclosures, the same one that
24    Denny lent --
25  Q.   You used some of DenSco's money that you
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 1    acquired through these second mortgages to pay down your
 2    dad's obligations?
 3  A.   Yes.  They both lent money to the same company.
 4  Q.   How much did you pay your dad back?
 5  A.   I would have to get that accounting.
 6  Q.   How would you get that accounting?
 7  A.   I could ask him to get his accountant to get
 8    it.
 9  Q.   It's true you took advantage of DenSco's
10    relaxed lending practices, right?
11        MR. JESS: Objection, form.
12        THE WITNESS: I didn't take advantage of
13    his laxed -- in my opinion, I didn't take advantage of
14    his laxed lending practices.
15        In my conversation with him sometime
16    earlier that year and he mentioned, "Hey, there's a
17    property or two properties that I think I'm in second
18    position on," and we kind of talked about it, and I'm
19    like, "Yeah, I have to look at the books and figure out
20    if you are in second position," he was like, "All right.
21    You know, no big deal.  Just take care of it."
22        It was not a conversation I would have had
23    with another lender in that situation, and so I didn't
24    realize at the time that he had a ton of investors.  I
25    didn't know he had any investors, actually.  I didn't
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 1    realize that he wasn't allowed to be in second position.
 2        And I believed that what I was doing was
 3    really the best for him, because I was getting rid of
 4    all these bad loans.  And, yes, we are -- we now have X
 5    amount of liens on these new loans at the bottom of the
 6    market, when they're going up, and then as soon -- the
 7    idea was when they got up to a certain level, they'll
 8    get sold and problem solved.
 9        BY MR. ANDERSON: 
10  Q.   But you don't disagree that you were lying to
11    Denny about the loan that you were going to -- that you
12    were asking for?
13        MR. JESS: Objection, form.
14        THE WITNESS: No, I didn't -- I lied to
15    him.  He's lied to me.  We've had a ten-year
16    relationship.
17        BY MR. ANDERSON: 
18  Q.   Well, you're asking -- when you're already
19    working on getting a loan on 123 Main from another hard
20    money lender and you ask for the same money from DenSco
21    at the same time, you understand that you are
22    misrepresenting to one or both of the lenders what's
23    happening, right?
24  A.   Yes.
25  Q.   And you're borrowing money under those false
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 1    pretenses, right?
 2  A.   Correct.
 3        MR. JESS: Objection, form.
 4        BY MR. ANDERSON: 
 5  Q.   While you have explained that after it became
 6    exposed to Denny that he was in second position, he
 7    wasn't too upset about it, are you telling us that you
 8    think if you had told Denny at the beginning that you
 9    were going to ask for him to loan money on properties
10    that you already had a first position lien on, that he
11    would still lend?
12  A.   Absolutely.
13  Q.   Okay.  So you think that if you would have come
14    and been honest with him about the position he would be
15    in on these certain properties, he would have still lent
16    the money to you?
17  A.   Yes.
18  Q.   Okay.  And what leads you to believe that?
19  A.   There have been many times, like, for instance,
20    on my personal house, where I needed a few hundred
21    thousand dollars, and he would know that I have a
22    million dollar loan or $2 million loan on my personal
23    house, and he would put himself in second position.
24        There wasn't -- in conversations I have had
25    with him, I mean, I think it's because the whole laxed
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 1    environment and the way that me and him would speak, and
 2    I don't see why he -- other than his commitments to his
 3    investors, why there would be a problem with that.
 4  Q.   Okay.  Well, you said that the first time you
 5    figured out there were investors was when this came to
 6    light; is that right?
 7  A.   That's correct.
 8  Q.   And what happened was that the other hard money
 9    lenders that were either in first or potentially second
10    position raised concerns about these individual
11    properties to DenSco and probably to you, right?
12  A.   Correct.
13  Q.   And so in the throws of this disclosure that
14    DenSco is in second position, you learn for the first
15    time that Denny has investors, right?
16  A.   It was approximately that time, yes.
17  Q.   And you also learned at the same time that
18    DenSco has made representations to its investors about
19    the types of loans it's able to make to people like you,
20    right?
21  A.   I've learned that from his attorney, yes.
22  Q.   But you learned it in this process, in this
23    unwinding of these second positions, right?
24  A.   Correct.
25  Q.   And before that time you didn't -- you weren't
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 1    aware of that DenSco had investors, right?
 2  A.   If I knew that he had investors, I mean maybe
 3    it was a couple.  I don't really remember.  I don't
 4    remember having a conversation with him about it.
 5  Q.   Okay.  You certainly know for a certainty
 6    during the forbearance agreement negotiations that there
 7    are a bunch of investors?
 8  A.   Yes.
 9  Q.   Just so I'm clear, while you believe that due
10    to Denny's relaxed lending practices and some of his
11    lending practices with you on an individual basis, that
12    he may have loaned on properties where he would be in
13    second position, you did not specifically tell him that
14    he was going to be in second position on these loans,
15    right?
16        MR. JESS: Objection, form.
17        THE WITNESS: I did not have a
18    conversation with him and say, "I'm putting you in
19    second position on these loans," no.
20        BY MR. ANDERSON: 
21  Q.   Okay.  And did you ever tell him that you used
22    the money from these second positions to pay for your
23    living expenses?
24  A.   No.
25  Q.   Did you ever tell him that you used the money
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 1    to -- you know, for your other businesses?
 2  A.   No.  I never even told him that he got the
 3    money back.
 4  Q.   Right.  You never even told him that you were
 5    using the money to repay --
 6  A.   Right.
 7  Q.   -- other loans?
 8        So he knew -- all he knew was this lie about
 9    the cousin, right?
10        MR. JESS: Objection, form.
11        THE WITNESS: I believe that's what he
12    knew, yes.
13        BY MR. ANDERSON: 
14  Q.   Okay.  And you never told him the truth about
15    it, did you?
16  A.   I'm pretty sure he knew the truth.
17  Q.   How do you know that?
18  A.   It's my feeling.
19  Q.   Well, did you ever tell him the truth?
20  A.   No.  But there was a conversation one time
21    where he said to me, "Look, honestly, I don't really
22    care how we got to this position and I don't really
23    care --" I mean specifically said to me, "I don't even
24    care if the cousin story was a lie," which kind of threw
25    me off.  "We just clean -- we'll just get everything all
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 1    cleaned up."
 2  Q.   Okay.  So let's talk a little bit about the
 3    cleaning it up.  This is the forbearance agreement
 4    you've got in front of you.  It's Exhibit No. 1.
 5        You alert Mr. Chittick to this problem in
 6    November, on November 27th, 2013.  However, it takes
 7    until April 16th, 2014 to get the forbearance agreement
 8    finalized; is that right?
 9        MR. JESS: Just to be clear, I think,
10    Ryan, you had said earlier that the other hard money
11    lenders alerted DenSco to this problem.
12        THE WITNESS: And they did.
13        BY MR. ANDERSON: 
14  Q.   Okay.  You're right, I did say that.  There is
15    a section in this agreement that specifically
16    references -- Section G is Page 2, talks about that
17    date, November 27th, where it says that guarantor, which
18    is you, met with Denny Chittick to inform lender that
19    certain properties had also been used, though guarantor
20    acknowledged no fault, as security for one or more loans
21    from one or more other lenders.
22        Do you see that?
23  A.   I see it, yes.
24  Q.   Okay.  And so you don't dispute that's what
25    happened, right?
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 1  A.   Well, I do dispute.  I mean I didn't -- I'm not
 2    the one that brought it to his attention.
 3  Q.   I understand that.
 4  A.   But, yes, I did meet with him on that day.
 5  Q.   You did meet with him on that day --
 6  A.   Correct.
 7  Q.   -- to tell him what had happened?
 8  A.   Correct.
 9  Q.   And the problem that DenSco was facing was that
10    the value of the properties in which DenSco was in
11    second position, the fair market value, was not
12    sufficient to be able to -- there was no equity in the
13    property?
14  A.   Correct.
15  Q.   That was the problem.
16        Was it -- you know, when you learn or when you
17    tell him that he's in second position, how does this
18    forbearance agreement come to light?  How does this get
19    negotiated and drafted and prepared?
20  A.   He said to me that he was going to contact his
21    attorney and have an agreement drawn up to protect him.
22    That's how it came to light.
23  Q.   Okay.  And who was this attorney?  Do you know?
24  A.   Yes.
25  Q.   Who is it?
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 1  A.   David Beauchamp.
 2  Q.   Did you ever meet with Mr. Beauchamp?
 3  A.   I did.
 4  Q.   On how many occasions?
 5  A.   Two.
 6  Q.   And where were those meetings?
 7  A.   David Beauchamp's office.
 8  Q.   Okay.  And can you describe the first meeting?
 9  A.   Yes.
10  Q.   What happened?
11  A.   I got there earlier than Denny.  Denny walked
12    into the reception area and I was sitting there, and the
13    receptionist put us into a conference room.  About ten
14    minutes later David Beauchamp walked in with a whole --
15    I don't know.  A whole bunch of papers, stack of
16    folders, put it down on the desk really hard, sat down,
17    was sweating.  It was kind of gross.  And looked at
18    Denny and he said, "Can you please tell me what the fuck
19    is going on here," in those exact words.
20        And Denny said to him, "I've explained to you
21    over the phone where we're at, and I need you to draw up
22    an agreement."
23        And he said, "No, what you explained to me is a
24    very, very 30,000 feet high explanation of how this
25    happened.  So now I need to know how it happened.  How
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 1    did this whole thing occur?"
 2        And so -- and so David said to me -- no, then
 3    Denny said, "Do you want to explain it?  Do you want me
 4    to explain it?"
 5        And so I said, "I'll explain it."  I said, "I
 6    had a cousin in the business who screwed me over for
 7    some money.  Denny's in second position."
 8        And that's when he stopped me.  We didn't get
 9    into too much detail about it because his main thing was
10    how could that happen, was his big thing; how is it
11    possible that this could happen to begin with.
12        And so I said to him, "Well, when Denny would
13    wire me the money," and that's kind of when he went
14    nuts, and he said, "Why would Denny be wiring you
15    money?"
16        And Denny said, "Well, I wired to him so he can
17    go pay the trustee."
18        And that's when he stood up and he said, "Are
19    you a fucking idiot?  Did we not draw up the documents
20    for your borrowers to specifically reflect exactly what
21    you're supposed to be doing?"
22        And so the lawyer pulled out from his folder a
23    sample of the documents; not documents that I signed,
24    but a sample of, I guess, what was prepared for DenSco
25    to give to his borrowers.  And he referenced in the
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 1    mortgage clause where it says, I, DenSco, am providing a
 2    loan on 123 Main Street, as an example, and I am making
 3    a check payable to this trustee for this recording
 4    number for this, for this, for this, and for that.
 5        And so what he said to Denny was, "So you're
 6    telling me that you did not follow what is in this
 7    agreement?"
 8        And Denny said, "I have never --" no, Denny
 9    said, "I very rarely cut checks to trustees."
10        And David said, "So you want to tell me that
11    all of your borrowers, you wire to the borrower?"
12        And he said, "Most of them, yes."
13        And then he was very angry.  He left the room
14    with Denny.  He asked to talk to him in private.  They
15    left the room for about 15 minutes, 20 minutes.  He came
16    back in.  He asked me if I had counsel.  I said, "No."
17    I said, "Do I need counsel?"
18        And he said, "I guess I can represent you too."
19        And I said, "Okay."
20        He said, "You need to understand that we have
21    to have an agreement drawn up to protect Denny and
22    DenSco from the situation."
23        I said, "Okay."  But at that point I was
24    starting to feel a little uncomfortable because I felt
25    like I didn't know what the conversation was that they
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 1    had in private, and I felt like Beauchamp was looking to
 2    just maybe protect Denny and DenSco and not me.  And so
 3    I started thinking, well, maybe I should have an
 4    attorney for this thing.
 5        And so I did tell him that -- you know, I said,
 6    "Well, when will you have this agreement drawn up?"
 7        And he said, "It will take me a couple of
 8    weeks.  I will work day and night, over the weekend.
 9    I'll get it done."
10        And I said, "Okay."
11        And then he told me that -- I said, "Are we --
12    are we talking like a few pages?"
13        "Oh, no, no, no, no; like this."
14        And I remember that.  And I looked at Denny and
15    I said, "Hey, I didn't bargain for this.  I don't know
16    what I'm doing here then.  Because I'm not signing
17    anything like this unless I have an attorney."
18        And so Beauchamp said to me, "If you want to
19    get an attorney, you could, or, you know, Denny has
20    agreed to pay this initial attorney fees, and we can all
21    just do it together."
22        And so I started to feel like I was getting
23    pushed into not having an attorney.  It was a feeling.
24    It wasn't told to me.  It was just a feeling that I was
25    getting from the attorney of he didn't want another
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 1    attorney involved.  And so that kind of made a really
 2    big red flag in my head of, okay, well, what are you
 3    going to be putting in this agreement that's going to
 4    hurt me.
 5        So he then left the room.  I remember he said
 6    he needed to -- or I remember he said he needed to go
 7    downstairs and get fresh air and clean up, and which he
 8    did, because he was a mess.  His shirt was all wet, and
 9    it really was disgusting.
10        And then he came back up, came back upstairs.
11    He said, "Okay, I have had some time to relax and think
12    about the situation," he said, "and here's what we're
13    going to do:  We are going to draw up an agreement to
14    protect you and Denny from the situation."
15        And so at that point I said to him, "I don't
16    understand.  Like I'm not -- I'm not getting it."
17        And so he said to Denny, he said to Denny, "You
18    do realize that you are just as much or equally
19    responsible, if not more, for this problem, because the
20    documents that you have been providing Scott have not
21    been true and correct.  You have not been paying the
22    trustee.  So, therefore, this can be challenged in court
23    very easily and probably could be won."
24        And Denny said, "Okay.  I wasn't aware of that.
25    We can change the documents going forward."

12:07:08-12:08:03 Page 97

 1        And that's when Beauchamp just went off the
 2    deep end, and he's like, "You are fucking stupid.  What
 3    do you mean, change the documents?  You want to continue
 4    to wire to the borrowers; is that what you're telling
 5    me?"
 6        "Well, yes."
 7        "Well, no," and that's what he told him, "Well,
 8    no, that's not going to happen.  You're not going to
 9    continue wiring to the borrowers."
10        And so he said, "Okay, well, we'll have this
11    conversation at a different time."  He said, "What
12    information do you need from me?"
13        I believe he provided him a spreadsheet of the
14    properties at the time, and then at that point, after I
15    left that first initial meeting, I hired counsel.
16  Q.   Okay.
17  A.   Sorry if that was way too much in detail.
18  Q.   No, that's fine.  Just circle back on a couple
19    of points.
20        Did Mr. Beauchamp at any time while you're
21    sitting there discuss the disclosure of this situation
22    and problem with the DenSco investors?
23  A.   Yes.
24  Q.   And what do you recall was said about the
25    disclosure of this problem with the DenSco investors?
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 1  A.   He said that he was in major violation of his
 2    memorandum, I believe.  I believe that's what he said,
 3    the memorandum with his investors.  And he said that we
 4    needed to -- not we.  He needed, the attorney, he needed
 5    to draft the agreement in a way that will protect Denny
 6    from any kind of liability with the investors.
 7  Q.   Did Mr. Beauchamp say anything when you were in
 8    the room about Denny's obligation to disclose that this
 9    problem had occurred in his lending practices?
10  A.   He did.  He said to him, "We need to draft a
11    letter to the investors to advise them of the
12    situation."
13        And Denny said, "That's not happening."
14        And he said, "Why is that?"
15        And he said, "Because there will be a run on
16    the bank and then at that point I can't pay off all
17    these loans, and so I'm going to take care of the
18    problem myself."
19        And Beauchamp said, his attorney said, "Okay.
20    I don't want to know about it then, if that's what
21    you're doing.  I think that you should advise the
22    investors."
23        And then Denny continued to tell him, "Look,
24    you have to understand the position.  The position is,
25    that if I advise the investors and they all come back to
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 1    me and ask for their money back, then I'm going to be in
 2    a bad position where I'm not going to be able to pay
 3    these other loans, and then I'm not going to have full
 4    control of the properties."
 5        And then at that point Beauchamp said, "Well,
 6    okay, if that's what we're going to do, then we
 7    definitely need to work very closely on this forbearance
 8    agreement to protect you from fraud," at this point
 9    talking to Denny, "protect you from fraud, protect you
10    from the Arizona Corporate Commission, protect you from
11    the AG's office."  He said, "That's what needs to
12    happen."
13        And so Denny said to him, "Okay.  Well, I pay
14    you enough legal fees for you to do that, so do it."
15        And Beauchamp said, "I will start working on it
16    immediately.  I'll be working over the weekend.  It will
17    take some time."  And that was it.
18  Q.   Did Mr. Beauchamp ever say to Denny, while you
19    were in the room or present, that he, Mr. Beauchamp, had
20    an obligation to alert Denny's investors of what
21    happened?
22  A.   He did.
23  Q.   And do you recall what he said?
24  A.   Yes.  He said, "You do understand that you're
25    putting me in a very awkward and bad position, because I
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 1    do have an obligation to advise the investors."
 2        And Denny said, "I didn't under -- I didn't
 3    know that, but I would appreciate it if you did not
 4    advise anybody and just prepare this agreement so we can
 5    move on from this."
 6        And at that point I knew that he was not
 7    advising the investors, because Beauchamp said, "Okay,
 8    Denny, I will do what you want."
 9  Q.   Okay.  And so the situation that we have with
10    the forbearance agreement is that your other hard money
11    lender, the one who was generally in first position, but
12    sometimes in second position, had -- one of them had
13    actually sold off their loans to another private
14    investor, right?
15  A.   I'm not aware of that.
16  Q.   You're not aware of that?
17  A.   No.
18  Q.   You're not aware of a group that was generally
19    known as Ron's Group that was --
20  A.   Ron's Group?
21  Q.   Yeah, or Dan's Group, a group of investors that
22    had bought loans from other hard money lenders as
23    investments, and they found themselves with DenSco
24    sitting down here in a second position?
25  A.   No, that's not true.
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 1  Q.   You're not aware of any of that?
 2  A.   That's not true.
 3  Q.   Well, what's the truth?
 4  A.   Well, that's not -- if Dan did a loan, then Dan
 5    was the lender from the beginning.
 6  Q.   Well, are you aware of any of the hard money
 7    lenders, with respect to these loans that were first
 8    position, with DenSco in second, that had sold their
 9    loans to other people?
10  A.   No.
11  Q.   No, okay.
12        Were you aware of any hard money lenders that
13    when they discovered that DenSco's in the second
14    position and that you had essentially misled both
15    lenders of this situation, to end up with two loans,
16    that they wanted to foreclose and wipe out Denny's loan?
17        MR. JESS: Objection, form.
18        THE WITNESS: No.
19        BY MR. ANDERSON: 
20  Q.   So --
21  A.   Well --
22  Q.   Okay.  No or yeah?  I mean there were
23    obviously, Scott, other hard money lenders that were
24    complaining about the situation, right?
25  A.   That was the issue, yes.
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 1  Q.   Okay.  And what were they complaining about?
 2    If they're in first position, why would they care?
 3  A.   Because of the timing of the recordings.
 4  Q.   Right, because they were so near in time that
 5    it --
 6  A.   It could have been challenged.
 7  Q.   It could have been challenged, right?  Could
 8    have been challenged by DenSco, right?
 9  A.   It could have been challenged by DenSco.
10  Q.   Right.  DenSco could have said, "Wait a second,
11    I was led to believe I was in first position," right?
12  A.   The issue here is that most of the time that
13    wouldn't be accurate, because most of the time DenSco
14    would record at least 24 hours after the other lender,
15    probably going back to the laxed environment.
16  Q.   But in some instances, didn't DenSco record its
17    mortgage, then the other note and deed of trust got
18    recorded, then DenSco came in with its deed of trust?
19    You've got sort of this weird sort of line of deeds?
20  A.   Yes.
21  Q.   Okay.  So you've got an argument that Denny
22    clouded title before the other deed of trust came and
23    got recorded, right?
24        MR. JESS: Objection, form.
25        THE WITNESS: Correct.
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 1        BY MR. ANDERSON: 
 2  Q.   Well, at least that argument, you've heard that
 3    argument in this big dispute, right?
 4  A.   Yes.
 5  Q.   I mean you heard both sides of the argument;
 6    you heard DenSco's side, and I'm sure you heard the
 7    other hard money lender's side, right?
 8  A.   There wasn't really a DenSco side.
 9  Q.   Well, okay, you heard that position then from
10    the other hard money lenders that you had made loans
11    with?
12  A.   Yes.
13  Q.   Who were those other hard money lenders; what
14    are the names of those entities?
15  A.   Sell Wholesale Funding.
16  Q.   Okay.
17  A.   And Active Finance Group.
18  Q.   Is Active the one Gregg?
19  A.   Yes.
20  Q.   Okay.  And did Sell and Active take a different
21    posture in how to deal with these loans?
22  A.   What do you mean?
23  Q.   Well, did Gregg at Arizona -- what is it
24    called?
25  A.   American -- or Active Funding.
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 1  Q.   Active Funding.
 2        Did Active Funding agree to not raise issues
 3    with these second positions and allow you time to work
 4    it out with DenSco?
 5  A.   Yes.
 6  Q.   So Active Funding allowed, essentially, the
 7    longer workout to play out, right?
 8  A.   Yes.
 9  Q.   They weren't going to be aggressive?
10  A.   Correct.
11  Q.   And the Gregg is somebody you had worked with
12    in the past?
13  A.   Correct.
14  Q.   In fact, were you almost a business partner of
15    him in the long, distant past?
16  A.   We officed together.
17  Q.   Sell Wholesale, did they take a different
18    posture?
19  A.   Yes.
20  Q.   Did they hire a lawyer at Bryan Cave named Bob
21    Miller?
22  A.   They did hire a lawyer.  I don't know who.
23  Q.   Okay.  And what did that lawyer -- what do you
24    understand that lawyer was arguing?
25        MR. JESS: Don't speculate, Scott.
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 1        THE WITNESS: I don't know.
 2        BY MR. ANDERSON: 
 3  Q.   Okay.  Did you get any --
 4        MR. JESS: Can we go off the record?
 5        MR. ANDERSON: No, I don't want to go off
 6    the record here.
 7        BY MR. ANDERSON: 
 8  Q.   Did you get any communications from these hard
 9    money lenders during this dispute?  Did they send you
10    any demand letters, any sort of communications?
11  A.   I believe I got a statement.
12  Q.   What's a statement?
13  A.   You don't know what a statement is?
14  Q.   I'm asking you.  What kind of statement?
15  A.   It's a piece of paper that says the property
16    address and loan amount, and I believe it was requested
17    from DenSco.
18  Q.   So the other hard money lenders, Active Funding
19    and Sell Wholesale, didn't make any demands on you?
20  A.   Not that I remember.  I believe -- well, I
21    believe that they wanted their loans paid off.  That's
22    all I remember.
23  Q.   What was the -- putting aside the forbearance
24    agreement, which is sort of the solution between you and
25    DenSco, what was the real-world solution that DenSco and
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 1    Active Funding and Sell Wholesale agreed to and you
 2    agreed to?  What was the reality of how the workout
 3    worked?
 4  A.   Of actually how it happened?
 5  Q.   Yeah, actually how it happened.
 6  A.   Denny, DenSco, went and paid off all the other
 7    loans.
 8  Q.   So DenSco came out of its bank accounts and
 9    basically paid off all the loans?  Where it was in
10    second position, it paid off the first; is that right?
11  A.   Or if he was -- or vice versa.
12  Q.   Or if he was in first, he paid off the second?
13  A.   Yeah.
14  Q.   So DenSco comes out of pocket to essentially
15    clean all of this up so that DenSco is the only hard
16    money lender on the property, right?
17  A.   Correct.
18  Q.   And so Active Funding and Sell Wholesale end up
19    made whole on their loan, whether they're in first or
20    second position?
21  A.   Correct.
22  Q.   You didn't sign a forbearance agreement or any
23    sort of arrangement with either one of these hard money
24    lenders that were also involved, right?
25  A.   Correct.
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 1  Q.   Your only resolution of how to fix the problem
 2    is with DenSco?
 3  A.   Yeah.  It wasn't even my resolution.  It was
 4    DenSco's resolution.
 5  Q.   Okay.  But there is no -- you did not sort of
 6    have to pay money yourself to these other hard money
 7    lenders in resolution of this problem, right?
 8  A.   No.
 9  Q.   Okay.  And the solution with DenSco was that
10    you were going to be obligated to repay the money that
11    DenSco had to advance to fix this problem, right?
12  A.   Correct.
13        MR. JESS: Objection, form.
14        BY MR. ANDERSON: 
15  Q.   I mean that's essentially what the forbearance
16    agreement is, is your amount that you would owe DenSco,
17    plus an arrangement in how you're going to repay DenSco
18    for these loans that were done improperly, right?
19  A.   Correct.
20  Q.   Did you ever have, in your mind, an
21    attorney-client relationship with Mr. David Beauchamp?
22  A.   No.
23  Q.   Did he ever send you an engagement letter or
24    anything like that?
25  A.   No.
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 1  Q.   You mentioned earlier that DenSco was motivated
 2    to resolve these double-liened properties because it
 3    didn't want it to be known publicly that DenSco had
 4    gotten itself into this situation, right?
 5  A.   Correct.
 6  Q.   That was the motivation of DenSco?
 7  A.   Yes.
 8  Q.   Okay.  At the time that these double-liened
 9    properties were discovered, was the real estate market
10    in a position where property values were increasing?
11  A.   Yes.
12  Q.   Did you argue to DenSco to take a different
13    course of action with respect to how to resolve these
14    properties?
15  A.   Absolutely.
16  Q.   And what was that course of action that you
17    recommended?
18  A.   Wait six to twelve months and this problem is
19    gone.
20  Q.   And why would the problem have been gone in six
21    to twelve months?
22  A.   Because in six to twelve months, in my
23    estimation, which turned out to be true, the prices were
24    rising so quickly from the bottom that both lien
25    positions would have been paid off.  Would not even have
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 1    a need for a forbearance agreement.
 2  Q.   So if Denny could have held on for a year,
 3    there wouldn't have been this forbearance agreement loan
 4    balance, right?
 5  A.   It's not that if he could have held on.  He
 6    could have held on, because keep in mind, he advanced,
 7    you know, 20-something million dollars to pay off the
 8    other lenders.  So it wasn't a financial issue.
 9        The issue that he had was that he wanted to get
10    something in writing to protect himself from the
11    investors, and Beauchamp said to him that that was the
12    only way to protect himself, was with the forbearance
13    agreement, because at one point we discussed not even
14    doing the forbearance agreement after we met with
15    Beauchamp.  And he said that he had a conversation with
16    Beauchamp, and Beauchamp highly recommended it to
17    protect the situation.
18  Q.   Okay.  Well, the forbearance agreement has this
19    balance amount, this loan balance, 35 thousand
20    639,880.71.
21  A.   35 million?
22  Q.   35 million, yeah.
23        How does that number get affixed?  Do you know?
24  A.   I don't.
25  Q.   Okay.
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 1  A.   I didn't even read the agreement, to be honest
 2    with you.  I mean I hate to say that, but I didn't read
 3    it, not this version, and I didn't read the hundred-page
 4    version.
 5  Q.   But you signed it, right?
 6  A.   I signed it, yes.
 7  Q.   And you obviously -- well, I mean you had a
 8    lawyer?
 9  A.   Not -- that was very short-lived.  I did not --
10    I had a lawyer for a very short period of time.
11  Q.   Well, that lawyer was working on your side of
12    the forbearance agreement, right?
13  A.   He made a couple of changes, I believe, to the
14    forbearance agreement, yes.
15        (Deposition Exhibit 2 was marked for
16    identification.)
17        BY MR. ANDERSON: 
18  Q.   Let me show you what's marked as Exhibit No. 2.
19    Do you recognize Exhibit No. 2?
20        MR. JESS: Can I get one of those,
21    Ryan?
22        MR. ANDERSON: I'm sorry.
23        MR. JESS: Thank you.
24        MR. ANDERSON: I know you've got that
25    document.
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 1        BY MR. ANDERSON: 
 2  Q.   Do you recognize Exhibit No. 2?
 3  A.   I do.
 4  Q.   And what is it?
 5  A.   An e-mail.
 6  Q.   Who is it an e-mail from, and how did you come
 7    to get it?
 8  A.   From David Beauchamp to my attorney and copied
 9    Denny on it, and then it was forwarded to me.
10  Q.   Okay.  So the e-mail at the first page, it says
11    Saturday, February 8th, 2014, Jeff Goulder.  Who is
12    that?
13  A.   That is the attorney that I hired.
14  Q.   Okay.  And this e-mail is about the forbearance
15    agreement negotiations, right?
16  A.   Yes.
17  Q.   You had a meeting with DenSco in November of
18    2013 about this problem.  Why are you still in February
19    2014 trying to work out the forbearance agreement?
20  A.   There were quite a few versions of the
21    forbearance agreement prior to February, and I know that
22    it kept going back and forth between Denny and his
23    attorney, and I think it was where -- well, I don't want
24    to speculate.
25  Q.   Okay.  Well, this document that you're looking
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 1    at you actually gave to the receiver in the last couple
 2    weeks; is that right?
 3  A.   I believe so.
 4  Q.   How were you able to deliver this document to
 5    your lawyer, who then eventually gave it to us?  How did
 6    you get your hands on it?
 7  A.   I found it on my e-mails.
 8  Q.   Okay.  And where do you have your e-mails?
 9  A.   On America Online.
10  Q.   Okay.  On your web-based e-mail program, you
11    have e-mails that go all the way back to 2014?
12  A.   No.  There were -- anything to do with the
13    forbearance agreement or things that are really
14    important, not even involving this situation or any
15    situation, I save.
16  Q.   Okay.
17  A.   So I hit save, and then it goes into another
18    folder on America Online.
19  Q.   Okay.  And what's the title of that folder?
20  A.   Saved Mail.
21  Q.   Okay.  And do you still have that Saved Mail
22    folder in AOL?
23  A.   Oh, yeah.
24  Q.   And so how were you able to sort of locate this
25    specific e-mail?
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 1  A.   I just went on my saved mail and started
 2    looking down the row, and I found it.  I don't save many
 3    things, so, you know, if it was something that was
 4    really, really important that I feel like I need to
 5    save, I save.
 6  Q.   Okay.  And how did you deliver this document to
 7    your attorney?
 8  A.   I believe I forwarded it to him by e-mail.
 9  Q.   Okay.  The first paragraph of the e-mail
10    starting on Page 2, this is the e-mail from
11    Mr. Beauchamp to your lawyer, Mr. Goulder; is that
12    right?
13  A.   Yes.
14  Q.   Is this the first time you've heard or you
15    heard about securities fraud?
16  A.   Well, yeah.
17  Q.   That was the first time you heard that?
18  A.   Yes.
19  Q.   Okay.  The e-mail references on the third
20    paragraph that the workout -- it says, well, I mean, in
21    the second sentence, "We wanted the document to set
22    forth the necessary facts for Denny to satisfy his
23    securities obligations to his investors, including that
24    the original loans had to [be] written and [securitized]
25    by a first lien on real property and that the workout
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 1    agreed to by Denny complied with his workout
 2    authorization, without having Scott have to admit facts
 3    that would cause trouble to him."
 4        What facts were you not wanting to admit?
 5        MR. JESS: Objection, form.
 6        THE WITNESS: I have no clue.  The e-mail
 7    wasn't to me.
 8        BY MR. ANDERSON: 
 9  Q.   All right.  Okay.  It was to your lawyer,
10    though?
11  A.   It was to my lawyer, yeah.
12  Q.   Was there anytime during the discussions of the
13    forbearance agreement that you didn't want certain facts
14    to come out?
15  A.   No.
16  Q.   Okay.  The next sentence reads, "I had been
17    informed that since, quote, Dan's litigious group had
18    agreed to get paid off, Scott was not concerned with
19    stating facts and legal conclusions in this document."
20        Do you know who Dan's litigious group is?
21  A.   Dan's group is Sell Whole -- or a part of Sell
22    Wholesale Funding.
23  Q.   Okay.  Do you know why they would be called
24    Dan's litigious group?
25  A.   I have no clue.
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 1  Q.   The final paragraph reads, "Bottom line:
 2    Borrower does not admit that the existing loans were to
 3    be secured in first position, nor that the modified
 4    loans will be in first position."  [Quoted as read.]
 5        Do you have any idea what that means?
 6  A.   No.
 7  Q.   There's some concept that you're -- or that the
 8    borrower will obtain a title insurance policy on all of
 9    these properties; do you see that?
10  A.   I see it, yes.
11  Q.   Did that happen?
12  A.   No.
13  Q.   Okay.
14  A.   Well, maybe it did.  I can't remember.  When
15    Denny was paying off these loans, it's possible he got
16    title insurance at the time.
17  Q.   Did you get title insurance on all these
18    properties or --
19  A.   No.  I mean it would have been one policy.  It
20    would have been -- he may have gotten title insurance.
21  Q.   Back to Exhibit No. 1, the forbearance
22    agreement.  Well, you've said you haven't read it.  I
23    guess I need to sort of read some things to you.
24  A.   Yes, please.
25  Q.   Under Paragraph 6 there are things that you, as
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 1    the borrower, are supposed to do.  This is on the fourth
 2    page, ACC000238.  It says under 6(A) that you agree to
 3    use your good faith efforts to liquidate other assets,
 4    expected to generate approximately 4 to 5 million in
 5    U.S. dollars.
 6  A.   Uh-huh.
 7  Q.   Did you do that?
 8  A.   When we looked at the market, me and Denny, and
 9    we looked at the remaining properties that I had, they
10    weren't coming to 4 or $5 million; but whatever assets I
11    did have I did give him a lien position on.
12  Q.   Okay.  But --
13  A.   That's why it said the best effort, because
14    Beauchamp wasn't sure and nobody -- they were just
15    pulling that number out of the air.
16  Q.   Okay.  Subsection (B), you agreed to provide
17    and maintain a $10 million life insurance policy?
18  A.   Uh-huh.
19  Q.   Did that happen?
20  A.   It did.
21  Q.   Okay.  Is that still maintained?
22  A.   No.
23  Q.   When did that stop?
24  A.   Six months, eight months, nine months ago, ten
25    months ago.
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 1  Q.   Okay.  And why did you stop?
 2  A.   I just didn't want to keep paying the premium.
 3  Q.   Okay.  No. (C), you agree to provide a --
 4  A.   And I did talk to Denny about it.
 5  Q.   Okay.
 6  A.   And he was okay with that.
 7  Q.   You agree at some point -- well, you also
 8    agreed to provide a separate personal guaranty repaying
 9    the money; is that right?
10  A.   That's what it says, yeah.
11  Q.   Okay.  Do you remember signing those, all those
12    personal guaranties, in the big hundred-page stack?
13  A.   I remember a whole big stack of papers that I
14    signed, yes.
15  Q.   Would it surprise you that in there there are a
16    bunch of personal guaranties?
17  A.   It would not surprise me.
18  Q.   You agreed to provide a separate corporate
19    guaranty from some of the new entities that were going
20    to be added, which are your furniture entities.  Did you
21    do that?
22  A.   I did.
23  Q.   Okay.  And then on (F), it says you arranged
24    for private outside financing to be provided in the
25    prospective schedule, a million dollars on March 20th,
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 1    2014.
 2  A.   Correct.
 3  Q.   Do you see that?
 4  A.   Yeah.
 5  Q.   And then a million dollars on May 26, 2014?
 6  A.   Correct.
 7  Q.   And then another million dollars on July 15th,
 8    2014?
 9  A.   Correct.
10  Q.   And then another 1.2 on September of 2014?
11  A.   Correct.
12  Q.   Did that happen?
13  A.   No.  That was Beauchamp.
14  Q.   What do you mean, that was Beauchamp?
15  A.   That was Beauchamp saying that we needed to
16    juice up the forbearance agreement to show that more
17    money, other than the properties that I was giving Denny
18    lien position on, was coming from me.
19  Q.   And did -- so at the time, when you signed
20    this, did you believe that this was never going to
21    happen?
22  A.   I said that I would make my best effort to do
23    so, and in front of Beauchamp and DenSco I did explain
24    to him -- what they both told me, both of them told me
25    was, "Hey, this is all really best efforts.  You do your
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 1    best, but we're going into this forbearance agreement.
 2    It's protecting everyone.  End of story."  That's all I
 3    really know about this forbearance agreement.
 4  Q.   Okay.  But these funds were not delivered on
 5    these dates and times, right?
 6  A.   Correct.
 7  Q.   And the reason for that was why?
 8  A.   Like I said, it was best effort.  My best
 9    effort couldn't deliver those funds.
10  Q.   Okay.  Conceptually through this, there's also
11    an arrangement that you were going to continue to do
12    business with DenSco after the forbearance agreement,
13    right?
14  A.   That's correct.
15  Q.   Okay.
16  A.   Can we take a break, if that's okay?
17  Q.   Give me a couple more minutes and we'll just
18    wrap up the forbearance agreement.  I just want to sort
19    of keep it in stages.
20        Other than the representations in the
21    forbearance agreement about how you were going to do
22    business going forward post-forbearance agreement, did
23    any of the DenSco lending practices change?
24  A.   From what they were prior?
25  Q.   Right.
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 1  A.   No.
 2  Q.   Okay.  So the pre-forbearance agreement DenSco
 3    lending practices and the post-forbearance agreement
 4    DenSco lending practices were the same?
 5  A.   Correct.
 6  Q.   All right.
 7        MR. ANDERSON: Now we can take a break
 8    here for lunch.
 9        THE WITNESS: Okay.
10        MR. ANDERSON: We'll go off the record at
11        12:33.
12        (A recess was taken.)
13        MR. ANDERSON: Let's go back on the
14    record.  Go back on the record at 1:32.
15        BY MR. ANDERSON: 
16  Q.   Scott, you're still under oath.  You understand
17    that?
18  A.   I do.
19  Q.   Just a couple of quick follow-up questions.
20        You talked that there were two meetings that
21    you sat in with Mr. Beauchamp and Mr. Chittick; is that
22    right?
23  A.   Correct.
24  Q.   Okay.  I think you talked a lot about the first
25    meeting.  Was that first meeting at Clark Hill's
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 1    offices?
 2  A.   It was on Scottsdale Road.
 3  Q.   And then what was the second meeting; where was
 4    that?
 5  A.   The second meeting was also at Clark Hill, and
 6    the people that attended that one was me, Denny,
 7    Beauchamp and Jeff Goulder.
 8  Q.   And what was the substance?  What was discussed
 9    at that meeting?
10  A.   How to -- the purpose of the meeting was --
11    this was pre-forbearance agreement being written up.  So
12    once I left the first meeting, I got in touch with Jeff
13    Goulder, asked him to accompany me in this road.
14        And so he set up the meeting with Beauchamp,
15    and we all attended.  And we pretty much just sat there,
16    and I remember him and Beauchamp really doing most of
17    the talking, and it was mainly just about how we're
18    going to structure the forbearance agreement, what was
19    going to be in there.  There was some things that
20    Beauchamp wanted in there; Jeff didn't.  I don't
21    remember the specifics, but I do remember -- I do
22    remember, again, Beauchamp leaving the room quite a few
23    times by himself because he was getting upset.  I don't
24    know what was going on there, but we couldn't -- and
25    then that's when Jeff was like, hey -- well, I can't say
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 1    what Jeff said, right?
 2        MR. JESS: No, you shouldn't.
 3        THE WITNESS: But the premise of the whole
 4    thing was, "Is this a real law firm, or where the hell
 5    are we?  Because this is absurd.  I've never sat in with
 6    a lawyer or lawyers like this.  I don't even know what's
 7    going on here."
 8        BY MR. ANDERSON: 
 9  Q.   Okay.  Well, though, would it be fair to say
10    that the timing of both meetings were before the
11    February e-mail, Exhibit 2?
12  A.   I would say I believe yes.
13  Q.   Well, that would be assumable because, one, is
14    the e-mail has a draft at this point --
15  A.   Yes.
16  Q.   -- of the forbearance agreement.  So, clearly,
17    the first meeting was before that.
18        And then --
19  A.   I remember the holidays were right there, and
20    so I think it was right, maybe, after Christmas or
21    beginning of January, possibly, when we had the second
22    meeting.
23  Q.   Okay.  All right.  I'm going to show you what's
24    marked as Exhibit No. 3.
25        (Deposition Exhibit 3 was marked for
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 1    identification.)
 2        BY MR. ANDERSON: 
 3  Q.   It's probably one of the few things you haven't
 4    seen before today.  It is -- essentially, it's a
 5    screen -- it's a copy of what DenSco's loan portfolio is
 6    on the day that Mr. Chittick died.
 7        The reason I'm showing it to you is, there's a
 8    couple loans on here that I believe relate to your
 9    family members, and I sort of want to find out about
10    them a little bit and then talk about some of the other.
11        The first question is, have you ever seen this
12    loan portfolio before?  Did you ever get sent like an
13    accounting or a spreadsheet like this?
14  A.   No, not like this.
15  Q.   Okay.  If you take a look at the first loan at
16    the very top --
17  A.   Yes.
18  Q.   -- Loan 3736 --
19  A.   Yep.
20  Q.   -- it's a loan and the borrower is Michelle
21    Menaged.
22  A.   Yes.
23  Q.   And who is that?
24  A.   My mother.
25  Q.   And it appears to relates to relate to a
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 1    property at 9103 East Charter Oak Drive.
 2  A.   Correct.
 3  Q.   Do you recognize that address?
 4  A.   I do.
 5  Q.   Okay.
 6  A.   I'm sorry.  These are open loans?
 7  Q.   Right.  These are the loans that are open and
 8    active as of the day that he passes away.
 9  A.   Okay.
10  Q.   If any of these have closed post-receivership,
11    I can't speak to.
12  A.   Right.  Okay.
13  Q.   This essentially is a flash point.
14        And so what do you know about this loan, this
15    $400,000 loan, if anything?
16  A.   The loan came into Arizona Home Foreclosures.
17    It was a short-term loan.  The loan is not open anymore.
18    He was paid back for the loan, and it doesn't exist.
19  Q.   Well, how do you know he was paid back?
20  A.   I paid him back.
21  Q.   Well, how did you pay him back?
22  A.   In cash.
23  Q.   When did you pay him in cash?
24  A.   It was multiple payments between the years
25    of -- it was multiple payments between the years of '14
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 1    and '15.  I'm believing the first one was February or
 2    March of '14.
 3  Q.   And you paid him in actual, like, cash?
 4  A.   Yes.
 5  Q.   And how did you make that payment?
 6  A.   I met him.  We met on Scottsdale Road and
 7    McDowell at a -- I can't remember what kind of store it
 8    was, but it's a single shopping center with just one
 9    store in it.  The owner actually would remember us
10    because we went there so often for me to pay him, that
11    the owner came out and started yelling at Denny that he
12    didn't want him in the parking lot anymore and they had
13    some words together.
14  Q.   So you made multiple cash payments to Denny to
15    pay down or pay off this loan?
16  A.   Correct.
17  Q.   And you say you know it's closed.  How do you
18    know that?
19  A.   Well, it's closed because I -- well, when I say
20    "closed," it's paid off, is what I'm saying.
21  Q.   Did you get a receipt from Denny?
22  A.   I can look.  I don't believe I have anything
23    that I haven't turned over, but I'll look through my
24    e-mails, like all that stuff.
25  Q.   And you don't know when the cash payments were
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 1    made?
 2  A.   Yeah, between '14 and '15.
 3  Q.   Well, I mean between '14 --
 4  A.   No, it's not that it was one payment.  It was
 5    20,000, 40,000, 30,000, 50,000, 20,000, 18,000, 16,000.
 6    So it was multiple times.
 7        MR. JESS: Slow down.
 8        THE WITNESS: Sorry.
 9        BY MR. ANDERSON: 
10  Q.   So it was smaller payments in cash, and it
11    represented $400,000?
12  A.   Correct.
13  Q.   And you didn't get a receipt for any of this
14    stuff?
15  A.   No, we never did.
16  Q.   Did you have any -- I mean, Denny kept
17    impeccable financial records.  Do you know that?
18        MR. JESS: Objection, form.
19        THE WITNESS: I don't know how he -- what
20    records he's kept.
21        BY MR. ANDERSON: 
22  Q.   Okay.  You never asked for a -- did you ask him
23    to record a release after he had paid it -- you paid it
24    off?
25  A.   I assume that he did record a release.
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 1  Q.   Did you check?
 2  A.   No, I didn't.
 3  Q.   Well, there's -- no release has been recorded.
 4        Well, why did you pay off your mom's loan?
 5  A.   It wasn't my mom's loan.  It was my loan.  The
 6    money came into Arizona Home Foreclosures and got paid
 7    back from Arizona Home Foreclosures.
 8  Q.   Well, then why is Michelle Menaged the
 9    borrower?
10  A.   Because it was her property that we used as
11    collateral.
12  Q.   Why did you need to use her property for the
13    collateral?
14  A.   I can't remember what was happening at the
15    time, but for some reason, and I don't remember what it
16    was, I needed that money into the company.  I don't know
17    if it was acquiring more property.  I don't really
18    remember what the reason was, but it was like four or
19    five years ago.
20  Q.   Does your mom know anything about this loan?
21  A.   No.
22  Q.   Does she know you took the loan?
23  A.   Originally, yes.
24  Q.   You told her that it was -- it's paid off?
25  A.   Yes.  It has been paid off.
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 1  Q.   You're very confident it's been paid off, but
 2    there's no evidence in the books and records of DenSco
 3    that it's been paid off.  So what records do you have
 4    it's been paid off?
 5  A.   I would have to look through e-mails and see
 6    what I could find.
 7        I mean, a lot of these things that I'm looking
 8    at right now are not accurate, like --
 9  Q.   Well, let's just --
10  A.   Well, okay, go ahead.
11  Q.   -- stay on this one.
12  A.   Okay.
13  Q.   Okay.  But you're confident that by -- what
14    time in '15 is it paid off?  January of '15?
15  A.   No.
16  Q.   No.
17  A.   I want to say it was the middle of '15.
18  Q.   So in May of '15 it's been paid off?
19  A.   May, June.
20  Q.   May, June.
21  A.   Or July.
22  Q.   How often did you give DenSco cash?
23  A.   Once every -- it all depended.  Once every --
24    sometimes it was once a week, sometimes it was once a
25    month, sometimes it was once every month and a half.
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 1        And the reason he wanted to do it this way was
 2    because he wanted to -- what he's told me was that he
 3    was going to write off the interest because he made too
 4    much money on the books, and he didn't want to pay tax
 5    on it.
 6  Q.   So he told you he wasn't going to report the
 7    cash payments?
 8  A.   Correct.
 9  Q.   There's another one here, it's No. 4, for Jess
10    Menaged?
11  A.   Yes.
12  Q.   Who is that?
13  A.   My brother.
14  Q.   Is this loan -- it says here he still owes
15    $76,000.  Do you know anything about that loan?
16  A.   I do know something about that loan.
17  Q.   What do you know?
18  A.   That it was taken also by Arizona Home
19    Foreclosures.  He was in second lien position.  He did
20    know he was in second lien position on that.
21  Q.   Has it been paid off?
22  A.   No.
23  Q.   The payoff of Michelle Menaged's loan, did you
24    pay principal plus interest or just principal?
25  A.   Just principal.  He waived the interest.
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 1  Q.   So all you paid was $400,000?
 2  A.   I think it was like 406.  I don't remember
 3    where the six came from, but we had some discussion
 4    about something, and the 6,000 payment took place on
 5    that.
 6  Q.   So you -- with respect to Jess Menaged's loan,
 7    that's one that you know has not been paid off?
 8  A.   That has not been paid off.
 9  Q.   You said there were other problems with this
10    spreadsheet, right?
11  A.   Yes.
12  Q.   And what are they, just looking at it?
13  A.   707 Potter, number -- two, four -- six.
14  Q.   Yeah.
15  A.   That one the trustee took back, and the money
16    went to -- the money went to pay one of -- pay down on
17    the workout, and then Denny added or was supposed to add
18    this address to the workout, because we don't have
19    anything on this, like there's no -- there was a
20    trustee's deed at one time issued, and then I believe
21    the borrower -- I believe the homeowner filed
22    bankruptcy, and the trustee came back and said, no, no,
23    give us back the trustee's deed.  And somewhere along
24    the way that's exactly what happened.
25        In fact, that's where that lawyer came in.
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 1    There is a lawyer that was involved with it, who
 2    represented Bank of America.  This has been going on for
 3    years.  Bank of America got involved and said, no, the
 4    trustee screwed up.  We should have never given you a
 5    trustee's deed.  And Bank of America hired counsel.  But
 6    we don't have title to that property, and, you know,
 7    Denny knew that.
 8  Q.   Okay.  If you turn to Page 2, you see --
 9  A.   There's also -- I'm sorry.
10  Q.   Okay.
11  A.   In case you want to know, number -- two,
12    four -- five, Lobo, that's another one that I don't
13    remember what happened, but there was an issue.  there
14    was definitely an issue with that property.  But I don't
15    have ownership of it at all, nor do I -- I'm pretty --
16    I'm almost positive that he moved this over to the
17    workout, or he was supposed to.
18  Q.   Okay.  Well, before we leave this document,
19    you're talking about moving it over to the workout.  The
20    last line on this is two at the very bottom and there
21    are no loan numbers.  It says N/A.  But there's a -- it
22    says "5 million" and then it says "1 million."  Do you
23    see that?
24  A.   Uh-huh.
25  Q.   The $5 million now has a balance of
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 1    13,336,807.24.  Do you see that?
 2  A.   Yes.
 3  Q.   That is the workout, isn't it?  That's the
 4    balance of the workout, right?
 5  A.   I don't know.
 6  Q.   Okay.  Well, according to the records that
 7    we've been able to recover, it appears that the workout
 8    arrangement was just kept in a separate byline, a
 9    separate accounting, whereby your ins and outs that were
10    to go to pay for the workout are kept in a separate
11    ledger.  Is that -- you never asked for or were told
12    about how much your workout was?
13  A.   No.  I mean he could have mentioned the dollar
14    amount here and there, but it wasn't like I would get
15    weekly or monthly statements or anything like that.
16        (Deposition Exhibit 4 was marked for
17    identification.)
18        BY MR. ANDERSON: 
19  Q.   I'll show you Exhibit 4, just so we're all on
20    the same page.
21  A.   Okay.
22  Q.   This is that exact report I was just
23    discussing.  It starts back in February of 2014, and
24    then it just of sort goes over time; ins, outs,
25    payments, money coming in, but interest accruing at
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 1    somewhere in the neighborhood of like $6,600 a day.
 2  A.   I haven't seen this.  I do know what -- if you
 3    look at that same exhibit that you gave me, 4 --
 4  Q.   Yeah.
 5  A.   -- the first hundred thousand, I don't know why
 6    he put "Pay Gregg's interest."  That he loaned -- that
 7    he loaned to me to buy my car, and then I repaid him
 8    like a week later.  I think I was waiting for a closing
 9    or something like that.  But that has nothing -- I
10    don't -- that has nothing to do with Gregg.  And "Gregg"
11    meaning AFG, Active --
12  Q.   My question regarding --
13  A.   Oh, you see, if you look at that agreement --
14    if you look at the workout, 707 Potter is on there.
15  Q.   Uh-huh, it is.
16  A.   And so I don't know why it's on there and it's
17    on open.
18  Q.   Well, but it has 707 as a money going out.
19    "funds wired directly to Gear," it says.  So you would
20    assume that would be a property with a first and a
21    second, and he was wiring money out to resolve all the
22    issues with respect to the property and then carrying
23    that loan amount here on the workout.  But, again --
24  A.   I honestly can't tell you.
25  Q.   It's okay, Scott.  I don't really think it's

Min-U-Script® Coash & Coash, Inc.
602-258-1440         www.coashandcoash.com

(33) Pages 130 - 133



Re: Yomtov Scott Menaged, Debtor 
2:16:bk:04268-PS

Scott Menaged
October 20, 2016

01:49:26-01:50:32 Page 134

 1    worth a lot of our time, because we're just going to go
 2    through these documents.  I just wanted to provide it to
 3    you so that you can see what's there on DenSco's
 4    ledgers.
 5        There's also a second $1 million loan, back to
 6    Exhibit No. 3.  It's the last line.  It says "Arizona
 7    Home Foreclosures $1 million."  Do you have any idea
 8    what that loan is?
 9  A.   No.
10  Q.   Okay.  Well, it's styled as the Yomtov Scott
11    Menaged workout 1 million in the QuickBooks reports.
12    And then it has a series of properties with an amount
13    that equals to $1,002,532.55 with a series of
14    properties.
15  A.   I couldn't even begin to tell you what -- I
16    don't know.
17  Q.   Okay.  That's fine.
18  A.   I'm sorry.
19  Q.   Let's talk a little bit about sort of your
20    relationship with DenSco and Denny.
21  A.   Okay.
22  Q.   Is it true that you sort of talked to him about
23    a wide range of issues, I mean not just business
24    dealings?  I mean were you friendly, in a way?
25  A.   After dealing with someone for ten years, yeah.
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 1    I mean you start to know about people's lives.
 2  Q.   Would he call you and talk to you about things
 3    that were unrelated to the business?
 4  A.   Yeah.
 5  Q.   On a --
 6  A.   Yes.
 7  Q.   -- semi-regular basis?
 8  A.   Yeah, he would.  He was just lonely.
 9  Q.   Why do you say -- how do you know he was
10    lonely?
11  A.   After he got divorced, I remember him -- before
12    he got divorced, when he was married -- which at that
13    point I didn't even know he was married or not.  The
14    only way I ever met his wife was at a company Christmas
15    party or something, and I met her.
16        And then I heard, not from him, but from a
17    gentleman named John Ray, that he was getting divorced.
18    John and him were very close, and John officed in my
19    office.  And so I still never reached out to him about
20    it, because I didn't have that kind of relationship with
21    him.  But then after some time I mentioned something to
22    him about my wife, and I don't know if I was frustrated
23    or something.  I said, "These women," or something like
24    that, you know.  And he said, "Oh, you don't have to
25    tell me," and then that's when I kind of heard his life
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 1    story, his story of his wife and how she left him and
 2    has a boyfriend and all that stuff.  And I think that
 3    was kind of like the first time that we actually had a
 4    personal conversation.
 5  Q.   Okay.  Well, did he ever tell you anything
 6    about -- now, this is post-forbearance agreement.
 7    You've now discovered he has these investors.  Did he
 8    ever provide you with e-mails from his investors about
 9    money they wanted to pull out and how it was going to
10    mess up his financial situation?
11  A.   He did.
12        (Deposition Exhibit 5 was marked for
13    identification.)
14        BY MR. ANDERSON: 
15  Q.   I'm going to show you what's been marked as
16    Exhibit 5.  Do you recognize Exhibit 5?
17  A.   Yes.  I think I provided this.
18  Q.   Right.  It's an e-mail you provided to us,
19    that's right.
20  A.   Right.  Okay.
21  Q.   If you turn to the third page, you see it's
22    actually a series of e-mails, and it looks like are
23    forwarded to you; is that --
24  A.   That's correct.
25  Q.   The first e-mail is one from, it looks like, a
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 1    guy named Tom Smith to Mr. Chittick asking for $800,000
 2    out of DenSco?
 3  A.   Correct.
 4  Q.   Then you see DenSco responding to Mr. Smith,
 5    and then at some point the same day, a few minutes
 6    later, Mr. Chittick e-mails you?
 7  A.   Yes.
 8  Q.   And writes "This isn't going to help my
 9    situation."
10        And you write back, I think, "No definitely
11    won't help," right?
12  A.   "No definitely won't help," yes.
13  Q.   Yeah.  So do you know what situation he's
14    talking about?
15  A.   He was having a hard time paying his investors,
16    from what he's told me, he told me.
17  Q.   And he's having a hard time paying his
18    investors because they don't know about the forbearance
19    agreement, right?
20  A.   Correct.
21  Q.   And he's got to come out of pocket all this
22    money to sort of fix these firsts and seconds, right?
23  A.   Yes.
24  Q.   And so you are -- he's -- would it be fair to
25    say he's sort of commiserating with you about his
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 1    financial problem?
 2  A.   Not -- I mean I don't know if we would say
 3    commiserating, but he had someone to talk to.
 4  Q.   Well, you were that person to talk to about
 5    this?
 6  A.   I'm sure I was one of those people.
 7  Q.   Okay.  Well, do you know of anybody else that
 8    he would have talked to?
 9  A.   Probably his wife, I would assume, because I
10    know they were still close.  His sister.  I know that,
11    you know, he's had plenty of talks with her about the
12    situation, from what he told me.  This is the sister
13    that lives in Idaho.
14  Q.   So you, the sister.  You think the sister knew
15    about the forbearance agreement and the issues before
16    that?
17  A.   It's my understanding from him that, yes, she
18    did.
19  Q.   Okay.  He told you that?
20  A.   Yes, he did.
21  Q.   He just basically said the only people I --
22    what did he say?
23  A.   He told me in July of -- when was the
24    forbearance agreement, February?
25        MR. JESS: April.
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 1        THE WITNESS: April of what?
 2        MR. JESS: April of 2014.
 3        THE WITNESS: So then it was July of 2014.
 4    He went out to Idaho for the 4th of July with his kids,
 5    and when he came back, I met with him.  I don't remember
 6    why I met with him.  But in either case, I did meet with
 7    him.  And he said to me, he said to me, "Oh, it was a
 8    good relief."
 9        I said, "How was your trip?"
10        And he said, "It was a very good relief.
11    It's nice to be able to, you know, just finally open up
12    and talk to someone."
13        And I said, "Oh, who was that?"
14        And he said, "My sister."  And I could
15    swear he said she was an accountant.  I can't swear to
16    that, but I think that's what he told me.  And she was
17    helping him with the books, and that's what he told me.
18        BY MR. ANDERSON: 
19  Q.   Well --
20  A.   It wasn't a very long conversation.
21  Q.   Do you have a recollection that he told her
22    about the financial problems that were plaguing DenSco
23    at that time?
24  A.   Yes.
25        It's one of the reasons why -- well, I'll wait
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 1    for you to answer the question.
 2  Q.   Well, no, you can --
 3  A.   I'm sorry.
 4  Q.   Please finish.
 5  A.   It's one of the reasons why on my mom's loan he
 6    was waiving the interest, was because he was bringing --
 7    from what he told me, he was bringing cash up to Idaho
 8    when he would go up there, which was once or twice a
 9    year.
10  Q.   Okay.
11  A.   And he had a lot of investors in Idaho, I
12    remember him telling me.
13  Q.   Okay.  Well, the e-mail that you've provided
14    us, the one we're looking at, which I think is Exhibit,
15    what, 5?
16  A.   5, yeah.
17  Q.   He writes in the last sentence, "this is a
18    problem."  Do you see that?
19  A.   (Witness nodded.)
20  Q.   Why was it a problem?
21  A.   He didn't have that much money.  He didn't have
22    that much money.  You know, the more investors that come
23    back and say, "Hey, shoot me half a million dollars
24    tomorrow" or do this or do that, it became a problem for
25    him.
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 1  Q.   When he's communicating to you his problems,
 2    his cash problems, is he also telling you that he needs
 3    you to give more money to him to go pay down this
 4    workout?
 5  A.   Yes.
 6  Q.   Okay.  So is he regularly asking you to pay
 7    more?
 8  A.   Constantly.
 9  Q.   Constantly?
10  A.   It was a constant thing.  He was very, very --
11    he was very stressed out and scared of not being able to
12    pay the investors.  He was a huge -- and I had to hear
13    this at least 50 times, with no exaggeration, was that
14    his accountant was an investor.  And so whatever he was
15    doing or whatever -- you know, when the time came at the
16    end of the year and he had to give him his books, he was
17    usually stressed a month before that, because he needed
18    to make it look good because he knew that if he -- if
19    his accountant, who was an investor, knew that there was
20    an issue, well, again, this is -- this goes like
21    wildfire all over.  And so he couldn't have that.  He
22    knew that that would be a major problem for him.  He
23    definitely knew that would be a major problem.
24  Q.   You're sort of intimating that he may have
25    provided inaccurate books to his own CPA, right?
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 1  A.   I'm pretty sure that that's exactly what
 2    happened.
 3  Q.   Okay.  And you're pretty sure because did he
 4    tell you, "I'm essentially fixing my books to make it
 5    look different"?
 6  A.   Yes.
 7  Q.   Okay.  Did he give you any detail on how he was
 8    changing the books?
 9  A.   He did tell me that he was -- all he told me
10    was that he dealt with QuickBooks, and his sister
11    dealt with QuickBooks because she was -- I could swear
12    he said she was an accountant or a bookkeeper.
13    Regardless.
14        But he did say to me she -- "I'm bringing --
15    when I go up to Idaho, I bring her -- I bring my laptop
16    with me, and she helps me fix this computer situation,
17    so when I actually do go to my accountant, I have
18    something to give him."
19        Because, you know, he'd typically go up there
20    in the beginning of July and he typically stayed for
21    approximately two weeks.  And so a few months later, you
22    know, he would be going to his accountant's office with
23    everything.  So, so long as he kept his books and
24    records exactly the way his sister showed him and told
25    him how to do, you know, it would go fine.
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 1        And right before his death, I'm going to say
 2    approximately a month before his death, he called me and
 3    said that one of his investors' son, their son, his son,
 4    is a real estate agent and they were selling a property
 5    out in Scottsdale.  And he asked me to go and drive the
 6    property, look at the condition, see if I had any
 7    interest in buying it, and he would loan the money on it
 8    fully, a hundred percent of the funds.
 9        And so I did and I met with his son.  I met
10    with his son out at the property, and I did have
11    interest in buying it until I realized, you know, when I
12    actually got back to my office, and Denny said -- and
13    I'm just using round numbers.  I could swear he said the
14    property was -- he thought the property was worth like
15    400,000 and I could buy it for 285.
16        But when I went out there and I looked at it, I
17    was like, oh, yeah, it's definitely good to go.  When I
18    got home and I looked at it myself, I'm like this thing
19    is not worth more than 300,000, because the 400,000s
20    back a golf course and we back a busy street.
21        And so I called Denny, and he was all panicked.
22    He was like, "Shit, I committed it to him.  I told him
23    that you were going to buy it."
24        I'm like, "I understand, but I thought that you
25    knew how to comp a property."  I kind of got -- did get
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 1    a little snappy with him with it, because I'm like,
 2    "You're telling me you're wasting my time to drive out
 3    to this property when there's no possible way it's worth
 4    400,000."
 5        And so he said, "All right, I've got to try
 6    to -- maybe I'll e-mail this out to my other investors
 7    and see who wants it, because I don't want to piss him
 8    off or anything, because his father is an investor."
 9  Q.   Turning back to the CPA, did he ever -- did
10    Mr. Chittick ever tell you that he was paying taxes on
11    money or investments that weren't real?
12  A.   Yes, yes.
13  Q.   Okay.
14  A.   It was one of his biggest things that he
15    kept -- he would make a joke about.  He would say, "I
16    don't think the IRS ever saw someone like me that's
17    paying money on loans that don't exist."
18        He said paying money on -- and then we kind of
19    talked about it for a little bit, and I said, "Well, it
20    is true.  However, there are loans, because you are
21    collecting 18 percent interest."
22        And so he said, "Well, that's how I'm getting
23    around it."  He said, "I am collecting 18 percent
24    interest, and so, therefore, I have to pay taxes on it."
25        But I do know that this last tax year he didn't
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 1    pay nearly as much as he normally paid, from what he
 2    told me, just because he was like, "I feel stupid paying
 3    it."
 4  Q.   Okay.  So it's possible that he has paid tax
 5    and filed tax returns that aren't accurate?
 6  A.   Absolutely.  In fact, in fact, he did say to me
 7    he was considering getting rid of his accountant and
 8    returning the accountant's money so he can find another
 9    accountant so he can redo his taxes.  And what he told
10    me is he would receive back at least a million and a
11    half dollars from the IRS that he's paid and, you know,
12    probably shouldn't have paid.
13  Q.   So he could get back refunds in that amount?
14  A.   Yes.  The only reason why he didn't do it, and
15    what he told me, was because he was just concerned of
16    why he was going to be firing the accountant, what the
17    accountant would actually have to say about that.
18  Q.   Have you ever seen a tax return for DenSco?
19  A.   Never.
20  Q.   All right.  Well, we talked about the DenSco
21    lending practices at the very beginning of our
22    deposition, and you made a reference that there were
23    certain lending practices when you were buying property
24    at auction and certain lending practices when he was
25    making offers to purchase.
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 1  A.   It was pretty much the same lending practice,
 2    except -- I mean the process was the same, where he
 3    would wire -- well, that's not really true.
 4  Q.   But --
 5  A.   You ask the question, and I'll answer.
 6  Q.   So just to clarify then --
 7  A.   Okay.
 8  Q.   -- what do you mean when you say "offer to
 9    purchase"?  What kind of transaction are you talking
10    about?
11  A.   Offer to purchase is something that I will send
12    out a certified letter to a homeowner saying we've
13    basically comped your property or looked at the
14    comparables.  We believe your property is worth X amount
15    of money.  We are willing to offer X amount of money for
16    your property.  Please contact us and, you know, we'll
17    move forward.  We'll open escrow.
18  Q.   So, basically, it's like a solicitation to do a
19    short sale, potentially?
20  A.   Yes.
21  Q.   Right?
22  A.   Correct.
23  Q.   Not an uncommon business model?
24  A.   No.
25  Q.   Right.
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 1  A.   That part isn't.
 2  Q.   And so how does DenSco fit into that business
 3    model of doing offers to purchase?
 4  A.   Me and Denny talked about it.  Foreclosures
 5    were slowing up a lot down at the courthouse, and here
 6    we are with this large workout balance.  And so I told
 7    him I was drowning.  I'm like, "You know, I'm paying a
 8    ton of money towards this workout agreement.  I don't
 9    know how I'm going to continue it."
10        And so he said, "Well, what we need to do is
11    figure out how we're going to acquire -- how you're
12    going to acquire more properties.  And I'm very liquid
13    and I have plenty of cash."  I could swear at the time
14    he told me he had like $15 million or something like
15    that in his account.  And he's like, "You know, you're
16    just going to need to get more creative."
17        And so I met with him at his office, home
18    office, and we talked about doing short sales.  We
19    talked about possibly doing bankruptcy sales, you know,
20    that kind of stuff.  And when we talked about the short
21    sales, he was really into it.  He said he had a lot of
22    borrowers that were successful at buying short sales.
23        And so I tried it for a little bit.  Wasn't
24    really working out very well.  I would make offers, but
25    I would make offers to -- you know, like the normal
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 1    course of business.  I would make offers on properties
 2    that were listed as a short sale to an agent.
 3    Typically, the bank never gets back to you or they come
 4    back to you with this ridiculous number.  And it just
 5    wasn't working out well.
 6        And so -- sorry.  Did you want to say
 7    something?
 8  Q.   No.  I just --
 9  A.   Okay.  And so I met with him again, and I said,
10    "Well, this isn't -- this process is really wasting
11    time.  I'm not really getting anywhere here."  I said,
12    "What if we go to --" well, actually, he said, "What if
13    you go directly to the homeowners?  You know, back in
14    the day there used to be the door knockers for that kind
15    of stuff or for excess proceeds, which was a big deal
16    back in the day when there was equity in everybody's
17    property."
18        And so he kind of explained to me how the
19    excess proceeds thing worked and the door knockers and
20    all that stuff.  And I'm like, "Well, I am not going to
21    be knocking on someone's door that I don't know,
22    especially if they're in financial distress, because you
23    don't know where their mind-set is at."  So I said,
24    "Well, I can start sending out letters.  I can start
25    sending out this, that, whatever, to try to get these
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 1    things closed."
 2        And so I did do that.  And the first deal that
 3    we did -- I did that way, there was an issue, because
 4    the issue was that the offer to purchase says that I'm
 5    making a cash offer on their property.  Well, once you
 6    get to title or escrow, the bank -- well, before you get
 7    to title and escrow, the bank wants to see proof of
 8    funds.
 9        Well, I didn't have proof of funds in the
10    account for that, and they don't want to hear that it's
11    a hard money lender.  They could care less.  If it's a
12    lender, then it's financed; and if it's cash, it's cash.
13        So Denny said, "Well, I can just start wiring
14    you the money for these things if this business model
15    actually works.  You just need to continue to pay me the
16    18 percent on it.  But let's think about it.  You know,
17    if you wind up doing --" he did all this math.  Like if
18    you did 18 a month and, you know, $20,000 each and this,
19    and then you would only pay me X amount of interest."
20        And, you know, ultimately it came up where
21    there was going to be a profit of like five, $600,000 a
22    month, and which, you know, I agreed to pay him I want
23    to say it was like half of that.  I think that's what we
24    agreed on, 50 percent of whatever the profit was to go
25    towards the workout, and plus he would get his
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 1    18 percent interest.  And --
 2  Q.   Okay.
 3  A.   Uh-huh.
 4  Q.   What time?  Where are we now when we've moved
 5    away from foreclosures at auctions and into this offer
 6    to purchase?
 7  A.   It was probably -- whenever I signed the
 8    forbearance agreement, it would have --
 9  Q.   That was in 2014.
10  A.   No, well, it wasn't that time then.  Hold on.
11    Let me just think.
12        Yeah, I'm going to say it was sometime in --
13    I'm estimating right now, but I'm going to say it was
14    sometime in the beginning of 2015.
15  Q.   Okay.  So these -- we aren't going to see these
16    in 2014; we're going to see them in 2015?
17  A.   I believe that to be correct, because in 2014 I
18    was still at the auctions.
19  Q.   Okay.  And are you doing auctions at the same
20    time you're doing these, or you just stopped the
21    auctions completely?
22  A.   I was still down at the auctions.  I still had
23    people down there.  But I mean maybe we would buy two a
24    month, maybe.  It really slowed down considerably.
25  Q.   So how -- we talked about how you would
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 1    communicate to DenSco when you were going to make a
 2    purchase at an auction.  That's pretty obvious.  You've
 3    made a bid.  You're now going to get the money and all
 4    the rest.  We talked about that procedure.
 5  A.   Yes.
 6  Q.   What is the procedure for an offer to purchase?
 7  A.   He made it the same procedure.  So the same
 8    procedure meaning I would send him an e-mail with the
 9    property address and a dollar amount of how much I was
10    willing to offer and the recording number showing that,
11    you know, at one point recently the property was in
12    foreclosure, so we know that this person is having some
13    kind of financial problem.  I would send him that
14    e-mail, and then it was the same process.  He would send
15    me the docs.  He would send me the docs and the money.
16  Q.   And you would then offer to the homeowner to
17    buy the property?
18  A.   For the same amount of what I told Denny that I
19    was going to be doing.
20  Q.   Okay.  And if you got no response from your
21    certified letter, what did you do?
22  A.   We waited.  Denny wanted to wait up to 30 days.
23    He wanted to get at least 30 days of interest on the
24    money, and then if there was no response and there was
25    nothing going on, then I needed to pay him back his
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 1    principal plus 18 percent for the 30 days or 1.5 percent
 2    a month.
 3  Q.   So you just sent back the money with interest?
 4  A.   Correct.
 5  Q.   And how many homeowners agreed to do these?
 6  A.   Here's the issue:  It was about three months of
 7    doing this, between three and four months of doing it,
 8    where every day you're getting 500, $700,000 into your
 9    bank account and every day it starts turning out that
10    you're sending him back five or $700,000, or whatever
11    the numbers happened to be, to pay off the older 30-day
12    loans.
13        And so there was one conversation that we had
14    and he said to me, he said to me, "Yeah, I have --" I
15    don't know what it -- I don't remember the exact number,
16    but I want to say it was like 12 million or 8 million or
17    something like that out in this thing that we're doing
18    with this offer to purchase.
19        And then when I looked at my papers, I'm like,
20    well, hold on here.  How is that possible?  Because I'm
21    negative now at this point almost a million dollars
22    because of the interest that was going back and forth,
23    back and forth.  But I wasn't feeling it.  You're not
24    going to feel it.  Nobody -- nobody's going to feel it.
25    Common sense would say that there's going to be an
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 1    issue, but nobody would feel it because here's a million
 2    in, million out, million in, million out.
 3  Q.   My question is how many of these actually went
 4    all the way through where you became the titled owner
 5    because you completed a short sale?
 6  A.   Just a couple.
 7  Q.   I mean a couple, three, four?
 8  A.   Maybe.
 9  Q.   And how many e-mails since 2015, how many
10    properties did you try this on?  Hundreds?
11  A.   Maybe thousands.
12  Q.   Thousands?
13  A.   Maybe.
14  Q.   And you realize now, sitting here today, I mean
15    you just say it out loud, that you're going to be in the
16    losing end of that transaction, right?
17  A.   I knew that after a few months, correct.
18  Q.   And did you keep doing it?
19  A.   There was a reason.
20  Q.   What was the reason to keep doing it?
21  A.   The reason was, was because Denny was
22    putting -- Denny was putting a lot of pressure on me
23    because of the forbearance agreement, and he didn't
24    really care about anything other than that forbearance
25    agreement and getting his 18 percent interest.  And so

Min-U-Script® Coash & Coash, Inc.
602-258-1440         www.coashandcoash.com

(38) Pages 150 - 153



Re: Yomtov Scott Menaged, Debtor 
2:16:bk:04268-PS

Scott Menaged
October 20, 2016

02:13:11-02:14:14 Page 154

 1    when I realized that we were upside down at that point
 2    by a couple million dollars, I didn't want to go to him
 3    and say, "Hey, Denny, guess what, we're now -- you know,
 4    add to the forbearance agreement now a couple million
 5    dollars."
 6        And so what I did is, the money that he would
 7    send me and then I would send him back, some money I
 8    would send him towards the forbearance agreement to get
 9    that lowered.  He was happy and calm, even though really
10    it was the same money.  But he would stop -- I couldn't
11    live this way.  He just -- he would stop constantly
12    calling me and talking about it.  I couldn't -- I
13    can't -- I couldn't talk about it anymore.
14  Q.   So the money that you were obtaining from
15    DenSco under the pretense of using it to do offers to
16    purchase property in a short sale, some of it you were
17    using to send back to DenSco to lower your forbearance
18    agreement balance?
19  A.   Correct.
20  Q.   Okay.
21  A.   Which is -- which we did have a lunch at some
22    point in 2015, and he asked me, like very specifically,
23    he said, "Okay, tell me the truth.  How much money are
24    you actually making in this thing and how much money are
25    you just funneling back?"
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 1        And I said, "Do you really want to know the
 2    answer to that?"
 3        And he said, "No.  Just get the damn
 4    forbearance agreement done, because I need to be done
 5    with it."
 6        And I said, "Okay."
 7        He said, "Before it comes out."
 8  Q.   Okay.  So you're saying -- when was that lunch?
 9  A.   That was at -- I want to say it was right
10    before Christmas of 2015.
11  Q.   So you're saying, essentially, that at
12    Christmas of 2015, after you've just been doing this for
13    the year of 2015, that it's a known -- it's known
14    between the two of you that this is an unsustainable
15    business model?
16  A.   It's not a good business model, yes.
17  Q.   Okay.  And so you are --
18  A.   But I had different thoughts on it.
19  Q.   Okay.
20  A.   I had -- I definitely had different thoughts on
21    it.
22  Q.   Well, what were your thoughts?
23  A.   My thoughts were, which is exactly pretty much
24    what I did, my thoughts were, okay, I don't really care
25    what we're doing here.  I guess I more care about how do
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 1    I get this balance done and over with and get this mess
 2    behind me.
 3  Q.   When you mean the balance, you mean the
 4    forbearance balance?
 5  A.   The forbearance balance.
 6  Q.   The one that's clicking up at $6,000 a day
 7    interest?
 8  A.   Correct.
 9        And the thought process was, well, I'm going to
10    throw some money into the furniture companies.  I'm
11    going to build that up so more profits would come from
12    it, and then I would turn around and pay it to Denny.
13  Q.   But DenSco didn't know that, right?
14  A.   No.
15  Q.   You didn't tell DenSco that you were going to
16    use the money from the offers of purchase to fund your
17    other unrelated businesses?
18  A.   No.  The only thing that he knew that I was
19    using the money on was Auto King.  He was with me on
20    Auto King from day one.
21  Q.   He was with you, meaning he financed it?
22  A.   He went down to the auction with me.  He did
23    lend me, I think it was like 400 or $600,000 at the
24    time, knowing, you know, that I was going to be
25    purchasing vehicles and stuff.  And so he did all this
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 1    research on collision centers and mechanic shops, and he
 2    determined that that was, you know, the best way to do
 3    it.
 4        So, you know, he came down to the dealership
 5    quite often and, you know, would say, "Okay, well, this
 6    is where the --" because ultimately, you know, his goal
 7    and, well, my goal too, was, okay, any profits that's
 8    going to come from Auto King will also go back to
 9    DenSco.
10  Q.   But that business wasn't profitable either, was
11    it?
12  A.   Nothing worked here.  I tried everything.  I
13    got to the point of even going to play blackjack to make
14    this work.  It doesn't work.  The numbers are too high.
15    It's six or $7,000 a day.  There's no possible way that
16    this works.
17  Q.   The offer to purchase business model, I guess
18    we'll call it, ends up in new documents being used by
19    DenSco; is that right?
20  A.   That's correct.
21        (Deposition Exhibit 6 was marked for
22    identification.)
23        BY MR. ANDERSON: 
24  Q.   I'm showing you what's been marked as
25    Exhibit 6, another document you gave to us, actually.
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 1  A.   Yes.
 2  Q.   What is this?
 3  A.   Okay.  So there are three sets of documents
 4    here.  You have the mortgage, which we will call it a
 5    mortgage.  On Page 2 we have the note, the promissory
 6    note.  And then Page 3 through the end is the deed of
 7    trust that typically would be recorded.
 8        And from the beginning of the relationship or
 9    from my belief from every lender -- I mean from every
10    borrower, he always had these three sets of documents.
11    And so the first thing that he would record is the
12    mortgage, which would cloud title prior to getting a
13    deed.  And then once the deed came in, he would go ahead
14    and record the deed of trust.  The note never gets
15    recorded.
16  Q.   Okay.  And this document is different than his
17    other mortgages, right?
18  A.   That's correct.
19  Q.   Because it does reference in there it's an
20    offer to purchase; is that right?
21  A.   Yes.  It changed approximately a year ago
22    because of the problems that he was having.
23  Q.   And the problems he was having was that some of
24    his earlier recordings were being recorded against
25    properties where the offer to purchase was never
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 1    accepted, right?
 2  A.   Correct.
 3  Q.   And so they were clouding title?
 4  A.   Correct.
 5  Q.   And Denny was basically getting called by title
 6    companies saying why are you clouding title on a
 7    property that nobody owns?
 8  A.   Exactly.  And then Denny would explain, "Well,
 9    it was an offer to purchase."  And then many title
10    companies would tell him, "Well, this is not the way to
11    do it because it's kind of screwing up our escrow.  You
12    need to release it."
13        And so he willingly and very quickly released
14    them.  And then, you know, we did have a conversation
15    about how he told me, "You know what, to solve this
16    issue, I'm going to change my documents to reflect what
17    we're doing."
18  Q.   Okay.  We've talked about this sort of business
19    practices of DenSco, and you said before the break that
20    the business practices of DenSco pre-forbearance
21    agreement and post forbearance agreement did not change?
22  A.   Correct.
23  Q.   Now, did Mr. Beauchamp direct DenSco to do
24    anything differently after it was uncovered how you had
25    been able to get two loans on a property because of
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 1    DenSco's lending practices?
 2  A.   No.  What Denny told me -- I only know what
 3    Denny told me, because I didn't have any more meetings
 4    with Beauchamp.  But what Denny told me is that he had
 5    lunch with Beauchamp just at the end of 2015, and at
 6    that time he did explain to Beauchamp about the offers
 7    to purchase and all that stuff and how we're doing
 8    things now, and Denny was surprised and he said to me,
 9    "Hey, he basically gave the blessing to everything."
10  Q.   Okay.  So despite the issues that were in the
11    first round, there were no changes?
12  A.   No.
13  Q.   Okay.
14        (Deposition Exhibit 7 was marked for
15    identification.)
16        BY MR. ANDERSON: 
17  Q.   I show you what's been marked as Exhibit 7.
18    Page 1 of Exhibit 7 is an e-mail at the very bottom from
19    you to dcmoney@yahoo.com and veronicacastro@live.com.
20    Who are those people?
21  A.   Veronica Castro works in my office.  She's a
22    notary.
23  Q.   And dcmoney is Denny Chittick, correct?
24  A.   That's correct.
25  Q.   And this is an e-mail of April 30th, 2014,
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 1    correct?
 2  A.   Correct.
 3  Q.   Okay, so this is just after the forbearance
 4    agreement has been entered into it.
 5        What are you communicating in this e-mail?
 6  A.   It looks like I'm communicating the property
 7    address and how much I paid for it.
 8  Q.   Okay.  And then the e-mail at the top back to
 9    you, from Denny Chittick to you the same day, later that
10    night, says "Attached" and has the address of 11627 West
11    Holly.  Do you see that?
12  A.   And that would have been his documents.
13  Q.   Okay.  That's his documents, because you can
14    see the attachments are "DOT Easy Investments; Note Easy
15    Investment; RM Easy Investments," right?
16  A.   Correct.
17  Q.   Turn to the second page.
18        This is a document you've probably never seen.
19    This is an internal accounting QuickBooks for DenSco
20    that Denny made, and it shows that on this day, May 1,
21    that $386,500 are wired to you.  Do you see that?
22  A.   Yes.
23  Q.   Okay.  The next page is a bank statement from
24    DenSco where it shows the money leaving our account.
25  A.   Okay.
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 1  Q.   Okay.  The same day, 5-1.
 2        The next document is a notice of trustee's sale
 3    evidencing that this property's going to be sold at
 4    auction on 3-18-14.
 5  A.   Okay.
 6  Q.   The next document in the stack is the mortgage,
 7    the mortgage that you've signed.
 8  A.   Uh-huh.
 9  Q.   Who's the one who is notarizing it here?
10  A.   Veronica Castro.
11  Q.   Is she notarizing most, if not all, of your
12    mortgages, deeds of trust and notes?
13  A.   Yeah, and as well as other borrowers of
14    Denny's.
15  Q.   Okay.  So this note and mortgage is what is
16    used and recorded by DenSco to cloud title, right?
17  A.   Correct.
18  Q.   And so is this your signature here?
19  A.   Yes.
20  Q.   The next page is another document which says
21    "Mortgage" and has a number on it.  Have you ever seen
22    this before?
23  A.   No, I never seen this before.
24  Q.   Okay.  The page after that is a Note Secured By
25    Deed of Trust.  Do you see that?
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 1  A.   Yes.
 2  Q.   Dated May 1st, '14?
 3  A.   I do.
 4  Q.   Did you sign this?
 5  A.   Yes.
 6  Q.   And the next is a Deed of Trust and Assignment
 7    of Rents, also on the second page signed by you as well?
 8  A.   Yes.
 9  Q.   Okay.  The next page is a picture.  Do you see
10    that?
11  A.   Yes.
12  Q.   What is that a picture of?
13  A.   A check that I -- that he wired to me, so a
14    check that I made.
15  Q.   Okay, so this is a picture -- who is taking
16    this picture?
17  A.   Me.
18  Q.   Okay, so this is you taking a picture of a
19    check?
20  A.   Yeah, and e-mailing it to him.
21  Q.   A check out of your Arizona Home Foreclosures
22    account, right?
23  A.   Correct.
24  Q.   For the amount of 118,610, right?
25  A.   Correct.
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 1  Q.   Okay.  And then what's the next document?
 2  A.   A receipt from the trustee.
 3  Q.   Okay.  And how did you -- who took this
 4    picture?
 5  A.   I believe Veronica.
 6  Q.   Okay.  And what's this document that we've got
 7    a picture of?
 8  A.   Showing that it was paid for.
 9  Q.   Showing the property that is on Holly, West
10    Holly, was purchased by Arizona Home Foreclosures; is
11    that right?
12  A.   Yes.
13  Q.   Okay.  Who is the signature here as your agent?
14    Who is this Lou --
15  A.   Lou Amoroso?  He was a bidder of mine.
16  Q.   Okay.  So he's somebody who works for you?
17  A.   Used to.
18  Q.   Okay.  And you're providing this copy of this
19    check and this picture and this receipt to Mr. Chittick;
20    is that right?
21  A.   It was provided to him, yes.
22  Q.   It was e-mailed to him?
23  A.   I believe that's how Veronica sent them,
24    e-mails.
25  Q.   Why are you sending him a copy of the check and
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 1    the receipt?
 2  A.   I was sending him copies of the checks -- I was
 3    sending him copies of the checks because I'm pretty sure
 4    he requested it.
 5  Q.   Okay.  So he requested --
 6  A.   Oh, that's what Beauchamp told him.  That's
 7    right.  Beauchamp told him that if you were going to
 8    continue to wire the borrower, to get a copy of the
 9    check, or something like that.
10  Q.   Okay.  The last page is a cancellation of the
11    trustee's sale --
12  A.   Okay.
13  Q.   -- on January of 2016.
14  A.   Okay.
15  Q.   I checked the title on this property.  You've
16    never owned it.
17  A.   Okay.
18  Q.   So how do you explain that you have a receipt
19    from the trustee, purportedly buying it at auction, when
20    you never bought it?
21  A.   There are some times that trustee's sales don't
22    go through.  I'm going to say probably 25 percent of the
23    time that they don't go through, where you can actually
24    pay for a property and then get the funds back from the
25    trustee, for a number of reasons.
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 1  Q.   And what are those reasons?
 2  A.   Could be a homeowner filed BK right before the
 3    sale, and so that would continue the sale.  It could be
 4    that -- it could be that it was a bad sale, meaning the
 5    loan was paid off and the trustee never knew about it.
 6    It could be that the trustee had direction from the bank
 7    to go to sale and then the bank turns around and says,
 8    "Oh, no, we screwed up.  This shouldn't have went to
 9    sale."  There's a lot of different reasons.
10  Q.   So that happened 25 percent of the time?
11  A.   It's very common.
12  Q.   Okay.  How often did it happen to you?
13  A.   I can't guess how many instances it happened to
14    me.
15  Q.   Okay.  Well, on this property, is that what
16    must have happened, based on the documents in front of
17    you?
18  A.   I couldn't tell you unless I looked.  I would
19    have to look back and figure it out.
20  Q.   Well, I mean, I certainly can subpoena the
21    folks at the trustee company to see what happened.
22  A.   Perfect.
23  Q.   I will tell you that the document attached to
24    it shows that the trustee's sale was canceled, that it
25    never actually happened.
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 1  A.   Okay.
 2  Q.   So does that give you any indication of what
 3    could have happened?
 4  A.   No, because it would be canceled anyway.
 5  Q.   What do you mean, it would cancel anyway?
 6  A.   Well, if it was a bad sale, then it would
 7    cancel regardless.
 8  Q.   Okay.  Well, the cancellation, if you look at
 9    it, it's dated almost two years later.
10  A.   Two years later?
11  Q.   Uh-huh.
12  A.   Oh, well, that would make sense.
13  Q.   That would or would not?
14  A.   That would make sense.
15  Q.   Okay.  And why?
16  A.   Because if a sale is bad, if there's a bad
17    sale, then what would happen is they would postpone
18    the sale.  So they could postpone it 30 days, 60 days,
19    90 days, and they typically keep postponing it until
20    something gets resolved with it.  There are some --
21    like if you look up in County records, there are
22    some foreclosures that have been postponed for eight
23    years.
24  Q.   Sure.  But what happens to the money that
25    you've given to the trustee?
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 1  A.   It gets returned.
 2  Q.   Okay.  So you would have evidence of these
 3    funds going back to you from this trustee, right?
 4  A.   Or your original check is returned, which is
 5    more --
 6  Q.   Well, you've given this check, per this
 7    receipt, to this trustee?
 8  A.   But if they return the funds to you, they hand
 9    you back your check.  They don't cut you a check.  You
10    get back your original check.
11  Q.   Okay.  So if we look at this sale, we're either
12    going to see a -- that you got this specific check
13    handed back to you at some point?
14  A.   Yes, and redeposited into the account.
15  Q.   Okay.  Or they've issued you a new check?
16  A.   Correct, and then that money would have went
17    back to DenSco.
18  Q.   Okay.  But looking at this today, you don't
19    have any --
20  A.   No.
21  Q.   But looking at the document pattern, you think
22    it was a canceled sale?
23  A.   Yes.
24        (Deposition Exhibit 8 was marked for
25    identification.)
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 1        BY MR. ANDERSON: 
 2  Q.   I'll show you what's been marked as Exhibit
 3    No. 8.
 4        Why don't we take all this out of the way,
 5    because she's got to collect this.
 6  A.   This chair, I'm stuck over here.
 7        MR. JESS: Do you want a different chair,
 8    Scott?
 9        THE WITNESS: No, let me just put myself
10    here, because I'm stuck like this, like I'm sleeping all
11    the time.
12        BY MR. ANDERSON: 
13  Q.   Did the Veronica Castro person work for you?
14  A.   Yes.
15  Q.   Okay.  I'm showing you documents again that
16    look very similar to the one you sent before.  You sent
17    an e-mail to Mr. Chittick on May 6th of 2014.  It's on
18    the first page of Exhibit No. 8.
19  A.   Okay.
20  Q.   Are you communicating the interest to buy this
21    property on that day, or that you've already bid on this
22    property; is that right?
23  A.   I believe so, unless we were doing offers to
24    purchase at that time.
25  Q.   Okay.  And then you get documents back, right?
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 1  A.   Correct.
 2  Q.   Well, you know you're not doing offers to
 3    purchase if the mortgage is not -- aren't changed,
 4    right?
 5  A.   No, that's not correct.
 6  Q.   Okay.  So he was doing the different mortgages
 7    for a while?
 8  A.   Oh, yeah.  That's why the whole thing started,
 9    because the title companies would contact him.
10  Q.   Okay.  You see there's a notice of trustee's
11    sale, the next page?
12  A.   Yeah.
13  Q.   All right.  You see on the same day of your
14    e-mail -- well, sorry, the next day, 5-7, he wires to
15    you $1,008,700, which includes $278,300 for this
16    property?
17  A.   Right.
18  Q.   That amount, 1,008,700, comes out of the bank
19    account on that day, the next page, and then you sign
20    the mortgage?
21  A.   Yeah.
22  Q.   And you sign the deed of trust and the note,
23    right?
24  A.   Right.
25  Q.   Is that right?
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 1  A.   Yes.
 2  Q.   And then you send to Mr. Chittick again a
 3    picture of a check?
 4  A.   Yeah.
 5  Q.   For the amount 268,300?
 6  A.   Correct.
 7  Q.   And then you also send him a picture of a
 8    receipt; is that right?
 9  A.   Veronica must have sent it to him.
10  Q.   Okay.
11  A.   I never saw the receipts.
12  Q.   You never saw the receipts?
13  A.   No.
14  Q.   How would Veronica send it to him?
15  A.   She would get it from the bidder.
16  Q.   Okay.  And he would take a picture of it for
17    her and send it to her?
18  A.   He would take a picture, send it to her.
19  Q.   So Lou Amoroso took this picture and then sent
20    that picture to Veronica?
21  A.   I think you're asking me to assume something,
22    and I'm not really positive.  I can check with Veronica.
23    I'm not really positive.
24  Q.   You said you didn't see the receipts?
25  A.   Correct.

02:32:24-02:32:58 Page 172

 1  Q.   So somehow the receipt makes its way to DenSco.
 2    How did that happen?
 3  A.   Well, I guess you would have to look at how you
 4    received it.  I mean --
 5  Q.   Well, I'm asking you, because --
 6  A.   Well, I didn't send it.
 7  Q.   Okay.  And you also testified you've never seen
 8    it before?
 9  A.   Correct.
10  Q.   Okay.  So this is the first time you're seeing
11    these receipts?
12  A.   Yes.
13  Q.   Okay.  You didn't know they existed?
14  A.   I didn't see -- I haven't seen it.
15  Q.   Well, did you know that DenSco was sent
16    pictures and copies of receipts from these purchases?
17    Did you know that?
18  A.   I knew that I was sending the checks, the
19    copies of the checks.
20  Q.   I didn't ask that question.  I asked did you
21    know about the receipts?
22  A.   No.
23  Q.   You didn't know the receipts were being sent?
24  A.   No.
25  Q.   You didn't know that DenSco had copies of
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 1    receipts?
 2  A.   No.
 3  Q.   Okay.  You're sure?
 4  A.   Yes.
 5        I remember in the beginning of -- after the
 6    forbearance agreement and I remember him asking for the
 7    checks -- I remember him asking for the checks.  Did I
 8    send him -- I don't recall sending him receipts.  I
 9    don't believe that I sent him receipts.
10  Q.   Okay.
11  A.   Maybe -- I mean, you are talking two and a half
12    years ago.  So have I sent him some receipts?  Maybe.  I
13    really don't remember.
14  Q.   Okay.  Again, this trustee's sale is actually
15    canceled, the last page of the document.  It's canceled
16    in June of -- June 7th of 2014, about a month after you
17    purportedly buy the property at auction.
18  A.   Okay.
19  Q.   What's your explanation for this one?  You
20    think it's another canceled sale?
21  A.   It could be, or it could have been -- it could
22    have been one of the offers to purchase.  It could
23    have -- I have no idea.
24  Q.   Well, how could it be an offer to purchase?
25    Because you've got a receipt from a trustee.
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 1  A.   Oh, right.  That's true.
 2  Q.   So it can't be an offer to purchase.
 3  A.   No, it can't be an offer to purchase.
 4  Q.   You're buying this at an auction, right?
 5  A.   Yes.
 6  Q.   So if you never ever get a trustee's deed
 7    showing that you had title to this property --
 8  A.   Uh-huh.
 9  Q.   -- it must be one of those, what, canceled
10    sales you were talking about, or someone must have filed
11    bankruptcy?
12  A.   I would assume so.
13  Q.   Okay.  Because you have no reason to doubt the
14    validity of that receipt, right?
15  A.   No.  It's a receipt.
16  Q.   Right.  So it's legit; it's not forged, right?
17  A.   It looks like a receipt.  I mean I --
18  Q.   Well, but there's no reason to believe it's not
19    real, right?
20  A.   There's no reason for me to believe it's not
21    real, no.
22        (Deposition Exhibit 9 was marked for
23    identification.)
24        BY MR. ANDERSON: 
25  Q.   Show you what's been marked Exhibit No. 9.
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 1    Page 1, again, is an e-mail from May 5th of 2015 from
 2    you to Veronica Gutierrez, who -- is that the same as
 3    Veronica Castro?
 4  A.   Yes.
 5  Q.   And to Denny Chittick?
 6  A.   Uh-huh.
 7  Q.   And you're asking -- well, you're providing
 8    addresses of a series of properties, and this time
 9    you're giving recording numbers.  Do you see that?
10  A.   Yes.
11  Q.   What do those recording numbers relate to?
12  A.   Those are recorded -- those are related to the
13    offers to -- those are related -- well, it could be
14    related to anything.  It could be related to either the
15    notice of trustee's sale or it could have been related
16    to the offers to purchase.
17  Q.   Okay, well, it is related to the notice of
18    trustee's sale.  In fact, identically, it's the
19    recording number of the notice of trustee's sale --
20  A.   Okay.
21  Q.   -- that's recorded against this property on
22    January 9th, 2015.
23  A.   Okay.
24  Q.   And the sale was to occur on 4-20-2015.
25        Take a look at the document from DenSco.  It's
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 1    an accounting report showing that on that day of
 2    May 6th, 1.5 million and change was e-mailed -- is
 3    wire-transferred to you.  There's actually a wire right
 4    there in the bank statements from FirstBank on the 5th
 5    of May in that exact amount.
 6  A.   Okay.
 7  Q.   There is a mortgage that is on the next page.
 8    This is actually a mortgage where it talks about a
 9    purpose of making an offer mortgage.  This is one of
10    those mortgages that you referenced was used --
11  A.   The one for the purchase.
12  Q.   -- for the short sales.  But it says here on
13    this mortgage -- and you can look at it.  It's on
14    page seven.
15  A.   Okay.
16  Q.   If you read the language of the mortgage, it
17    says that DenSco Investment Corporation is lending
18    $271,700 for the purpose of making an offer for, and
19    there's a bunch of blanks, and it says "See Exhibit A,"
20    which is the property that is purportedly being sold at
21    a trustee's sale on April 20th.  Do you see that?
22  A.   I do.
23  Q.   And that document -- this mortgage is recorded
24    by DenSco after you sign it.
25  A.   Okay.
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 1  Q.   It looks like you also sign on the same day as
 2    the note and deed of trust?
 3  A.   Yeah.
 4  Q.   You also provide to DenSco a copy of the check?
 5  A.   Okay.
 6  Q.   Is this you taking a picture again?
 7  A.   Yes.
 8  Q.   Okay.  And it's got the name, pay to, Quality
 9    Loan Servicing?
10  A.   Okay.
11  Q.   And it says, "Order Of:  DenSco Payment," where
12    the address is 7263 East Manzanita?
13  A.   Uh-huh.
14  Q.   And the amount is 261,713?
15  A.   Okay.
16  Q.   The next page is a picture of a receipt for
17    that exact amount, 261,713?
18  A.   Okay.
19  Q.   Signed by your agent, Lou Amoroso.  Do you see
20    that?
21  A.   Yes.
22  Q.   So this would indicate that you bought this
23    property at auction, right?
24  A.   Well, yeah, the receipt would.
25  Q.   Okay.
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 1  A.   But --
 2  Q.   The trustee's sale was canceled --
 3  A.   Well, the thing is --
 4  Q.   -- before you're even --
 5        Hold on.  Let me finish.
 6        The trustee's sale was canceled before you even
 7    e-mailed Mr. Chittick for the loan.  It was canceled on
 8    March 12th of 2015.  So two months later is when you're
 9    purporting to be purchasing at auction.
10  A.   See, that's what I'm thinking.  This is an
11    offer to purchase, and I don't know how there's a
12    receipt for it.
13  Q.   Well, I don't know how there is either, so
14    that's why I'm asking you.
15  A.   I couldn't answer you that question.  I know
16    how we got the checks.
17  Q.   Do you have any reason to believe that this
18    receipt is forged, is made up, in order to convince
19    Denny that you're actually buying this property at
20    auction?
21  A.   I would have no reason to believe that.
22  Q.   Okay.  Whose signature is this on the receipt?
23    Do you recognize it?
24  A.   On the bottom?
25  Q.   Yeah.
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 1  A.   It said Lou Amoroso.
 2  Q.   Is that his signature?
 3  A.   I don't really know what his signature looks
 4    like.
 5  Q.   Okay.  Do you know what the signature is right
 6    next to him?
 7  A.   No, I have no idea.
 8  Q.   Okay.  So you don't have an explanation for
 9    this one, do you?
10  A.   I don't.
11  Q.   So it certainly looks like, from the documents
12    that were provided to DenSco, that you are funding a
13    purchase of a property that you purchased at a
14    foreclosure sale, right?
15        MR. JESS: Objection, form.
16        THE WITNESS: Well, other than the notice
17    saying that it's an offer to purchase for these
18    documents, then yes.
19        BY MR. ANDERSON: 
20  Q.   Which if you're going to make an offer to
21    purchase, you've told us before it's going to be an
22    offer to purchase to a homeowner; it's not going to be
23    with a check and a copy of a receipt from a trustee?
24  A.   No, that's not correct.
25  Q.   Oh, okay.  So now there's a way to make an
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 1    offer of purchase to a trustee?
 2  A.   No.  What Denny wanted was copies of -- what
 3    Denny wanted was copies of checks on the transactions,
 4    so he had it for his file.  And so that's what I
 5    provided him.
 6  Q.   So how do you explain the receipt?
 7  A.   I can't.
 8  Q.   So when we go to Priority Posting and
 9    Publishing, this entity that apparently was serving as
10    the trustee, are they going to have their copy of this
11    receipt?
12  A.   I don't know what they will have.
13  Q.   Are you sure you don't know what they're going
14    to have?
15  A.   I do not know what they're going to have.
16        (Deposition Exhibit 10 was marked for
17    identification.)
18        BY MR. ANDERSON: 
19  Q.   I'm going to show you what's marked as Exhibit
20    No. 10.  The first page of Exhibit 10 is another e-mail,
21    this one from June of 2015, and this has a series of
22    properties on it.  Do you see that?
23  A.   I do.
24  Q.   It also has recording numbers, "REC" after it,
25    or before it.  Do you see that?
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 1        I know, Scott, you want to skip ahead to the
 2    other pages, but let's go threw it methodically, okay?
 3  A.   Yeah, I'm looking.
 4  Q.   Okay.  So you made an e-mail to DenSco asking
 5    for a loan of $272,800 on a property at 18911 East
 6    Canary; is that right?
 7  A.   Correct.
 8  Q.   And you reference a recording number; is that
 9    right?
10  A.   Yeah.  At this point these are offers to
11    purchase.
12  Q.   Okay.  But you reference a recording number; is
13    that right?
14  A.   Yes.
15  Q.   With a date of 3-26?
16  A.   Correct.
17  Q.   The next page is showing the money that was
18    allotted for the various loan requests on that day,
19    6-26, and the total amount is 1,593,000.  Do you see
20    that?
21  A.   Correct.
22  Q.   And then we see on the next page a copy of
23    DenSco's bank statement showing that he's
24    wire-transferred out to you $1,593,000.  Do you see
25    that?
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 1  A.   Correct.
 2  Q.   And you got those funds, right?
 3  A.   Well, yeah.
 4  Q.   Okay.  The next page is the notice of trustee's
 5    sale, which is actually the exact notice of trustee's
 6    sale with the recording number that you've referenced in
 7    your e-mail to Mr. Chittick.
 8  A.   Okay.
 9  Q.   The next page is actually a cancellation of
10    that trustee's sale.
11  A.   Okay.
12  Q.   That cancellation was word recorded on
13    April 2nd, 2015.
14  A.   Okay.
15  Q.   But you are e-mailing DenSco months later, in
16    June, purporting that you had purchased this property at
17    an auction.  Isn't that what your e-mail referenced?
18  A.   No.
19  Q.   Okay.  Well, you sign all the documents.  You
20    sign the mortgage and the deed of trust; is that right?
21  A.   Yes.
22  Q.   You take a picture of a check --
23  A.   Yeah.
24  Q.   -- the second to last page?
25  A.   Yeah.
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 1  Q.   You send that to DenSco, right?
 2  A.   Yes.
 3  Q.   And the check is a payment order to David W.
 4    Cowles, trustee.  Do you see that on the check?
 5  A.   I do.
 6  Q.   Okay.  So you are indicating that this check is
 7    going to be made payable to the trustee; is that right?
 8  A.   Yes.
 9  Q.   Despite the fact that the sale has been
10    canceled, isn't going to happen?
11  A.   Correct.
12  Q.   And the next page is a receipt.  This receipt
13    indicates that you have delivered to that trustee this
14    check?
15  A.   Correct.
16  Q.   And you purchased the property.  It says "Paid
17    in full."  Do you see that?
18  A.   Yes, the same as the other few transactions.
19  Q.   Okay.  Well, there's some slight differences, I
20    think.
21  A.   Okay.
22  Q.   But, for example, the receipt that you have on
23    this document --
24  A.   Uh-huh.
25  Q.   -- it for some reason has an identification of
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 1    a $10,000 check from U.S. Bank.  Was that your check
 2    that you gave him on that day?
 3  A.   Yes.
 4  Q.   Okay.  And then the second check is the one
 5    from Chase, and then it identifies here that if you have
 6    any questions, go to www.auction.com.  Do you know what
 7    that is?
 8  A.   A trustee.
 9  Q.   Okay.  So you're providing this receipt to
10    DenSco because you have purchased this property at
11    auction, right?
12  A.   I did not provide this receipt, is what I told
13    you.
14  Q.   Okay, well, who provided this receipt to
15    DenSco?  How did DenSco get it?
16  A.   I have no idea.
17  Q.   Okay.  You don't know any -- you have no idea
18    how DenSco got a receipt?  Right, you have no idea?
19  A.   I did not send him this receipt.
20  Q.   Okay.  Do you have any idea how Mr. Luigi
21    Amoroso's driver's license number and date of birth gets
22    on this receipt?
23  A.   No.
24  Q.   Okay.  Do you believe that's his signature, or
25    do you know?
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 1  A.   No idea.
 2  Q.   So when we go to David over at Tiffany & Bosco
 3    and ask him about this trustee's sale, he assumed -- he
 4    should have a copy of this receipt, right?
 5  A.   I have -- I would assume so.
 6  Q.   Okay, but you never get -- take title to the
 7    property.  You never own the property.
 8  A.   Okay.
 9  Q.   So you're spending -- you have a receipt, a
10    check showing that you're paying for it, but you never
11    actually ever own it.  So what happened?
12        You don't know, do you?
13  A.   No.  Like I said, I provided copies of the
14    checks to DenSco.
15        One of the lies that I told DenSco was that the
16    money was secure and being held by trustees.  I did tell
17    him that.  He believed that or was aware of it or
18    thought of it, or I don't know what he believed, but...
19  Q.   Well, you said one of the lies you told was the
20    money was being held by trustee.  What do you mean?
21  A.   Right, and that money was going towards the
22    workout.
23  Q.   What do you mean?  You told him that there was
24    money, DenSco money, being held by a third party?
25  A.   Well, he would wire the money to my account for
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 1    proof of funds, and so what I told him is, "Don't worry.
 2    The money is secure.  It's sitting in these trustee
 3    offices.  They're just sitting there, and they're just
 4    bad sales."
 5        And he's like, "Okay.  That's fine."
 6  Q.   Okay.  So you knew these were bad sales?
 7  A.   They weren't bad sales.  I mean, what I knew,
 8    what I knew was that I needed him to know or feel secure
 9    that the money was safe.
10  Q.   But the money wasn't at this trustee, was it?
11  A.   No, the money was not at this trustee.
12  Q.   Right.  So despite this -- but you said you
13    don't know -- this money has to be with the trustee.
14    The check is made out to David Cowles.  There's a
15    receipt for him getting it.
16  A.   No.  If you look at my bank statements -- and
17    I've explained this before, maybe not to you; but if you
18    look at my bank statements, if I -- let's just say there
19    was six checks in that day totaling $1.6 million.  I
20    would go to the bank.  I would make -- I would get the
21    cashier checks.  I would make the copies.  I would send
22    him the pictures.  And then I would redeposit those
23    checks back into the account.
24  Q.   But this receipt says, "Paid in full," Scott.
25  A.   I understand that.
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 1  Q.   So you're telling me that you know, sitting
 2    here today, that this receipt is bogus, right?  Because
 3    you're telling me that check is back in your account.
 4  A.   It has to be.
 5  Q.   So the receipt has to be bogus?
 6  A.   I don't see how it could -- how it's not.  The
 7    thing is, I've never seen the receipt, is what I'm
 8    saying.  So I guess I don't know where the receipt came
 9    from.
10  Q.   You've never -- you've never -- have you ever
11    had any discussions with DenSco about these receipts?
12  A.   No.
13  Q.   Okay.
14  A.   I've never seen this receipt.  Not this
15    specific receipt, but --
16  Q.   Well, just receipts in general.  You said, "I'm
17    sending you receipts.  I'm sending you checks.  You know
18    it's secure."  Right?  I mean that's what's making it
19    secure.
20  A.   No, what's making it secure is -- in his mind
21    is that the money is sitting in a trustee's office.
22  Q.   Well, explain to me -- explain me this.  You
23    said it's a lie.  So I mean you have to explain the lie
24    to me.  Why would he believe that it's sitting in a
25    trustee account somewhere?  Why?
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 1  A.   Because that's what I told him.
 2  Q.   Well, you just say, "It's sitting in a trustee
 3    account somewhere; that you should be fine"?
 4  A.   I told him that -- at some point during the
 5    relationship, and I don't remember when that was, and
 6    these offers to purchase weren't working out very well
 7    and he continued to put pressure on me for the
 8    forbearance and I continued to put money into the
 9    workout agreement, I told him that this money was -- it
10    was bad sales.  There was sales that were bad.  That a
11    trustee knew about it and that they were holding the
12    money and not to worry about it, everything is secure.
13        And he was okay with it, and that was the end
14    of that.
15  Q.   So you told him that there were a bunch of bad
16    sales and all the trustees were holding all this money
17    in perpetuity?  You know, when was it going to be
18    released?
19  A.   Well, within 30 days he would get his money
20    back.  So some of the money would go to workout.  Some
21    of the money would go back to him.  I mean --
22  Q.   But you told him it was being held by these
23    trustees, right?
24  A.   Correct.
25  Q.   And when did you tell him those trustees were
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 1    going to release the money?
 2  A.   Well, I didn't tell him that -- what do you
 3    mean, when?  This was an every -- this was a continual
 4    thing.
 5  Q.   So how much money did you say was being held by
 6    trustees?  What's the gross amount?  You said it was --
 7  A.   There was no -- I didn't have a gross amount
 8    that I gave him.  I mean if he would send me a million
 9    dollars every day, it could have been 20 million,
10    25 million.  Could have been whatever it was at the
11    time.
12  Q.   Well, wait.  You communicated to Denny that
13    maybe as much as $20 million is being held by trustees?
14  A.   Yes.
15  Q.   And he believed you, first off?
16  A.   Yes.  I would assume so.
17  Q.   Okay.  And that was not true?
18  A.   Correct.
19  Q.   Okay.
20  A.   And where the money actually was going was back
21    to the workout or back to the old properties that needed
22    to be paid off.
23  Q.   So you're lying to him where the money really
24    is, saying it's with these trustees; but in reality
25    you're just giving it -- you're paying it back to
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 1    DenSco?
 2  A.   Yes.
 3  Q.   And why are you lying to him saying it's with
 4    these trustees?
 5  A.   I'm lying to him and telling him that it's with
 6    these trustees --
 7  Q.   But why?  Why are you lying to him?
 8  A.   To make him feel secure and safe.
 9  Q.   Isn't it true you're lying to him about the
10    money being safe or being with the trustees so that you
11    can continue to borrow?
12        MR. JESS: Objection, form.
13        THE WITNESS: No.  I haven't borrowed in
14    almost a year.
15        MR. ANDERSON: Hold on.  What's the form
16    objection?
17        THE WITNESS: That calls for a legal
18    conclusion.
19        MR. ANDERSON: No.  No, it doesn't.
20        BY MR. ANDERSON: 
21  Q.   You can answer it then.
22        MR. JESS: Yes.  Yes, it did.  He can
23    answer it regardless.
24        MR. ANDERSON: I just need you to say
25    that.  Okay.
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 1        THE WITNESS: I forgot the question.
 2        MR. ANDERSON: Can you read it back to
 3    him?
 4        (The record was read by the court
 5        reporter as follows:
 6        QUESTION: Isn't it true you're lying to
 7        him about the money being safe or being with
 8        the trustees so that you can continue to
 9        borrow?)
10        MR. JESS: Same objection.
11        THE WITNESS: Well, that doesn't make any
12    sense to me, because the money was already deployed with
13    the forbearance agreement.  Our balance didn't go up
14    much from that.  So that doesn't make any sense.  The
15    money was already deployed.  Prior to what I've told
16    DenSco, the money was deployed already.  This was just a
17    recycling of money.  He gives me; I give him.  But
18    before any of this -- any of the lies or anything, the
19    money was deployed.  It was out.  It's in the
20    forbearance agreement.
21        BY MR. ANDERSON: 
22  Q.   You called it recycling of money.
23  A.   Pretty much.
24  Q.   Does Denny believe it's being recycled, or does
25    Denny believe it's actually going out for loans?
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 1  A.   I actually do believe that Denny believes that
 2    it was being recycled.
 3  Q.   Did you ever tell him that?
 4  A.   No.
 5  Q.   You actually told him that it's being put to
 6    work to do various legitimate business opportunities,
 7    right?  That's what you told him?
 8  A.   Are you telling me what I told him or --
 9        (Deposition Exhibit 11 was marked for
10    identification.)
11        BY MR. ANDERSON: 
12  Q.   Look at Exhibit 11.  The first page, on
13    July 16, 2015 --
14        MR. JESS: Did you hand me Exhibit 11?
15        MR. ANDERSON: I think I did.  If not, I
16    can pull some more out of here.
17        MR. NEMECEK: There was an extra one over
18    here.  Maybe you didn't get it.
19        MR. ANDERSON: It's this one.
20        THE WITNESS: Thank you.
21        BY MR. ANDERSON: 
22  Q.   The first page of this e-mail comes from
23    Ms. Gutierrez to you and to Mr. Chittick.  Do you see
24    that?
25  A.   Yes.
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 1  Q.   This one is a little different, because it's
 2    got this arrangement that you talked about earlier in
 3    your deposition testimony whereby certain payoffs -- you
 4    know, you're requesting a gross amount of 1.3 million,
 5    but there are payoffs coming in of 1.3, so there's an
 6    offset.  Do you see that?
 7  A.   Yes.
 8  Q.   This is that -- this is exactly what you were
 9    talking about, right?
10  A.   Yes.
11  Q.   That at times it got to the point where you
12    wouldn't even deliver these big dollars to each other;
13    you just sort of do the offset amount to each other,
14    right?
15  A.   Correct.
16  Q.   But you're still indicating that you're going
17    to be purchasing these properties; is that right?
18  A.   Making an offer to purchase.
19  Q.   Making an offer to purchase, if you want to
20    call it that?
21  A.   Yes.
22  Q.   And you're going to be using the payoff money,
23    rather than new money from DenSco, right?
24  A.   Correct.  That's why I said recycling the
25    money.
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 1  Q.   Okay.  And then the next page we see the wire
 2    come out.  You'll see a notice of trustee's sale again.
 3    We see another mortgage signed by you and then another
 4    check.  You see a picture of a check.
 5  A.   Yeah.
 6  Q.   Did you take this picture?
 7  A.   I can't tell you if specifically I took this
 8    picture.
 9  Q.   Well, it's made payable to David Cowles again,
10    trustee, for a property at 1644 South Los Alamos Circle.
11  A.   Okay.
12  Q.   Do you see that?
13        The next page, another receipt.
14  A.   Okay.
15  Q.   For the same property, same check amount.  But
16    I guess it shouldn't come as any surprise, but the
17    trustee's sale had been canceled two months before you
18    even sent the e-mail to DenSco asking for -- to loan
19    against this property.  How do you explain that?
20  A.   It was an offer to purchase.  I don't -- I
21    can't explain the receipt, but it was an offer to
22    purchase.
23  Q.   Why would the check be made out to the trustee
24    if it's an offer to purchase?
25  A.   Because that's what I was doing on every
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 1    transaction.
 2  Q.   No.
 3  A.   I would make a copy of the check.
 4  Q.   Didn't you -- okay, you made a copy of the
 5    check.  That's fine.  But you were --
 6  A.   And send it to him.
 7  Q.   -- making an offer of purchase to a homeowner.
 8    The check should be made out to a homeowner, not to the
 9    trustee.
10  A.   Well, no, you don't make the check out to the
11    homeowner.  You're going to make it out to the title
12    company.
13        However, like I told you, I told him that the
14    money was sitting at a trustee's to make him feel safe
15    and secure.  The bottom line is, is that the money was
16    getting eaten up by interest which was being paid back
17    to him and the workout agreement.
18  Q.   Okay.  You never take title to this property;
19    is that right?
20  A.   I have no idea without checking tax records.
21  Q.   Well, I can tell you I did check, and you never
22    take title to the property.  Do you have any reason to
23    doubt that?
24  A.   That you're a liar?  No, of course, not.
25        (Deposition Exhibit 12 was marked for
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 1    identification.)
 2        BY MR. ANDERSON: 
 3  Q.   Let me show you what's marked as Exhibit 12.
 4    This one's a little different, so it will be
 5    interesting.
 6        The first page of Exhibit 12 you've got the
 7    standard e-mail from you, or this time it's from
 8    Veronica to you and to Denny, with some addresses and
 9    then the other offset.  Do you see that?
10  A.   Yes.
11  Q.   And then DenSco's responding to you with the
12    DOTs and the mortgages for the property at 8581 East
13    Krail?
14  A.   Yes.
15  Q.   The next page is the summary of the money that
16    the Krail property is included on.  The next page is a
17    copy of the bank statement that shows the wire going
18    out.
19  A.   Yes.
20  Q.   Again, this mortgage is different than the
21    offer to purchase mortgage.  It doesn't have the offer
22    to -- it says a loan had been obtained for the purpose
23    of making an offer.  So I guess I'm wrong.  That is
24    another offer to purchase mortgage.  And then you've got
25    this e-mail from you to Mr. Menaged.  It's -- sorry, to
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 1    you.  It's an e-mail from -- you, Scott, send this
 2    e-mail to Denny --
 3  A.   Uh-huh.
 4  Q.   -- on September 28th, 2015 at 7:15 in the
 5    morning.  It is forwarding an e-mail that you
 6    purportedly obtained from your bank.  Do you see that?
 7  A.   Yeah.
 8  Q.   Okay.  Which indicates that -- it looks like a
 9    wire is being sent?
10  A.   Right.
11  Q.   Okay.  Did you at some time change to wires?
12  A.   No.  But I did tell him that we did.
13  Q.   Oh.  So you never actually changed to wire
14    transfers?
15  A.   No.  I told him that we changed to wire
16    transfers, but we didn't.  Again, it's the same thing of
17    telling him the money is secure.
18  Q.   So the next page is -- it says, "We are Going
19    to Wires!  Finally allowed!"  That's just not true?
20  A.   That's correct.
21  Q.   And so you're showing him a fake wire transfer
22    instructions?
23  A.   I am showing him something saying that I was
24    going to request it.  But when you go into Chase and you
25    go and request the money, you have to go in and approve
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 1    it on the back end, and so what -- this is not fake.
 2    It's a real document.  It's just I never went in and
 3    approved it.
 4  Q.   So you sent this to him under the pretense that
 5    a real wire was going to go out for this amount on the
 6    Krail property, but when you did it, you never intended
 7    to actually wire the money?
 8  A.   Correct.
 9  Q.   But you didn't tell that to Mr. DenSco -- or
10    Mr. Chittick.  You send it, him thinking that's where it
11    was going, right?
12        MR. JESS: Objection, form.
13        THE WITNESS: He thought the money was
14    secure.
15        BY MR. ANDERSON: 
16  Q.   Okay.  The next page is this EFT instructions
17    for something called Auction.com, LLC.  Do you see that?
18    Is this also another fraudulent -- another document
19    you've created?
20        MR. JESS: Objection, form.
21        THE WITNESS: No.  That's a real
22    Auction.com wiring instructions.
23        BY MR. ANDERSON: 
24  Q.   Okay.  And is that where you wired the money
25    for the property?
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 1  A.   Didn't I just say I didn't wire it?
 2  Q.   No, you actually said that you -- the wire
 3    information isn't real, but --
 4  A.   No.
 5  Q.   So you didn't wire it at all; is that your
 6    testimony?
 7        MR. JESS: Objection.  None of that
 8    accurately states Mr. Menaged's testimony.
 9        BY MR. ANDERSON: 
10  Q.   Did you wire the money?
11  A.   No, I did not wire the money.
12        MR. JESS: Ryan, I know you're on a roll,
13    but can you slow down just a little bit, please?
14        BY MR. ANDERSON: 
15  Q.   And then just like the others, this trustee's
16    sale is canceled.  Do you see that on the last pages?
17        So there's no purchase of this property; is
18    that right?
19  A.   I guess not.
20  Q.   Who is Luigi Amoroso?
21  A.   A bidder.
22  Q.   And he's your former employee?
23  A.   Yes.
24  Q.   What's his -- where does he live?
25  A.   Somewhere in Phoenix.
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 1  Q.   Do you have his phone number?
 2  A.   I don't with me.
 3  Q.   Is he the same guy who was on the TV show with
 4    you?
 5  A.   He is.
 6  Q.   When's the last time you talked to him?
 7  A.   Six months ago.
 8  Q.   Did you have a falling out?
 9  A.   Yes.
10  Q.   Over what?
11  A.   The death of Denny.
12  Q.   Why?
13  A.   He was upset.  He was upset.  He never knew
14    Denny, but he was upset over it.
15  Q.   He had a falling out with you because
16    Mr. Chittick committed suicide?
17  A.   He had a falling out with me because he said
18    that he read a suicide letter that me and him were --
19    first I heard that we were running drugs through Mexico.
20    Then I heard that I provided a rope for him to kill
21    himself.  We just stopped talking.
22  Q.   Have you ever seen that purported note?
23  A.   No.
24  Q.   And how often did he bid for you at foreclosure
25    auctions?
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 1  A.   Occasionally.
 2  Q.   Did you know he was making these fake receipts
 3    to provide to DenSco?
 4        MR. JESS: Objection, form.
 5        THE WITNESS: No.  I don't even know that
 6    he was.
 7        BY MR. ANDERSON: 
 8  Q.   Do you have any knowledge about who may have
 9    created the false receipts?
10  A.   No.
11  Q.   You don't know who may have done it?
12  A.   I don't want to speculate.
13  Q.   Well, who could have done it?  Who would have
14    the ability to do it?
15        MR. JESS: Objection, form.
16        THE WITNESS: Veronica Castro could have.
17        BY MR. ANDERSON: 
18  Q.   There's only, really, three people that are
19    involved in all of these transactions; isn't that right?
20  A.   Yes.
21  Q.   It's you?
22  A.   Yes.
23  Q.   Veronica Gutierrez/Castro and Mr. Amoroso; is
24    that right?
25  A.   Correct.
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 1  Q.   So if somebody created a fake receipt, it was
 2    one of the three?
 3        MR. JESS: Objection, asked and answered.
 4        THE WITNESS: Or Denny.
 5        BY MR. ANDERSON: 
 6  Q.   So you're -- so Denny may have created them?
 7  A.   How do I know?  I told you I had never seen the
 8    receipts.
 9  Q.   At some point, did Denny discover what was
10    going on, these irregularities, and confront you about
11    it?
12  A.   No.
13  Q.   So sometime in 2014, did you tell Mr. Chittick
14    that you had an arrangement with Auction.com that you
15    would send in offers on properties that were postponed
16    or canceled at trustees' sales and try to get those
17    trustees to agree to a short sale?
18  A.   Yes.
19  Q.   You told him that?
20  A.   Yes.
21  Q.   And that was a lie, correct?
22  A.   Correct.
23  Q.   Did you tell Mr. Chittick at sometime in 2015
24    that your wife had gotten access to your personal
25    business bank accounts and withdrew $1.7 million from
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 1    the companies and refused to return it?
 2  A.   I did.
 3  Q.   Did that actually happen?
 4  A.   No.  But there was no more money to return to
 5    him, so that's what I said.
 6  Q.   So you made up a story to him why you couldn't
 7    pay him back?
 8  A.   Yes.
 9  Q.   And the story was that your wife had
10    misappropriated the money?
11  A.   Correct.
12  Q.   Okay.  Did you tell Mr. Chittick that a court
13    had actually ordered your wife to put that $1.7 million
14    into an escrow account?
15  A.   I don't recall.
16  Q.   Well, did that ever happen?
17  A.   No.
18  Q.   So you -- at some point, did you tell
19    Mr. Chittick that all of this money that was owed to him
20    and DenSco under the forbearance agreement and the
21    workout was actually being held by Auction.com?
22  A.   Yes.
23  Q.   In June of 2016, did you meet with Mr. Chittick
24    and tell him that your wife had gone to Auction.com to
25    try to expose your business relationship with them?
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 1  A.   I believe I did.
 2  Q.   Was that true?
 3  A.   There was no Auction.com.  It was not true.  I
 4    was -- what you're asking me, what you're asking me is
 5    because -- the reasons why is because the money went
 6    back to DenSco, and I couldn't tell him that he already
 7    has his money.
 8  Q.   You met Mr. Chittick one final time on
 9    July 25th, 2016; is that right?
10  A.   I don't remember the date, but we did meet.
11  Q.   Okay.  Well, you met in your warehouse,
12    right?
13  A.   We did meet.
14  Q.   And you met for a long time, right?
15  A.   No, not a long time.
16  Q.   Not a long time?  Okay.
17        And during that meeting, did you tell him that
18    after your bankruptcy was over, you intended to open a
19    bank account overseas and have Auction.com wire
20    $30 million to that account?
21  A.   I did tell him that.
22  Q.   Was that true, that you were going to do that?
23    Is that your intention after this deposition, after the
24    bankruptcy?
25  A.   How could it happen?  The money is not sitting
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 1    anywhere.
 2  Q.   So it's not your intention after this
 3    bankruptcy to go recover money from Auction.com?
 4  A.   Auction.com doesn't have any money.
 5  Q.   Didn't you tell Mr. Chittick that $31.8 million
 6    was sitting in an account at Auction.com, in a trust
 7    account, for you?
 8        MR. JESS: Objection, form.
 9        THE WITNESS: No, I did not say it was in
10    a trust account or anything like that.
11        BY MR. ANDERSON: 
12  Q.   Did you tell Mr. Chittick at that meeting that
13    you had altered your bank statements, your personal
14    statements and your business statements, before
15    submitting them to the Chapter 7 trustee?
16  A.   No.
17  Q.   Isn't it true during that meeting with
18    Mr. Chittick, that you specifically told him that you
19    intended to testify that after the forbearance agreement
20    was entered into, you and Mr. Chittick agreed to this
21    offer to purchase arrangement, rather than buying
22    traditionally at auctions?
23        MR. JESS: Objection, form.
24        THE WITNESS: You need to ask that
25    question again for me.
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 1        BY MR. ANDERSON: 
 2  Q.   Did you tell -- did you tell Mr. Chittick at
 3    that meeting on the 25th of July that you were going to
 4    come and testify about a fictional -- or business
 5    arrangement that would explain the irregularities in
 6    these loans?
 7        MR. JESS: Same objection.
 8        THE WITNESS: I was going to explain that
 9    we made offers to purchase.
10        I don't understand.  Sorry.
11        BY MR. ANDERSON: 
12  Q.   Did you tell him, tell Mr. Chittick, at that
13    meeting on July 25th that you would deny the existence
14    of Auction.com if you were ever asked under oath?
15  A.   Yes.
16  Q.   Did you tell Mr. Chittick that if anyone found
17    out about your arrangement with Auction.com, you would
18    be put in a jail cell?
19  A.   Who is -- "you" who?
20  Q.   You.  Did you tell that to Mr. Chittick?
21  A.   That I would be put in a jail cell?
22  Q.   Yes.
23  A.   No.
24  Q.   You didn't say that?
25  A.   I don't recall saying that.
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 1  Q.   Did you tell Mr. Chittick during this
 2    conversation on July 25th that the receipts that we've
 3    looked at today, some of them, could never be provided
 4    by Mr. Chittick to the trustee in bankruptcy or anyone
 5    else?
 6  A.   No, I don't recall talking to him about any of
 7    this.
 8  Q.   Okay.  So the answer to that question is, no,
 9    you never told him that he, Mr. Chittick, cannot produce
10    or release those receipts to anyone?
11  A.   No.  I've never had -- I don't remember -- I
12    don't recall having this conversation.
13  Q.   You recall having a conversation with
14    Mr. Chittick, but just don't recall --
15  A.   A conversation, outside my warehouse,
16    20 minutes at best, and that was the end of it.
17  Q.   Okay, so -- and it was outside your warehouse?
18  A.   It was outside and then we went inside my
19    warehouse, and I went inside to smoke.  We sat down for
20    a little bit.  We sat down for a little bit.
21        Hold on.
22  Q.   It's okay.  What did you talk about?
23  A.   Well, let me think about this.
24        We went inside.  We went outside.  He told me
25    that he was stressed out.  He was scared.  I tried to
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 1    reassure him to the best that I could.  I told him I had
 2    a meeting with my attorney, which was true, that day.
 3        I'm trying to think back from a year and a half
 4    ago.
 5  Q.   No, this is a meeting on July 25th.
 6  A.   No, no, no, no, no.  I'm trying to think back
 7    to a year and a half ago if --
 8  Q.   It's okay, Scott.  I don't even -- it doesn't
 9    matter.  I'll just keep going.
10        MR. JESS: Can we take a break here?
11        MR. ANDERSON: No.  I'm almost done, Cody.
12        MR. JESS: We've been going for an hour --
13        THE WITNESS: Yeah, I need to use the
14    restroom.
15        MR. JESS: -- almost an hour and
16    45 minutes.
17        MR. ANDERSON: Yeah, but I'm almost done.
18    I've got about 10 minutes left.  Why stop?  I don't want
19    to stop.
20        MR. JESS: Because I need to use the
21    restroom, Ryan.
22        BY MR. ANDERSON: 
23  Q.   Isn't it true that you didn't -- you told
24    Mr. Chittick that you didn't want those receipts
25    produced because not only were they fraudulent, but you
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 1    couldn't explain them away?  Isn't that true?
 2  A.   I don't recall.
 3  Q.   You don't have a recollection of that?
 4  A.   I don't have a recollection.
 5        MR. ANDERSON: Okay, we can take a break
 6    here.  We'll come back.
 7        MR. JESS: Thank you.
 8        MR. ANDERSON: Go off the record at 3:09.
 9        (A recess was taken.)
10        MR. ANDERSON: Okay, we'll go back on the
11    record at 3:22.
12        BY MR. ANDERSON: 
13  Q.   Mr. Menaged, do you realize you're still under
14    oath?
15  A.   I do.
16  Q.   Okay.  In your conversation with Mr. Chittick
17    on July 25th, 2016, you still were lying to him about
18    your cousin, who purportedly double-encumbered the
19    properties back in 2012, 2013; is that right?
20  A.   I don't recall.
21  Q.   Do you know -- well, do you think he ever knew
22    the truth about the cousin not being real?
23  A.   I don't know.
24  Q.   You didn't have a conversation with him wherein
25    you told Mr. Chittick that the cousin had spent the
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 1    money in Vegas, had then absconded to Israel, and you
 2    couldn't find him?
 3  A.   I don't recall.
 4  Q.   Isn't it true you told Mr. Chittick that you
 5    had destroyed Veronica's computer so that no documents
 6    or records could be obtained from it?
 7  A.   I don't recall.
 8  Q.   Did you destroy her computer?
 9  A.   No.
10  Q.   Where is her computer located?
11  A.   I would assume in her house.
12  Q.   Did Veronica Castro-Gutierrez work from home?
13  A.   Sometimes.
14  Q.   When she didn't work from home, where did she
15    work from?
16  A.   The Bell Road location.
17  Q.   That was one of the Furniture King stores?
18  A.   Correct.
19  Q.   Do you have contact information for her?
20  A.   I do.  I can get it to you.
21  Q.   Where does she live, do you know, what city?
22  A.   Not offhand, no.
23  Q.   Do you know her phone number?
24  A.   Not offhand.  They took my phone this morning.
25  Q.   Do you know what city Mr. Luigi Amoroso lives?
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 1  A.   I believe Phoenix.
 2  Q.   Could you get contact information for him if we
 3    wanted it?
 4  A.   Yes.
 5  Q.   Isn't it true you told Mr. Chittick on
 6    July 25th that you had personally destroyed all of your
 7    business records, all of your e-mails, and specifically
 8    destroyed all of the receipts that you had sent to
 9    DenSco?
10  A.   I don't recall.
11  Q.   So it's possible you did say that?
12  A.   I don't recall saying it.
13  Q.   Isn't it true you told Mr. Chittick that you
14    had instructed and schooled Veronica on the cover story
15    to testify about?
16  A.   I do not recall.
17  Q.   Isn't it true that you told Mr. Chittick that
18    after your bankruptcy was over, you intended to hire an
19    asset protection firm to set up overseas businesses in
20    order for you to recover the money from Auction.com?
21  A.   I don't recall, but there was no Auction.com,
22    again.
23  Q.   Isn't it true you told Mr. Chittick on
24    July 25th that you would deny, even if asked under oath,
25    about the existence of any money at Auction.com?
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 1  A.   I don't recall.
 2  Q.   You say you don't recall.
 3  A.   Uh-huh.
 4  Q.   Does that mean you just don't remember?
 5  A.   Correct.
 6  Q.   Is it possible that you did say those things?
 7  A.   I don't recall saying them.
 8  Q.   Well, where are the pictures that we saw today
 9    that you acknowledged taking of the various cashier's
10    checks and then sent to DenSco?  Where are those
11    pictures stored?
12  A.   That would have probably been on one of my old
13    phones.
14  Q.   Did you keep those pictures?
15  A.   No.
16  Q.   You just destroyed them after you sent them?
17  A.   No, I would have kept them on my phone until I
18    sold my phone.
19  Q.   The current phone you have, when did you get
20    that phone?
21  A.   Middle of this year, beginning of this year.  I
22    can't recall.
23  Q.   Okay.  Is it an iPhone 6?
24  A.   Yes.
25  Q.   So if there were pictures of cashier's checks
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 1    that you took at the beginning of this year, they would
 2    be on that phone?
 3        MR. JESS: Objection, form.
 4        THE WITNESS: They would be, but there
 5    were no cashier checks or receipts or anything.  I mean
 6    there was no nothing.
 7        BY MR. ANDERSON: 
 8  Q.   So what did you tell Veronica Castro-Gutierrez
 9    to say if she's questioned about her role in these
10    receipts?
11  A.   I did not have a conversation with her.
12  Q.   You didn't have a conversation with her about
13    any of these business transactions and how to explain
14    them?
15  A.   That's correct.
16  Q.   Okay.  Did you have any conversations with
17    Mr. Amoroso?
18  A.   No.
19  Q.   Does Veronica Castro still work for you?
20  A.   Yes.
21  Q.   She works out of the current furniture business
22    you have?
23  A.   Yes.
24  Q.   And that current business is called American
25    Furniture, LLC, right?
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 1  A.   Correct.
 2  Q.   It was started by you during the bankruptcy; is
 3    that right?
 4  A.   That is correct.
 5  Q.   And you used a loan from your father to operate
 6    that business, right?
 7  A.   That is correct.
 8  Q.   And is American Furniture buying real estate?
 9  A.   It started buying real estate.
10  Q.   It bought some real estate at auction, didn't
11    it?
12  A.   Yes, it started buying real estate.
13  Q.   Well, it started.  Does that mean something;
14    that it's now stopped?
15  A.   It stopped.
16  Q.   It stopped why?
17  A.   I was advised not to buy real estate.
18  Q.   Did that -- was that in the form of legal
19    advice or something else?
20  A.   Legal advice.
21  Q.   So you were given legal advice to stop
22    purchasing properties at auction during the bankruptcy
23    case?
24  A.   To focus on what I started American Furniture
25    for, which was a furniture store.
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 1  Q.   Well, how were you funding the purchases of
 2    this real estate?
 3  A.   I got a loan.
 4  Q.   Who did you get the loan from?
 5  A.   Active Funding Group.
 6  Q.   Is it a hard money loan?
 7  A.   It is.
 8  Q.   Did you get any money from anybody else?
 9  A.   For the purchases of the properties?
10  Q.   Yes.
11  A.   No.
12  Q.   You got a loan to start American Furniture from
13    your father, right?
14  A.   Correct.
15  Q.   The same -- but your dad is also one of your
16    creditors in your bankruptcy case; is that right?
17  A.   Correct.
18  Q.   Why would he lend you money to run the American
19    Furniture business?
20  A.   Because he doesn't want to see me fail and
21    fall.
22  Q.   What are the terms of that loan?
23  A.   I believe it was a 12 percent loan.
24  Q.   Is there a promissory note?
25  A.   Uh-huh.
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 1  Q.   Is there any security for it?
 2  A.   There's a UCC-1, yes.
 3  Q.   Does that secure the assets of American
 4    Furniture, LLC?
 5  A.   It does.
 6  Q.   Other than the loan that purported to start
 7    American Furniture, do you have any other loans with
 8    him?
 9  A.   I have the loans that he provided to American
10    Furniture.  That's it.
11  Q.   And there's no other loans, unsecured or
12    otherwise, with your dad?
13        MR. JESS: What time period are we talking
14    about here, Ryan?
15        THE WITNESS: Yeah, I'm confused.
16        BY MR. ANDERSON: 
17  Q.   I'm just talking about open loans now.  I don't
18    care if they're -- you know, currently owe him money.
19    Other than American Furniture, do you owe him any money?
20        MR. JESS: Yes.
21        THE WITNESS: Yes.
22        BY MR. ANDERSON: 
23  Q.   Okay.  And under what loan agreements?  How
24    much do you owe him?
25  A.   There's a balance now of about two -- I think
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 1    it's about two and a half million.
 2  Q.   And under what agreement?
 3  A.   Under a promissory note from 2011 or '12.
 4  Q.   Did any of DenSco's money go to pay down your
 5    dad's debts, your debt to your dad?
 6        MR. JESS: Objection, form.
 7        THE WITNESS: Yes.
 8        BY MR. ANDERSON: 
 9  Q.   It did, okay.
10        Scott, where is the 20-plus million dollars of
11    DenSco's money that you received?
12  A.   It was returned back to DenSco, to the best of
13    my ability.
14  Q.   If it wasn't returned back to DenSco, what
15    happened to it?
16  A.   Would have been invested into the furniture
17    companies to try to bring the profits out to DenSco.
18    Would have went to living expenses, gambling, to try to
19    take that money and give it to DenSco.
20  Q.   How much -- take the interest out of the
21    equation.  In your mind, how much do you think you owe
22    DenSco?
23  A.   I have no clue.
24        MR. ANDERSON: Well, I don't have any
25    further questions at this time, but I'm not going to
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 1    conclude the exam, because I don't have any of the
 2    documents that we asked for at the beginning.  So we'll
 3    just continue the exam until we can get a more formal
 4    production.
 5        Anybody want to put anything else on the
 6    record?
 7        MR. JESS: Just one question for
 8    clarification.  How much longer do you think you have to
 9    continue the exam?  I mean this isn't a 341 meeting.
10    This is an open -- I mean we've been going for half a
11    day.
12        MR. ANDERSON: Well, once I get the
13    documents, I'll tell you how much more time I need.
14        MR. JESS: Well, I think under the rules
15    you don't have a whole lot more time.  I mean you got
16    one day, seven hours.
17        MR. ANDERSON: If you want to file a
18    protective order after I get the document production, go
19    right ahead.
20        MR. JESS: That wasn't the agreement,
21    Ryan.
22        MR. ANDERSON: I don't know if we have any
23    agreement, Cody.
24        MR. JESS: Well, then we should have
25    pushed off the exam.  I mean my take on it is you've got
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 1    a couple more hours left.
 2        MR. ANDERSON: Well, okay, I'm not
 3    agreeing to that, but it is what it is.
 4        MR. JESS: Well, I'm putting it on the
 5    record that there was no agreement to continue this exam
 6    today pending disclosure of additional -- or production
 7    of additional documents.
 8        MR. ANDERSON: And that's fine, and I
 9    certainly will -- if you want to make an issue of it,
10    we'll go to Judge Sala and we'll make it clear how much
11    more time I specifically get.  I have no problem with
12    that.
13        MR. JESS: That's fine.
14        MR. ANDERSON: Anybody else want to put
15    anything on the record?
16        MR. JESS: Yeah, I've got some questions.
17    Do you want me to go?
18        MR. NEMECEK: I was just going to say that
19    the trustee has a Rule 2004 order out to Mr. Menaged.
20    The trustee and their counsel's attendance here today is
21    not to be construed in any way as a waiver of the
22    trustee's intention and a right to take the examination
23    under the trustee's bankruptcy Rule 2004 order at a date
24    to be determined in the future.
25        MR. ANDERSON: Just for the record,
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 1    Mr. Nemecek, do you have a date set for that exam?
 2        MR. NEMECEK: We do not have a date yet
 3    for the exam.
 4        MR. ANDERSON: My client and I intend to
 5    attend that exam, and if it's going to be a problem,
 6    Mr. Jess, that we do, please let me know now, because I
 7    will go get an order from the Court, if necessary, to
 8    attend this date for the exam that's sometime in the
 9    future, but please let me know.
10        MR. JESS: Yeah, I'll let you know either
11    today or as we get closer to the exam.
12        MR. ANDERSON: My understanding is there's
13    no date set for your exam.
14        MR. NEMECEK: There is no date currently
15    set for the exam, that's correct.
16        MR. ANDERSON: All right.
17    
18        EXAMINATION
19        BY MR. JESS: 
20  Q.   Scott, earlier you were asked whether you had
21    some sort of a special relationship with Mr. Chittick.
22    Do you recall that conversation?
23  A.   Yes.
24  Q.   Do you believe that if the -- the lending
25    arrangement that you had with Mr. Chittick was unique
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 1    from his lending relationship with other borrowers?
 2  A.   It was not unique, no.
 3  Q.   Why do you say that?
 4  A.   I believe that he lended and had the same
 5    policies with all his borrowers.
 6  Q.   And do you believe that was out of the norm for
 7    other hard money lenders?
 8  A.   Yes, it was.
 9  Q.   And why do you say that?
10  A.   Because other hard money lenders would do due
11    diligence prior to shipping off $40 million.
12  Q.   Before the forbearance agreement, I think you
13    testified that you either didn't know or didn't remember
14    whether DenSco had investors.  Do you recall that
15    statement?
16  A.   Yes.
17  Q.   Did you know prior to the forbearance agreement
18    what the terms of those agreements between DenSco and
19    its investors were?
20  A.   No, not at all.
21  Q.   So before the forbearance agreement or around
22    the time of the forbearance agreement, you were unaware
23    that DenSco had made certain promises to its investors;
24    is that correct?
25  A.   That's correct.
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 1  Q.   You testified earlier that Jeff Goulder
 2    represented you in the drafting of the forbearance
 3    agreement, correct?
 4  A.   Correct.
 5  Q.   Did he represent you during the entire time of
 6    the drafting of that agreement?
 7  A.   No.
 8  Q.   Why not?
 9  A.   He said that in dealing with DenSco's attorney,
10    that he's never seen a deal like this or he's never seen
11    an agreement written this way, and he really didn't
12    think that he needed to be involved with it.
13  Q.   Were you unrepresented when this agreement was
14    signed, the forbearance agreement was signed?
15  A.   Yes.
16  Q.   You had testified earlier that you did not list
17    DenSco or Mr. Chittick as a creditor initially in your
18    bankruptcy, correct?
19  A.   Correct.
20  Q.   Later during your bankruptcy, Mr. Chittick
21    received a notice of your bankruptcy, correct?
22  A.   Correct.
23  Q.   And within 48 hours of receiving that notice of
24    bankruptcy, Mr. Chittick comitted suicide; is that
25    right?
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 1  A.   That's correct.
 2  Q.   You testified earlier that you didn't tell
 3    Mr. Chittick the truth about using the money from the
 4    seconds to pay off the other DenSco loans; is that
 5    right?
 6  A.   Correct.
 7  Q.   Is the reason you didn't tell him the truth is
 8    because you were concerned about him committing suicide?
 9  A.   Absolutely.
10  Q.   Is the same true with respect to the other
11    untruths that you told Mr. Chittick with respect to the
12    safety of the money that he had lent you?
13  A.   Yes.  He was not a person that could take
14    pressure, and I was scared of what was going to happen
15    to him if he realized, and all I was trying to do was
16    clean up this mess.  I was trying to clean it up from
17    when the housing market went upside down, and that's all
18    I kept trying to do.  And all that kept happening is the
19    balloon got bigger and bigger and bigger and bigger, and
20    there was nothing I could do to get out of it.  That's
21    the reason why I never even included him in my original
22    bankruptcy.  I still had intentions, in my mind, of
23    figuring out with him how the hell to get him paid off.
24        I know it sounds absurd and crazy, because
25    you're talking $40 million, but I never intended or
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 1    wanted to walk away from him.  That was not the
 2    intention.  Look at me.  I'm in Chapter 7 bankruptcy.  I
 3    have no money to me.  What did I gain out of this?  I
 4    didn't gain anything out of this.  All I was trying to
 5    do was, I really was trying to fix this.
 6  Q.   Do you believe that Denny was more concerned
 7    about the collateral for the loans that he had lent you
 8    or getting his 18 percent interest?
 9  A.   Getting his 18 percent interest.
10  Q.   Why do you say that?
11  A.   Because there were properties that I purchased
12    that were completely -- there were properties that I
13    purchased that were way over and beyond what he would
14    normally be comfortable with, as far as dollar amount.
15    I remember one specific property in Peoria that I
16    paid -- I screwed up.  I paid $243,000 for it, and I
17    want to say the property was worth 220.  Well, he lent
18    the whole 243.
19  Q.   So is it a fair statement that in your dealings
20    with Denny, you believe that he was mostly concerned
21    about getting 18 percent?
22  A.   That's exactly what he was concerned about.
23    That's what he always talked about.
24  Q.   Do you recall the conversations earlier about
25    the receipts for the trustees' sales?
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 1  A.   Yes.
 2  Q.   Did you create those receipts?
 3  A.   No.
 4  Q.   Did those receipts come from Arizona Home
 5    Foreclosures?
 6  A.   I believe so.
 7  Q.   And those receipts are not legitimate, are
 8    they?
 9  A.   They wouldn't be.
10        MR. JESS: I don't have any other
11    questions.
12        MR. ANDERSON: Okay.  Well, then we'll
13    reconvene when we're ready to reconvene.  So the
14    continuation will happen in the future.  So we're off
15    the record at what time?  3:39.  Thank you.
16        THE COURT REPORTER: Do you need a copy?
17        MR. JESS: Yeah.
18        THE COURT REPORTER: Do you know what you
19    need?
20        MR. JESS: Just the electronic copy.
21        THE COURT REPORTER: Like an E-tran?
22        MR. JESS: Yeah, please.
23        (TIME NOTED: 3:39 p m.)
24    
25    
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 1  STATE OF ARIZONA   )
                       )  ss.
 2  COUNTY OF MARICOPA )
   
 3 
   
 4            BE IT KNOWN that the foregoing Rule 2004
   
 5  Examination was taken before me, JODY L. LENSCHOW, RMR,
   
 6  CRR, Certified Reporter No. 50192 for the State of
   
 7  Arizona, and by virtue thereof authorized to administer
   
 8  an oath; that the witness before testifying was duly
   
 9  sworn by me; that the questions propounded by counsel
   
10  and the answers of the witness thereto were taken down
   
11  by me in shorthand and thereafter transcribed under my
   
12  direction; that the foregoing pages contain a full,
   
13  true, and accurate transcript of all proceedings and
   
14  testimony had, all to the best of my skill and ability.
   
15            I FURTHER CERTIFY that I am not related to nor
   
16  employed by any of the parties hereto and have no
   
17  interest in the outcome thereof.
   
18            DATED at Phoenix, Arizona, this 30th day of
   
19  October, 2016.
   
20 
   
21 
                     _______ ___________________________
22                         JODY L. LENSCHOW, RMR, CRR
                           Certified Reporter
23                         Certificate No. 50192
   
24 
   
25 
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